Buckinghamshire Council

Standards and General Purposes
Committee
Agenda
Date:

Thursday 2 July 2020

Time:

2.00 pm

Venue:

Via Video Conference
Accessible to members of the public at https://buckinghamshire.publici.tv/core/portal/home

Membership: B Adams, S Adoh, M Appleyard, J Bloom, A Collingwood, C Etholen, G Harris, M Knight,
S Lambert, G Moore, H Mordue, L Smith BEM, M Stannard and J Waters
Independent Persons: A Austin, S Boyce and T Dobson
Agenda Item
1

ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN
To elect the Chairman of the Standards and General Purposes
Committee for the ensuing year.

2

APPOINTMENT OF VICE CHAIRMAN
To appoint the Vice Chairman of the Standards and General
Purposes Committee for the ensuing year.

3

VIRTUAL MEETING PROCEDURE RULES

4

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

5

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
Members to declare any interests.

6

COMPLAINTS PROCEDURE AND PROTOCOL ON THE ROLE OF THE
INDEPENDENT PERSON
To consider the attached report.

Time

Page No

3-8

9 - 60

Contact Officer: Maria.Damigos@buckinghamshiregov.uk
7

CSPL REPORT ON LOCAL GOVERNMENT ETHICAL STANDARDS AND
LGA CONSULTATION ON MODEL CODE
To consider the attached report.

61 - 106

Contact Officer: Nick.Graham@buckinghamshire.gov.uk
8

LOCAL GOVERNMENT BOUNDARY COMMISSION FOR ENGLAND ELECTORAL REVIEW OF BUCKINGHAMSHIRE COUNCIL
To consider the attached report.

107 - 174

Contact Officer: Nick.Graham@buckinghamshire.gov.uk
9

PROCEDURES FOR INQUORATE PARISH COUNCILS
To consider the attached report.

175 - 182

Contact Officer: Maria.Damigos@buckinghamshire.gov.uk
10

WORK PROGRAMME FOR 2020/21
To consider the Committee’s future work programme, copy
attached.

183 - 186

Contact Officer: Nick.Graham@buckinghamshire.gov.uk

If you would like to attend a meeting, but need extra help to do so, for example because of a disability,
please contact us as early as possible, so that we can try to put the right support in place.
For further information please contact: Craig Saunders on 01296 585043, email
craig.saunders@buckinghamshire.gov.uk.

Agenda Item 3

Standards and General Purposes Committee Virtual Procedural Rules
Introduction
The Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government
made Regulations (The Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus)
(Flexibility of Local Authority Police and Crime Panel Meetings) (England and Wales)
Regulations 2020) (“the 2020 Regulations”) to ensure local authorities can conduct business
during the current public health emergency and this legislation was passed on 4 April 2020.
The 2020 Regulations will apply to local authority meetings (full council, executive, joint
committee, committee or sub-committee) held before 7 May 2021 from 4 April 2020.
Councils can make standing orders in respect of virtual meetings, and will not be
constrained by any existing restrictions.
Standards and General Purposes Committee
This meeting will be attended by the Committee members, officers, and Buckinghamshire
Council members not appointed to the Committee and may be observed by other interested
members of the public and the press.
Prior to the meeting
Access to Information
The Council can hold and alter the frequency and occurrence of meetings without
requirement for further notice.
The 2020 Regulations make provision for local authority members and officers, and the
public, to have access to documents without attending council buildings and it will be
sufficient for local authorities to publish the documents on their website. This includes
notices, agendas, reports, background papers and minutes. The Proper Officer will give the
requisite notice to the public of the time of the meeting, and the agenda, together with
details of how to join the meeting which will be available on the website.
The obligation under the old Regulations (Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements)
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012 ) to supply copies of such
documents in response to requests made by members of the public and on behalf of
newspapers is disapplied.
The requirement in England for 5 clear days' notice to be given of principal council meetings,
including annual meetings, still applies however notice can now be given on the council's
website.
Time and Place of Meetings
Meetings can be held remotely, including by (but not limited to) telephone conferencing,
video conferencing, live webcast, and live interactive streaming even if particular members
of the public cannot access them. This Council will use Microsoft Teams to hold virtual

Page 3

meetings and will invite external participants to virtual meetings, if any, via email or
telephone. Virtual meetings will be webcast via a link published on the meeting webpage.
During the meeting
Quorum for Meetings
The rules for quorum will still apply. The constitution states that if a quorum is not present
within 10 minutes of the scheduled start of the meeting or such longer time as allowed by
the Chairman, the business of the meeting will be adjourned. The Chairman may allow for
flexibility around the start time of the meeting where there are any technical issues.
In the event of any apparent failure of the technology the Chairman should immediately
determine if the meeting is still quorate. The Chairman could adjourn for 10-15 minutes to
allow the connection to be re-established. If an individual Member’s remote participation
fails the Chairman may call a short adjournment of up to 5 minutes. However if the remote
connection cannot be restored the meeting should continue providing it is quorate. The
Member will have been deemed to have left the meeting at the point of failure. In relation
to this meeting if the connection cannot be restored within a reasonable time the meeting
can proceed but any Member who was disconnected will not be able to vote on the matter
under discussion as they would not have heard all the facts.
Attendance at meetings and webcasting
A roll call or introductions will be made at the start of the meeting to record those present.
The Chairman will confirm at the outset that they can see and hear all participating
members and any member participating remotely should also confirm at the outset and at
any reconvening of the meeting that they can see and hear the proceedings and the other
participants. There is no requirement for councillors to sign their names on an attendance
sheet when attending a meeting electronically. The Democratic Services Officer (“DSO”) will
maintain a list of attendance throughout the meeting.
To be classified as a ‘member in attendance’ and attend a meeting remotely, the following
conditions must be satisfied;
(a) councillors must be able to hear and (where practicable) see; and be heard and (where
practicable) be seen by, other councillors in attendance at the meeting.
b). All other members of the public must as a minimum be able to hear (but if practicable be
able to view as well)
In practice this means that if councillors can be heard and hear each other and other
members of the public not speaking can hear, this would fulfil the requirements of holding a
virtual meeting.
Members of the press and public may only be excluded from a meeting in accordance with
the Access to Information Rules and if they are causing a disturbance (see below).
The 2020 Regulations state that meetings being open to the public include access by remote
means. Such access includes (but not limited to) video conferencing, live webcast, and live

Page 4

interactive streaming and where a meeting is accessible to the public through such remote
means, the meeting is open to the public whether or not members of the public are able to
attend the meeting in person. For clarity, a meeting recorded and then posted online after
the event would not satisfy this requirement.
The people on the Teams call who are present throughout the meeting are the Committee
Members ‘round the table’ and any officer supporting the meeting. The public gallery,
where Members can sit and observe the meeting alongside members of the public, is the
webcast version. It is important to keep numbers in the meeting (except for those allowed
to be present as Members) to a minimum to enable the proper flow of the virtual meeting.
Conflicts of interest
Where a councillor has a conflict of interest during a meeting they need to declare their
interest at the start of the meeting or when the interest becomes apparent . If the interest is
‘personal’ having declared a personal interest the councillor may continue to speak and vote
on the item of business concerned. If the councillor has a prejudicial interest they will need
to declare the existence and nature of their interest and withdraw from the virtual meeting
by muting the microphone and only returning to the meeting once the chairman has invited
them back in.
Minutes of meetings
The Minutes of meetings will be signed and kept by the Chairman until government
guidance allows councillors and officers to return the signed copy to the office.
Voting
The requirements for voting at a virtual meeting will be the same as those for physical
meetings. Any amendments will need to be moved and seconded and the Chairman will ask
the meeting if there is any dissent to the motion. The Chairman will conduct the vote by
reading out the names of voting members (like a recorded vote). Each voting member, when
asked by the Chairman, will state if they are for, against or abstain. Voting will be recorded
by the DSO. The DSO can then read out the total numbers of members voting in favour,
against and abstaining. If Members miss out (even briefly) on hearing contributions to an
agenda item they cannot vote. For non-planning application items where votes are required
agreement can be made by affirmation of the meeting.
External contributors addressing the meeting
Please refer to virtual public speaking protocol.

Questions
Questions will be asked in the normal way by Committee Members as set out in the
Constitution.

Page 5

When can the Chairman be interrupted ?
There are circumstances allowed for in the Constitution where the Chairman can be
interrupted such as:

Technology is not working effectively



Officer needs to provide advice



Point of order or personal explanation

or any other situation which the Constitution or Chairman allows.
Disturbance during proceedings
The Constitution states that if anyone interrupts proceedings, the Chairman will warn the
person concerned and, if they continue to interrupt, the Chairman will order their removal
from the virtual meeting room. There may be circumstances where the person needs to be
removed immediately, for example, if they are being inappropriate, and the Chairman can
do this by muting their microphone. If there is a general disturbance, making orderly
business impossible, the Chairman may adjourn the meeting for as long as they consider
necessary.
Adjournments
People will remain on the call with microphones muted and cameras off until the meeting
starts again. The Chairman may also want to consider having a comfort (screen) break for
longer meetings. If there is a problem with the technology, the Chairman should adjourn the
meeting . However, it does not stop a meeting going ahead provided it is still quorate
because a person does not have access to the required technology in the first place. If
technology fails for a wholly remote meeting, and the meeting is no longer open to the
public, any decisions made could be challenged as unlawful, which renders the whole
meeting incapable of proceeding. Therefore, the Chairman should adjourn until the remote
meeting can be restored within a reasonable period, or at a time and date fixed by the
Chairman or until the next ordinary meeting
The Council will try and achieve the best possible outcome.
Confidential/exempt items
There are times when council meetings are not open to the public, when confidential, or
“exempt” issues (as defined in Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972) are under
consideration. Each Member in remote attendance must ensure and verbally declare that
there are no other persons present with them who are not entitled to be (either hearing or
seeing) consideration of such items, and/or recording the proceedings.
Where a Member can demonstrate a “need to know” they will be invited to any discussion
on exempt items remotely as set out in the Constitution. They must confirm that the venue
is secure, that no member of the public has access and that no recording of the proceedings
is being made.

Page 6

Contacts
All enquiries relating to the Virtual Meeting procedures should be directed to
Democratic Services - democracy@buckinghamshire.gov.uk

Page 7

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6

Report to Standards and General Purposes Committee
Date: 2 July 2020
Reference number: TBC
Title: Complaints Procedures and Protocol on the Role of the Independent Person
Author and/or contact officer: Maria Damigos Principal Solicitor and Deputy Monitoring
Officer (Aylesbury Vale team) maria.damigos@buckinghamshire.gov.uk; 07980 968875
Ward(s) affected: none specific
Recommendations: The committee is asked to:1. Note the arrangements for dealing with complaints against councillors.
2. Note the draft Guidance on dealing with Member Complaints and, subject to any
comments or amendments, approve the Guidance.
3. Note the draft Protocol on the Role of the Independent Person and, subject to any
comments and amendments, approve the Protocol.
Reason for decision: The Guidance and the Protocol provide further detail on the practical
application and use of the arrangements in the Council’s Constitution for dealing with
complaints against Members. This will promote consistency in relation to procedures and
decision making across the Council.

Executive summary
1.1

This report seeks comments on the draft Guidance on dealing with Member
Complaints and the draft protocol on the Role of the Independent Person.

1.2

Following the change to a unitary council there are currently 196 Buckinghamshire
Councillors (reducing to 147 after the May 2021 elections) and over 1000 Town and
Parish Councillors across the Buckinghamshire Council administrative area.

1.3

The Monitoring Officer is responsible for dealing with complaints against councillors
but it is expected that the majority of this work will be passed onto Deputy Monitoring

Page 9

Officers. In the interests of fairness to both complainants and Subject Members a
consistent approach in both procedure and decision making is considered best
practice. This can be achieved by having more detailed guidance for complaints and
clarity on the role of the Independent Person.

Content of report
Background
1.4

The Localism Act 2011 governs the arrangements for local authorities in respect of
ethical standards. This includes the Code of Conduct for Councillors, Registers of
Interests and the handling of complaints.

1.5

The Standards and General Purposes Committee is responsible for exercising the
Council’s functions under the Localism Act 2011 in relation to ethical standards and
has oversight and responsibility for the Code of Conduct and the Arrangements for
Dealing with Standards Complaints.

1.6

The Councillor Code of Conduct applicable to the councillors of Buckinghamshire
Council is set out in the Council’s Constitution at Part H Section 2. The Code of
Conduct also includes the requirements for registration of interests. Part H Section 3
contains the Arrangements for Dealing with Complaints against Councillors.

1.7

The Code of Conduct was drafted so it would be sufficiently high level to cover any
relevant situation and also provide clarity in certain circumstances (eg in relation to
interests). This Committee has oversight of the Code but as it is contained within the
Constitution any changes must be recommended to full Council.

1.8

Whilst there is an overview of the arrangements for dealing with complaints in the
Constitution it was considered that as the practical application of the arrangements is
an operational matter, they can be subject to circumstances at the time and
technology or resources may change their operation, the detailed arrangements would
be better dealt with in a guidance document. As such Guidance is not contained
within the Constitution it does not need to be approved by the Council making its
practical application easier to update where necessary.

1.9

The Localism Act provides that a Council must appoint at least one Independent
Person (IP) whose views are to be sought and taken into account before the Council
makes a decision following the investigation of a complaint that a Member or a Town
or Parish Councillor has failed to comply with their Code of Conduct. The Monitoring
Officer may also consult an IP when making a decision on how to progress a complaint.
Subject Members of a complaint also have the right to consult an IP if a complaint is
made about them.

Page 10

1.10

IPs can also be involved in other aspects of a complaint such as whether to agree to
keep a complainant’s identity confidential. They may also be on a Panel considering
the dismissal of a statutory officer and can be consulted about dispensations to be
granted to our councillors. They provide an independent balance on decision making
in this area.

1.11

Due to the importance of the role of the IP and the Guidance on ethical standards it
was considered appropriate to have both of these documents approved by the
Committee.
Code of Conduct

1.12

The Code of Conduct is in 3 parts, the first is a general section which includes the
scope of the Code and general obligations which give high level obligations. The
second and third parts relate to interests, the effect of interests on participation in
Council business and registration and disclosure of interests.

1.13

Appendix A to the Code of Conduct sets out discloseable pecuniary interests as
detailed in Regulations. It also the requirements relating to the registration of gifts
and hospitality.
Arrangements for Dealing with Complaints against Councillors

1.14

The process is split into 4 parts. The first part is an initial assessment which allows the
Monitoring Officer to ensure that the complaint comes within the Code of Conduct
and/or it is appropriate to progress the complaint.

1.15

There are then 3 stages which in summary are (i) obtaining the Subject Member’s
response to the complaint and checking if this is satisfactory to the complainant (ii) if
not stage 2 is formal consideration of the complaint by the Monitoring Officer or
allocated Deputy Monitoring Officer to determine if to progress the complaint.
Depending on the seriousness of the alleged behaviour this stage may involve
consultation with the IP and/or the Chairman of the Standards and General Purposes
Committee. (iii) The last stage is investigation and where appropriate a referral to the
Sub-Committee who may decide that a formal hearing is necessary.

1.16

Each complaint is to be considered on its own merits, however the Referral Criteria list
the factors which can be taken into account. These are detailed at paragraph 3.11 of
the Arrangements.
Guidance on Dealing with Member Complaints

1.17

The draft Guidance is attached as Appendix 1. It is guidance for complainants on how
to make a complaint and includes the practical aspects of how it will progress. The

Page 11

draft Guidance is being used as a basis to progress current complaints apart from the
forms as detailed.
1.18

The Guidance includes the forms which are to be used (annexes 1A and 1B of the
Guidance). There are two forms, one for a complaint against Buckinghamshire
Councillors and the second for complaints against a Town or Parish Councillor. The
Council’s website currently requires a temporary form to be used, however once
approved these forms will be made available for use as soon as possible.

1.19

The Guidance also sets out how a complaint will be dealt as well as more detail on the
process and procedures such as confidentiality and the procedures for investigations,
hearings and committees.

1.20

Amendments to the Guidance are reserved to the Committee but the Chairman of the
Hearings Sub-Committee may, following consultation with the IP depart from the
detailed procedures where appropriate.

1.21

It is considered that the Guidance will supplement and explain the Arrangements
detailed in the Constitution. The Committees views on the Guidance are sought and
subject to those views it is recommended that the Guidance is approved to ensure
consistency of approach and fairness across the Council.
Protocol on the Role of the Independent Person

1.22

As detailed above, IPs may be consulted by the Monitoring Officer. They may also be
consulted by an investigator or be asked to provide their views to the Committee or
Sub-Committee if the complaint progresses. They may also be consulted by the
Subject Member.

1.23

The Protocol sets out the role of the IP in each of these scenarios as well as setting out
other matters which they may be involved in.

1.24

The Protocol also sets out rights which are given to the IPs including addressing full
Council with any concerns as well as rights of access to Council premises and
information. The relationship between the IPs and this Committee is also clearly set
out.

1.25

Three IPs have been appointed. Two training sessions with the IPs have taken place
and a third session dealing with procedures is scheduled for 23 June. The draft
Protocol will be discussed as part of that session and any comments from the IPs will
be provided to the meeting.

Page 12

1.26

The Protocol provides clarity to both the IPs and Subject Members on their role and
their rights as an IP. Views of the Committee on the Protocol are therefore also
sought and, subject to such views, it is recommended that the Protocol is approved.

Other options considered
1.27

Not having the Guidance would allow much more flexibility in procedure and
progression of complaints. However this will leave the Council open to further
complaints about unfairness both procedurally and in relation to decisions from
original complainants and Subject Members, especially given that a number of
different officers are likely to be decision makers.

1.28

A Protocol is not a statutory requirement and if it was not implemented there would
be no starting point in the event of future queries and could result in confusion for all
involved with associated delay and frustration whilst the particular issue is sorted out.

Legal and financial implications
1.29

It is a statutory requirement for the Council to have arrangements in place to deal with
complaints against Councillors and to appoint IPs. The statutory requirements have
been complied with. The contents of this report relate to documents and procedures
which will supplement and assist in the practical applications of the arrangements and
the role that IPs will undertake.

1.30

There will be a cost in officer time in dealing with complaints against Councillors,
which will be met from within the existing Deputy Chief Executive and Legal Services
budget. It is however anticipated that the Guidance and the Protocol will help to make
the practices and procedures in this area as efficient as possible.

Corporate implications
1.31

The Guidance and Protocol will help Buckinghamshire Council provide a fair and
transparent complaints process to support high standards of conducts by all
councillors within the Buckinghamshire Council area.

Consultation and communication
1.32

The IPs will be consulted on the Protocol and the Guidance, once approved, will be
available and/or provided to complainants and Subject Members where appropriate.

Page 13

Next steps and review
If approved the Guidance will continue to be followed. Both documents will be
reviewed as part of the arrangements for dealing with complaints and the Code of
Conduct.

Background papers
Buckinghamshire Council Constitution:
https://buckinghamshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s5397/Buckinghamshire%20Council%
20Constitution.pdf
(Part H Section 2 – Code of Conduct)
(Part H Section 3 – Arrangements for Dealing with Complaints against Councillors)

Your questions and views (for key decisions)
If you have any questions about the matters contained in this report please get in
touch with the author of this report. If you have any views that you would like the
cabinet member to consider please inform the democratic services team. This can be
done by telephone 01296 382343 or email democracy@buckinghamshire.gov.uk

Page 14

Appendix
BUCKINGHAMSHIRE COUNCIL
Guidance on Dealing with Members Complaints
1.

Context

In accordance with section 28 of the Localism Act 2011 Buckinghamshire Council has
adopted arrangements for dealing with allegations that members have failed to comply
with the Council’s Code of Conduct. These arrangements also apply to allegations that
members of Parish and Town Councils in the area have failed to comply with their
respective Council’s code of conduct.
The arrangements set out how to make a complaint and how complaints will be investigated. They
must also provide for the Council to appoint at least one Independent Person whose views must
be sought before the Council takes a decision on an allegation which it has decided to investigate,
and whose views can be sought by the Council at any other stage, or by a Member against whom
an allegation has been made.
The arrangements are included in Part H of Buckinghamshire Council’s Constitution
which is published on the council’s website at :https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/your-council/council-and-democracy/ourconstitution/
This document provides guidance about making a complaint and further information
about how complaints will be dealt with.

2.

The Code of Conduct

The Council has adopted a Code of Conduct for its Members. This is attached at Annex 2 and is
available for inspection on the Council’s website and on request by emailing the monitoring officer
at: monitoringofficer@buckinghamshire.gov.uk

3.

Making a complaint

The Monitoring Officer is a senior officer of the Council who has statutory responsibility for
maintaining the Register of Members’ Interests and administers the procedure for dealing with
complaints of Member misconduct.
To ensure the Monitoring Officer has all the information necessary to process your complaint,
please complete the Complaint Form at Annex 1A for complaints about Buckinghamshire
councillors or Annex 1B for complaints about parish councillors. These forms can be downloaded
from the Council’s website at https://www.buckscc.gov.uk/services/contact-andcomplaints/complain-about-a-councillor/ and are also available on request from the Monitoring
Officer by email to monitoringofficer@buckinghamshire.gov.uk.
1

Page 15

Please provide your name and a contact address or email address so your complaint can be
acknowledged and we can keep you informed of its progress. If you want to keep your name and
address confidential, please indicate this and the reason why, in the space provided on the
Complaint Form. Please note that we do not deal with anonymous complaints.
Please send your completed Complaint Form and any relevant documents by email to:
Monitoringofficer@buckinghamshire.gov.uk or
By post to: Monitoring Officer
Buckinghamshire Council
The Gateway, Gatehouse Road
Aylesbury HP19 8FF

4.

What Happens Next

The Monitoring Officer, or one of the Deputy Monitoring Officers’ will acknowledge receipt of your
complaint within 5 working days. If your complaint is not about member conduct then the
Monitoring Officer will not consider it but will, where possible, refer you to any relevant procedure
available.
For example the following are not covered by this complaints procedure:
•
Complaints about the conduct of councillors when acting in their personal capacity i.e. not
acting as an elected or co-opted member of the Council
•
Dissatisfaction with a decision or action of the Council or one of its committees
•
Complaints about a service provided by the Council
•
Complaints about the Council’s procedures
•
The actions of people employed by the Council
If a complaint alleges that Members may have committed a criminal offence by breaching the
“disclosable pecuniary interest‟ provisions under Section 34 of the Localism Act 2011, it will be
referred to Thames Valley Police for consideration.
As a matter of fairness and natural justice we believe members who are complained about have a
right to know who has made the complaint and to be provided with full details of the complaint.
We are unlikely to withhold your identity or the details of your complaint unless you have good
reason to believe that to do so would be contrary to the public interest, would prejudice any
subsequent investigation or you have reasonable grounds for believing you or any witness in the
matter would be at risk.
The Member will still be informed that a complaint has been made - and unless doing so would lead
to the disclosure of your identity, will be informed of the paragraphs of the Code which they are
alleged to have been breached and as much detail about the complaint as possible. However, your
details and a full copy of the complaint will be withheld until your request has been considered.
The assessment of a request for confidentiality will be considered against the following criteria –
but with the balance always being in favour of disclosure unless exceptional circumstances exist to
determine otherwise:
1)
The complainant has reasonable grounds for believing that they will be at risk of physical or
2

Page 16

2)
3)
4)

other serious harm if their identity is disclosed.
The complainant is an officer who works closely with the Subject Member and they are
afraid of the consequences to their employment or of losing their job if their identity is
disclosed.
The complainant suffers from a serious health condition and there are medical risks
associated with their identity being disclosed (medical evidence may be required to be
submitted).
Any other very special circumstances put forward by the complainant which identify
reasonable grounds for believing that disclosure of details would result in the complainant or
witnesses being intimidated or lead to evidence being compromised or destroyed or some
other reasons justifying the grant of confidentiality.

Please note that requests for confidentiality or requests for suppression of complaint details will
not automatically be granted. The Monitoring Officer may consult with the Independent Person to
consider your request alongside the substance of your complaint. If your request for
confidentiality is not granted, you will be asked whether you wish the Council to continue to
consider your complaint.
An initial assessment will be undertaken to decide whether to accept your complaint. This looks
at whether the behaviour complained about would, if proved, be a breach of the code of conduct
and whether the Member was acting as a councillor at the time. The referral criteria will also be
considered. If your complaint is accepted after the initial assessment, it will then be considered in
3 Stages with the aim of reaching a satisfactory resolution. Under Stages 1 and 2 only the details
contained in the Complaint Form will be considered. Therefore, it is important that you set out
your complaint clearly and provide all the information you wish to be considered at the outset.

5.

Stage 1

We will tell the Member that is the subject of your complaint that we have received a complaint
and provide them with a copy of your complaint or a summary (unless your request for
confidentiality has been agreed in which case only non-identifying details will be provided).
The Member will be invited to respond within 20 working days – including in their response any
suggestion to resolve the complaint.
This response will be made available to you and you will be asked if you are satisfied – if yes, no
further action will be taken or the action proposed by the Member will proceed – or you will be
asked if you wish your complaint to be considered further under Stage 2.

6.

Stage 2

Your complaint will then be assessed by the Monitoring Officer, or a Deputy Monitoring Officer,
having regard to the Referral Criteria at Annex 3 and will decide whether or not to progress the
complaint to an investigation. If considered appropriate due to the seriousness of the alleged
behaviour the Chairman/Vice-Chairman of the Councils Standards and General Purposes Committee
may be consulted. The Independent Person (whose views will be taken into account) will also be
consulted if it is considered that the complaint cannot be resolved informally. This will happen
within an average of 20 working days from the commencement of Stage 2.
3

Page 17

When a decision has been made you will be notified in writing. The Monitoring Officer will also
write to the member(s) you have complained about. These letters will be sent within 5 working days
of a decision being reached. The decision is made available for public inspection once the member
concerned has been given a copy of the decision unless the member requests non-publication
where it is found that the Code of Conduct has not been breached.
The decision of the Monitoring Officer or their deputy is final and there is no right of appeal.
In appropriate cases, the Monitoring Officer may seek to resolve the complaint informally, without
the need for a formal investigation. Such informal resolution may involve the Member accepting
that his/her conduct was unacceptable and offering an apology or the complaint maybe considered
suitable for mediation or such other remedial action by the Council on the recommendation of the
Monitoring Officer.
Where the Member concerned makes a reasonable offer of informal resolution such as an apology
or agrees for the complaint to be mediated but you are not willing to accept that offer, the
Monitoring Officer will take this into account in deciding whether the complaint merits formal
investigation

7.

Stage 3

If the decision at Stage 2 is to investigate the complaint the Monitoring Officer will appoint an
Investigating Officer, who may be another senior officer of the Council, an officer of another Council
or an external investigator.
The investigator’s report will be considered by the Hearings Sub-Committee of the Council’s
Standards and General Purposes Committee, or in some cases by the full Committee.
The Council has adopted a model procedure for the investigation of complaints, which is attached at
Annex 4 together with an explanatory flowchart. Details of the both the investigation procedure
and the procedure if the matter proceeds to a hearing are explained further below.

8.

How is the investigation conducted?

Ordinarily the Council would hope that investigations will take no more than 6 months to complete
from the date the decision to investigate is taken. This will very much depend on the facts of each
complaint and some investigations may be concluded earlier and others may take longer.
It is vital to the timely completion of investigations that you, as the complainant, and the Subject
Member under investigation, comply with the reasonable requirements of the Investigating Officer
in terms of interview attendance and supplying relevant documents.
If you, as the complainant, do not co-operate the Investigating Officer will contact the Monitoring
Officer for direction as to whether the investigation should be terminated. Similarly, if the Subject
Member does not comply, the Investigating Officer will proceed to determine the investigation in
the absence of their contribution and may draw an adverse inference from their non-cooperation.
The Investigating Officer will normally carry out the investigation in accordance with the model
4

Page 18

procedure detailed at Annex 4 although may decide to depart from this if the circumstances of the
complaint warrant it.
As an initial step, and subject to any ruling on disclosure, the Investigating Officer may write to the
Subject Member at the beginning of the investigation to see if the Subject Member still wishes to
contest the complaint. Subject to this the investigation will normally follow the model procedure
at Annex 4.
At the end of the investigation, the Investigating Officer will produce a draft report and will send
copies of the draft report, in confidence, to you and to the Subject Member concerned to give you
both an opportunity to identify any matter in that draft report which you disagree with or which
you consider requires more consideration.
Having received and taken account of any comments which you may make on the draft report, the
Investigating Officer will send his/her final report to the Monitoring Officer.
It should be noted that at any time during an investigation, the Investigating Officer may, following
consultation with the Independent Person, refer the matter back to the Monitoring Officer for reconsideration as to whether the investigation should proceed if the Investigating Officer considers
that the Re-consideration Criteria in Annex 3 are satisfied.

9.

What happens if the Investigating Officer concludes that there is no
evidence of a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct?

The Monitoring Officer will review the Investigating Officer’s report and consult with the
Independent Person about its contents and refer the report to the Hearings Sub-Committee.
If having done so the Hearings Sub-Committee is satisfied that the Investigating Officer’s report is
sufficient, the Monitoring Officer will write to you and to the Subject Member notifying you that
no further action is required, and give you both a copy of the Investigating Officer’s final report.
If the Monitoring Officer is not satisfied that the investigation has been conducted properly, the
Investigating Officer may be asked to re-consider his/her report.

10.

What happens if the Investigating Officer concludes that there is evidence of
a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct?

The Monitoring Officer will review the Investigating Officer’s report and after consulting the
Independent Person will refer the matter to the Hearings Sub-Committee. The Sub-Committee will
decide whether (i) the evidence clearly shows a breach has taken place and if so the appropriate
remedy; (ii) a formal hearing is necessary to determine whether a breach has occurred and/or the
appropriate remedy or (iii) if and what further action is appropriate. In particular, the SubCommittee will consider whether Local Resolution should be attempted.
•

Local Resolution

The Monitoring Officer will consult with the Independent Person and with you as complainant and
seek to resolve the complaint in a way that helps to ensure higher standards of conduct for the
5

Page 19

future.
Such resolution may include the Subject Member accepting that his/her conduct was unacceptable
and offering an apology or the complaint being referred for mediation or such other remedial
action as is considered appropriate in the circumstances.
If the Subject Member complies with the suggested resolution, the Monitoring Officer will report
the matter to the Standards and General Purposes Committee. However, if the Subject Member
concerned does not accept that the matter should be resolved in such a manner, the Monitoring
Officer will refer the matter back to the Hearings Sub-Committee.
•

Hearings Sub-Committee

In readiness for convening a meeting of the Hearings Sub-Committee, the Monitoring Officer will
consider whether to conduct a written “pre-hearing process”, requiring the Subject Member
concerned to give their response to the Investigating Officer’s report in order to identify what is
likely to be agreed and what is likely to be in contention at the meetingorHearing.
If, through the “pre-hearing process”, the Subject Member concerned accepts the Investigating
Officer’s report, they will be given the opportunity to provide a statement of mitigation which they
may invite the Hearings Sub-Committee to consider in their absence. Alternatively, the Subject
Member may elect to attend a Hearings Sub-Committee to present their mitigation. In either case,
the “uncontested‟ hearing procedure will be followed as set out at Annex 5. If the evidence
available clearly shows that a breach has taken place the “uncontested” hearing procedure will
also be followed.
Where, following the “pre-hearing process”, the Investigating Officer’s report remains in
contention, the matter will be set down for a “contested‟ hearing before the Hearings SubCommittee and the hearing procedure set out at Annex 6 will be followed.
At the hearing, the Investigating Officer will present his/her report, call such witnesses as
considered necessary and make representations to substantiate the conclusion that the Subject
Member has failed to comply with the Code of Conduct. For this purpose, the Investigating Officer
may ask you, as the complainant, to attend and give evidence. Unless called to do so by the
Investigating Officer, you do not have the right to address the Hearings Sub-Committee of your
own volition.
The Subject Member will then have an opportunity to give evidence, to call witnesses and to make
representations about why they consider they did not fail to comply with the Code of Conduct. The
Subject Member may be represented legally or otherwise.
The Hearings Sub-Committee, with the benefit of any advice from the Independent Person, may
conclude that the Subject Member did not fail to comply with the Code of Conduct and so dismiss
the complaint.
If the Hearings Sub-Committee concludes that the Subject Member did fail to comply with the
Code of Conduct, the Chairman will inform the Subject Member of this finding and the Hearings
Sub-Committee will then consider what action, if any, should be taken. In doing this, the Hearings
Sub- Committee will give the Subject Member an opportunity to make representations to them
6

Page 20

and will consult the Independent Person before deciding what action, if any, to take in respect of
the matter.

11.

What action can the Hearings Sub-Committee take where a Subject Member
has failed to comply with the Code of Conduct?

The Council has delegated to the Standards and General Purposes Committee its powers to take
action in respect of individual Members as may be necessary to promote and maintain high
standards of conduct. Accordingly, the Sub-Committee may •

Write to the Subject Member over their conduct;

•

Publish its findings in the local media in respect of the Subject Member’s conduct;

•

Report its findings to the Council;

•

Recommend to the Subject Member’s Group Leader (or in the case of un-grouped Subject
Members, recommend to the Council or to Committees) that he/she be removed from any
or all Committees or Sub-Committees of the Council;

•

Recommend to the Leader of the Council that the Subject Member be removed from the
Cabinet or removed from particular Portfolio responsibilities;

•

Instruct the Monitoring Officer to arrange training for the Subject Member;

•

Recommend removal of the Subject Member from all outside appointments to which
he/she has been appointed or nominated by the Council;

•

Withdraw facilities provided to the Subject Member by the Council, such as a computer,
website and/or email and Internet access;

•

Recommend that any aspects of the complaint that are considered suitable be referred for
mediation between the parties; or

•

Exclude the Subject Member from the Council’s offices or other premises with the
exception of meeting rooms as necessary for attending Council, Committee and SubCommittee Meetings;
Any other action considered appropriate given the circumstances of the breach or failure.

•

The Hearings Sub-Committee has no power to suspend or disqualify the Subject Member or to
withdraw a Subject Member’s basic allowance or any special responsibility allowances.

12.

What happens at the end of the Hearing?

At the end of the hearing, the Chairman will announce the Sub-Committee’s decision as to
whether the Subject Member has failed to comply with the Code of Conduct and as to any action
7

Page 21

which the Sub-Committee resolves to take.
As soon as reasonably practicable thereafter, the Monitoring Officer will prepare a formal decision
notice in consultation with the Chairman of the Sub-Committee and send a copy to you and to the
Subject Member concerned and make such decision notice available for public inspection and
report the decision to the next convenient meeting of the Standards and General Purposes
Committee. If, however, there is found to be no failure to comply with the Code of Conduct the
Subject Member can request that the decision notice is not published.
The decision of the Hearings Sub-Committee is final and is not subject to a right of appeal.

13.

What is the Hearings Sub-Committee?

The Hearings Sub-Committee is made up of 3 elected Members of the Council’s Standards and
General Purposes Committee.
An Independent Person is invited to attend all meetings of the Hearings Sub-Committee and their
views can be sought and taken into consideration on whether a Member’s conduct constitutes a
failure to comply with the Code of Conduct and as to any action to be taken following a finding of
failure to comply with the Code of Conduct.

14.

Who is the Independent Person?

An Independent Person is someone who has been appointed by the Council under Section 28 of the
Localism Act 2011.
Independent Persons are appointed through a process of public advertisement, application and
appointment. The first appointments of Independent Persons by Buckinghamshire Council is by the
Chairman of the Audit and Governance Committee in consultation with the Head of Paid Service.
Future appointments will be by a positive vote of a majority of all members of the Council i.e. by full
Council.
A Person is considered not to be ‘independent’ if they are, or have been in the previous
5 years:
•
an elected or co-opted member or officer of the Council or any Parish in the area
•
an elected or co-opted member of any committee or sub-committee of the Council or any
Parish in the area
or they are a relative or close friend of a current elected or co-opted member or officer of the
Council or any Parish or Town Council the area – or any elected or co-opted members of any
committee or sub-committee of such a Council.

15.

Revision of this Guidance

The Standards and General Purposes Committee may amend this guidance.
The Chairman of any Hearings Sub-Committee may, following consultation with the Independent
Person, depart from the procedures detailed above where he/she considers it is expedient to do
8

Page 22

so in order to secure the effective and fair consideration of any matter.
If the Monitoring Officer considers that he/she may be conflicted in the discharge of these
arrangements, or it is otherwise expedient to do so they may delegate such matters to a Deputy
Monitoring Officer to discharge.
16.

Appeals

There is no right of appeal for you as complainant or for the Subject Member against a decision of
the Monitoring Officer or the Hearings Sub-Committee.
If you feel that the Council has failed to deal with your complaint in accordance with the Council’s
adopted arrangements, you may make a complaint to the Local Government Ombudsman.
Annex 1A
Annex 1B
Annex 2
Annex 3
Annex 4
Annex 5
Annex 6
Annex 7

Complaint Form Buckinghamshire councillors
Complaint Form Parish councillors
Buckinghamshire Council’s Code of Conduct
Assessment Criteria
Procedure for Investigations
Uncontested hearing procedure
Contested hearing procedure
Protocol between Buckinghamshire Monitoring Officers
and Thames Valley Police

9

Page 23

Annex 1A

BUCKINGHAMSHIRE COUNCIL
COMPLAINT FORM MEMBER(S) CONDUCT (BUCKINGHAMSHIRE COUNCILLORS)
Your details

1.

Please provide us with your name and contact details:

Title:
First name:
Last name:
Address:

Daytime telephone:
Evening telephone:
Mobile telephone:
Email address:
Your address and contact details will not usually be released unless necessary or to deal with
your complaint.
However, we will tell the following people that you have made this complaint:







the member(s) you are complaining about
the monitoring officer of the authority
the council’s Independent Person (if required)
an investigating officer appointed to investigate your complaint (if applicable)
members of the Hearings Sub- Committee convened to consider your complaint
officers involved in mediation (if applicable)

We will tell them your name and give them a summary of your complaint. We will give them full
details of your complaint where necessary or appropriate to be able to deal with it.
10

Page 24

If you have serious concerns about your name and a summary, or details of your complaint being
released, please complete section 6 of this form.
2.

Please tell us which complainant type best describes you:

☐
☐
☐
☐
☐
☐

Member of the public
An elected or co-opted member of an authority
Member of Parliament
Local authority monitoring officer
Other council officer or authority employee
Other

Making your complaint
Once your complaint has been received a decision will be taken in accordance with the council’s
published arrangements as to what action, if any, should be taken on it. You will not have the
opportunity to attend a meeting at this stage. It is important that you provide all the information
that you want taken into account as part of your complaint.
Please refer to the council’s published arrangements for dealing with complaints about members
which explains the 3 Stage process for dealing with your complaint.

3.

Title

Please provide us with the name of the Buckinghamshire Council member(s) you believe
have breached the Code of Conduct:
First name

Last name

11

Page 25

It is important that you provide a summary of the information you wish to have taken into
account (within the space provided below) so a decision can be made, in accordance with the
published arrangements, whether to take any action on your complaint.
For example:

You should be specific, wherever possible, about exactly what you are alleging the
member said or did. For instance, instead of stating that the member insulted you, you
should give the exact words used.

You should provide the dates of the alleged incidents wherever possible. If you cannot
provide exact dates it is important to give a general timeframe.

You should confirm whether there are any witnesses to the alleged conduct and provide
their names and contact details if possible.

You should provide any relevant background information.
Please indicate which paragraphs of the Code of Conduct you consider the member(s) to
have breached by ticking the appropriate box(es).

4.
☐

a

You must provide leadership to the Council and communities within its area by
personal example

☐

b

You must respect others and not bully any person

☐

c

You must recognise that officers (other than political assistants) are employed by
and serve the whole Council

☐

d

You must respect the confidentiality of information which you receive as a councillor

☐

e

You must not conduct yourself in a manner which is likely to bring the council into
disrepute

☐

f

You must use your position as a councillor in the public interest and not for personal
advantage

☐

g

You must act in accordance with the Council’s reasonable rules on the use of the
resources of the Council for private or political purposes

☐

h

You must exercise your own independent judgment, taking decisions for good and
substantial reasons

☐

i

You must account for your actions, particularly by supporting the Council’s scrutiny
function

☐

j

You must ensure the council acts within the law

☐

Failure to declare a disclosable pecuniary, personal or prejudicial interest

12

Page 26

5.

Please explain in this section (or on separate sheets) what the member has done that
you believe breaches the relevant parts of the Code of Conduct indicated above. If you
are complaining about more than one member you should clearly explain what each
individual person has done that you believe breaches the Code of Conduct.
Please provide us with details of your complaint (within the space provided or use
separate sheets)

Please explain what steps, if any, you have taken to resolve this complaint directly
with the member concerned?

Would you be prepared to engage in mediation with the member concerned, if
considered appropriate, to try and resolve the complaint?
Yes
No
If you answered no please state reason why below:

Mediation is a way of resolving disputes with the assistance of an independent mediator who will
try and help the parties reach a solution to the dispute that both parties are agreeable to. The
independent mediator will avoid taking sides, making judgements or giving guidance. They are
simply responsible for developing effective communications between the parties with a view to a
common sense settlement being arrived at. Mediation is a voluntary process and will only take
place if the parties agree and remains confidential to the parties involved.
Only complete this next section if you are requesting that your identity is kept confidential
13

Page 27

6.

In the interests of fairness and natural justice, we believe members who are complained
about have a right to know who has made the complaint. We also believe they have a
right to be provided with a summary of the complaint. We are unlikely to withhold your
identity or the details of your complaint unless you have good reasons.
Please note that requests for confidentiality or requests for suppression of complaint
details will not automatically be granted. If your request for confidentiality is not granted,
we will usually allow you the option of withdrawing your complaint.
However, it is important to understand that in certain exceptional circumstances where
the matter complained about is very serious, we can proceed with an investigation or
other action and disclose your name even if you have expressly asked us not to.
Please provide us with details of why you believe we should withhold your name
and/or the details of your complaint:

7.

Additional Help

Complaints must be submitted in writing. This includes email submissions. However, in line with
the requirements of the Equality Act 2010, we can make reasonable adjustments to assist you if
you have a disability that prevents you from making your complaint in writing.
If you need any support in completing this form, please let us know as soon as possible.
8.

Contact Details

You can send this form to the Monitoring Officer at Buckinghamshire Council either by email to:
monitoringofficer@buckinghamshirecouncil.gov.uk or by post to :The Gateway, Gatehouse Road, Aylesbury, Bucks HP19 8FF

14

Page 28

Annex 1B

BUCKINGHAMSHIRE COUNCIL
COMPLAINT FORM PARISH/TOWN COUNNCILLOR(S) CONDUCT
Your details
1. Please provide us with your name and contact details:
Title:
First name:
Last name:
Address:

Daytime telephone:
Evening telephone:
Mobile telephone:
Email address:
Your address and contact details will not usually be released unless necessary or to deal with
your complaint.
However, we will tell the following people that you have made this complaint:








the member(s) you are complaining about
the monitoring officer of the authority
the parish or town clerk (if applicable)
the council’s Independent Person (if required)
an investigating officer appointed to investigate your complaint (if applicable)
members of the Hearings Sub- Committee convened to consider your complaint
officers involved in mediation (if applicable)

We will tell them your name and give them a summary of your complaint. We will give them full
details of your complaint where necessary or appropriate to be able to deal with it.
15

Page 29

If you have serious concerns about your name and a summary, or details of your complaint being
released, please complete section 6 of this form.
2.

Please tell us which complainant type best describes you:

☐
☐
☐
☐
☐
☐

Member of the public
An elected or co-opted member of an authority
Member of Parliament
Local authority monitoring officer
Other council officer or authority employee
Other

Making your complaint
Once your complaint has been received a decision will be taken in accordance with the council’s
published arrangements as to what action, if any, should be taken on it. You will not have the
opportunity to attend a meeting at this stage. It is important that you provide all the information
that you want taken into account as part of your complaint.
Please refer to the council’s published arrangements for dealing with complaints about members
which explains the 3 Stage process for dealing with your complaint.

3.

Title

Please provide us with the name of the member(s) you believe have breached the Code of
Conduct and the name of their authority:
First name

Last name

Council or authority name

16

Page 30

It is important that you provide a summary of the information you wish to have taken into
account (within the space provided below) so a decision can be made, in accordance with the
published arrangements, whether to take any action on your complaint.
For example:

You should be specific, wherever possible, about exactly what you are alleging the
member said or did. For instance, instead of stating that the member insulted you, you
should give the exact words used.

You should provide the dates of the alleged incidents wherever possible. If you cannot
provide exact dates it is important to give a general timeframe.

You should confirm whether there are any witnesses to the alleged conduct and provide
their names and contact details if possible.

You should provide any relevant background information.
4.

Please list below which paragraphs of the Code of Conduct you consider the member(s) to
have breached. You will find a copy of the Council’s code on either on the Parish or Town
Council’s website or obtain a copy on request from the Clerk to the relevant Council.
Please list relevant paragraphs of the Parish or Town Council’s Code

5.

Please explain in this section (or on separate sheets) what the member has done that
you believe breaches the Code of Conduct. If you are complaining about more than one
member you should clearly explain what each individual person has done that you
believe breaches the Code of Conduct.
Please provide us with details of your complaint here or attach separate sheets

17

Page 31

Please explain what steps, if any, you have taken to resolve this complaint directly
with the member concerned?

Would you be prepared to engage in mediation with the member concerned, if
considered appropriate, to try and resolve the complaint?
Yes
No
If you answered no please state reason why below:

Mediation is a way of resolving disputes with the assistance of an independent mediator who
will try and help the parties reach a solution to the dispute that both parties are agreeable to.
The independent mediator will avoid taking sides, making judgements or giving guidance. They
are simply responsible for developing effective communications between the parties with a view
to a common sense settlement being arrived at. Mediation is a voluntary process and will only
take place if the parties agree and remains confidential to the parties involved
18

Page 32

Only complete this next section if you are requesting that your identity is kept confidential
6.

In the interests of fairness and natural justice, we believe members who are complained
about have a right to know who has made the complaint. We also believe they have a
right to be provided with a summary of the complaint. We are unlikely to withhold your
identity or the details of your complaint unless you have good reasons.
Please note that requests for confidentiality or requests for suppression of complaint
details will not automatically be granted. If your request for confidentiality is not granted,
we will usually allow you the option of withdrawing your complaint.
However, it is important to understand that in certain exceptional circumstances where
the matter complained about is very serious, we can proceed with an investigation or
other action and disclose your name even if you have expressly asked us not to.
Please provide us with details of why you believe we should withhold your name
and/or the details of your complaint:

7.

Additional Help

Complaints must be submitted in writing. This includes email submissions. However, in line with
the requirements of the Equality Act 2010, we can make reasonable adjustments to assist you if
you have a disability that prevents you from making your complaint in writing.
If you need any support in completing this form, please let us know as soon as possible.
8.

Contact Details

You can send this form to the Monitoring Officer at Buckinghamshire Council either by email to:
monitoringofficer@buckinghamshirecouncil.gov.uk or by post to :The Gateway, Gatehouse Road, Aylesbury, Bucks HP19 8FF

19

Page 33

Annex 2

Buckinghamshire Council
2. Code of Conduct for Councillors – Adopted on 27 February 2020
Part 1 – General Provisions
Introduction
2.1 The Council has adopted this Code of Conduct pursuant to section 27 of the Localism Act
2011 (the Act) to promote and maintain high standards of behaviour by its councillors by
its members and co-opted members whenever they conduct the business of the Council
including the office to which they were elected or appointed or when they claim to act or
give the impression of acting as a representative of the Council.
2.2 This Code of Conduct complies with Section 28 of the Act and is consistent with the

principles of selflessness, integrity, objectivity, accountability, openness, honesty and
leadership.

Scope
2.3 This Code of Conduct applies to you whenever you are acting in your capacity as a
councillor of Buckinghamshire Council, including: –
a. at formal meetings of the Council, its Committees and Sub-Committees, its Cabinet
and Panels;
b. when acting as a representative of the Council;
c. in taking any decision as a Cabinet Member or a Ward Councillor;
d. in discharging your functions as a Ward Councillor;
e. at briefing meetings with officers;
f. at site visits; and
g. when corresponding with the authority other than in a private capacity.
2.4 Where you act as a representative of the Council:a.

on another authority, you must when acting for that authority, comply with that
other authority’s code of conduct; or

b.

on any other body, you must, when acting for that other body, comply with this
Code of Conduct, except and insofar as it conflicts with any other lawful obligations
to which that other body may be subject.

2.5 Where you are acting as a co-opted member of a Council Committee or Sub-Committee or
Board or Panel of the Council.
2.6 When using social media or the internet and/or in relation to your online presence if you
refer in any way to your role as a councillor or co-opted member or could reasonably be
perceived as acting in any of the above capacities when doing so.
General Obligations
2.7 You must:
20

Page 34

a.

provide leadership to the Council and communities within its area, by personal
example;

b.

respect others and not bully any person;

c.

recognise that officers (other than political assistants) are employed by and serve
the whole Council;

d.

respect the confidentiality of information which you receive as a councillor or coopted member and –
i.

not disclose confidential information to third parties unless required by law to
do so or where there is a clear and over-riding public interest in doing so; and

ii.

not obstruct third parties’ legal rights of access to information;

e.

not conduct yourself in a manner which is likely to bring the Council into disrepute;

f.

use your position as a councillor or co-opted member in the public interest and not
for personal advantage;

g.

act in accordance with the Council’s reasonable rules on the use of the resources of
the Council for private or political purposes;

h.

exercise your own independent judgement, taking decisions for good and
substantial reasons –
i.

attaching appropriate weight to all relevant considerations including, where
appropriate, public opinion and the views of political groups;

ii.

paying due regard to the advice of officers, and in particular to the advice of the
statutory officers, namely the Head of Paid Service, the Section 151 Officer and
the Monitoring Officer; and

iii.

stating the reasons for your decisions where those reasons are not otherwise
apparent;

i.

account for your actions, particularly by supporting the Council’s scrutiny function;

j.

ensure that the Council acts within the law.

Part 2 – Interests
Personal Interests
2.8 In addition to the statutory requirements under the Act in relation to Disclosable Pecuniary
Interest’s (DPI’s) and as set out in Paragraph 2.22 and Annex A below and save for the
subject interest already having been declared as a DPI and the statutory provisions
complied with, the following Paragraphs 2.9 to 2.21 shall also apply.
2.9 You have a personal interest in any business of the Council where eithera.

it relates to or is likely to affect –
i.

Any body of which you are a member or in a position of general control or
management and to which you are appointed or nominated by the Council;

ii.

Any body –
•

Exercising functions of a public nature

•

Directed to charitable purposes; or
21

Page 35

•

One of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public
opinion or policy (including any political party or trade union)

Of which you are a member or in a position of general control or management;
iii.

Any person or body who employs or has appointed you;

iv.

The interests of any person or body from whom you have received a gift or
hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25;

b.

A decision in relation to that business might reasonably be regarded as affecting
your well-being or financial position or the well-being or financial position of a
relevant person to a greater extent than the majority of other council tax payers,
ratepayers or inhabitants of the ward affected by the decision.

2.10 In sub-paragraph 2.9 b. above, a relevant person is –
a.

A member of your family or any person with whom you have a close personal
association; or

b.

Any person or body who employs or has appointed such persons, any firm in which
they are a partner, or any company of which they are directors; or

c.

Any person or body in whom such persons have a beneficial interest in a class of
securities exceeding the nominal value of £25,000; or

d.

Any person or body of a type described in sub-paragraph 2.9 a.

Disclosure of Personal Interests
2.11

Subject to Paragraphs 2.12 to 2.15, where you have a personal interest in any business
of the Council and you attend a meeting of the Council at which the business is
considered, you must disclose to that meeting the existence and nature of that interest
at the commencement of that consideration, or when the interest becomes apparent.

2.12

Where you have a personal interest in any business of the Council which solely relates to
a body of which you are a member or in a position of general control or management
and to which you are appointed or nominated by the Council, you need only disclose to
the meeting the existence and nature of that interest if that interest is prejudicial (see
Paragraphs 2.17 to 2.19).

2.13

Where you have a personal interest in any business of the Council of the type
mentioned in Paragraph 2.9 a.iv, you need not disclose the nature or existence of that
interest to the meeting if the interest was registered more than three years before the
date of the meeting.

2.14

Paragraph 2.11 only applies where you are aware or ought reasonably to be aware of
the existence of the personal interest.

2.15

Subject to Paragraph 2.20, where you have a personal interest in any business of the
Council and you have made an executive decision in relation to that business, you must
ensure that any written statement of that decision records the existence and nature of
that personal interest.

2.16

Having declared a personal interest you may continue to speak and vote on the item of
business concerned.

22

Page 36

Prejudicial Interest Generally
2.17

Subject to Paragraph 2.18, where you have a personal interest in any business of the
Council you also have a prejudicial interest in that business where the interest is one
which a member of the public with knowledge of the relevant facts would reasonably
regard as so significant that it is likely to prejudice your judgement of the public interest.

2.18

You do not have a prejudicial interest in any business of the Council where that
business—
a.

does not affect your financial position or the financial position of a person or body
described in Paragraph 2.9;

b.

does not relate to the determining of any approval, consent, licence, permission or
registration in relation to you or any person or body described in Paragraph 2.9; or

c.

relates to the functions of the Council in respect of—
i.

an allowance, payment or indemnity given to councillors;

ii.

any ceremonial honour given to councillors; and

iii.

setting council tax or a precept under the Local Government Finance Act 1992.

Prejudicial Interests Arising in Relation to Select Committees
2.19 You also have a prejudicial interest in any business before a Select Committee of the
Council (or of a sub-committee of such a committee) where—
a.

that business relates to a decision made (whether implemented or not) or action
taken by the Cabinet or another of the Council’s committees, sub-committees, joint
committees or joint sub-committees; and

b.

at the time the decision was made or action was taken, you were a member of the
Cabinet, committee, sub-committee, joint committee or joint sub-committee
mentioned in paragraph (a) and you were present when that decision was made or
action was taken.

Effect of Prejudicial Interests on Participation
2.20

Subject to Paragraph 2.21, where you have a prejudicial interest in any business of the
Council—
a.

you must declare the existence and nature of your interest and withdraw from the
room or chamber where a meeting considering the business is being held—
i.

in a case where Paragraph 2.21 applies, immediately after making
representations, answering questions or giving evidence;

ii.

in any other case, whenever it becomes apparent that the business is being
considered at that meeting;

b.

you must not exercise executive functions in relation to that business; and

c.

you must not seek improperly to influence a decision about that business.

2.21 Where you have a prejudicial interest in any business of the Council you may attend a
meeting (including a meeting of the relevant Select Committee of the Council or of a subcommittee of such a committee) but only for the purpose of making representations,
23

Page 37

answering questions or giving evidence relating to the business, provided that the public
are also allowed to attend the meeting for the same purpose, whether under a statutory
right or otherwise.
Disclosable Pecuniary Interest
2.22 A Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (DPI) is as defined in ‘The Relevant Authorities
(Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012’ (The Regulations) and the categories
of interest are set out in Annex A.
2.23 Councillors or co-opted members who have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any item
of business being considered at a meeting of the Council, its Committees, SubCommittees, Joint Committees, Cabinet and/or Policy Advisory Groups, must leave the
room or chamber including the public gallery during the whole of the consideration of
that item except where a councillor or co-opted member is permitted to remain as a
result of the grant of a dispensation.
Part 3 – Registration of Interests
Registration and Disclosure of Interests
2.24 Subject to Paragraph 2.28, you must, within 28 days of this Code of Conduct becoming
applicable or your election or appointment to office register in the council’s register of
members’ interests, maintained under Section 29 of the Act, details of any DPI which you
or your spouse or civil partner (or person with whom you are living as spouse or civil
partner) may have, together with your personal interests where they fall within a
category mentioned in Paragraph 2.9 a., by providing written notification to the Council’s
Monitoring Officer.
2.25 Failure to register or disclose any DPI in accordance with section 30(1) or 31(2), (3) or (7)
of the Act, or participating in any discussion or vote in contravention of section 31(4) of
the Act, or taking any steps in contravention of section 31(8) of the Act, is a criminal
offence and risks a fine not exceeding level 5 on the standard scale (currently £5,000) or
disqualification as a councillor for a period not exceeding 5 years.
2.26 Subject to Paragraph 2.28, you must, within 28 days of becoming aware of any new DPI
and/or personal interest or change to any DPI and/or personal interest registered under
Paragraph 2.24, register details of that new DPI and/or personal interest or change by
providing written notification to the Council’s Monitoring Officer.
2.27 Subject to Paragraph 2.28, you are required to disclose the existence and nature of any
DPI when it arises at a meeting even where already registered in the register or pending
registration so the minutes can be duly noted.
Sensitive Interest
2.28 Where you consider that you have a sensitive interest (whether or not a DPI), and the
Council’s Monitoring Officer agrees, if the interest is entered in the Council’s register,
copies of the register that are made available for inspection and any published version of
the register, must not include details of the interest (but may state that the councillor or
co-opted member has an interest the details of which are withheld under section 32 (2) of
the Act) and any public declaration required need only state the fact an interest arises
without further detail.

24

Page 38

2.29 You must, within 28 days of becoming aware of any change of circumstances which
means that information excluded under Paragraph 2.28 is no longer a sensitive interest,
notify the Council’s Monitoring Officer asking that the interest be included in the
Council’s register of members’ interests.
2.30 In this Code, “sensitive interest” means an interest, the nature of which is such that you
and the Council’s Monitoring Officer consider that disclosure of the details of the interest
could lead to you, or a person connected with you, being subject to violence or
intimidation.
Dispensations
2.31 On a written request made to the Council’s Monitoring Officer, the Council may grant a
dispensation for you to participate in a discussion and vote on a matter at a meeting even
if you have a DPI or a prejudicial interest and that you be relieved of the obligation to
otherwise withdraw from the room in which the matter is being considered if the Council
considers that the number of councillors or co-opted members otherwise prohibited from
taking part in the meeting would be so great a proportion of the body transacting the
business that it would impede the transaction of the business; or the representation of
different political groups on the body transacting any particular business would be so
upset as to alter the likely outcome of any vote on the business; or it is in the interests of
the inhabitants in the Council’s area to allow you to take part or that without the
dispensation the Councils Cabinet would be prohibited from participating in the matter or
it is otherwise appropriate to grant a dispensation.

25

Page 39

Annex A
Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
The duties to register, disclose and not to participate in respect of any matter in which a councillor
or co-opted member has a DPI are set out in Chapter 7 of the Act.
DPI’s are defined in the Regulations 2012 as follows –
Interest
Employment, office, trade, profession
or vocation

Prescribed description
Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation
carried on for profit or gain.

Sponsorship

Any payment or provision of any other financial
benefit (other than from the relevant authority) made
or provided within the relevant period in respect of
any expenses incurred by M in carrying out duties as a
member, or towards the election expenses of M.
This includes any payment or financial benefit from a
trade union within the meaning of the Trade Union
and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992).

Contracts

Any contract which is made between the relevant
person (or a body in which the relevant person has a
beneficial interest) and the relevant authority—
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided
or works are to be executed; and
(b) which has not been fully discharged.

Land

Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area
of the relevant authority.

Licences

Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy
land in the area of the relevant authority for a month
or longer.

Corporate tenancies

Any tenancy where (to M’s knowledge)—
(a) the landlord is the relevant authority; and
(b) the tenant is a body in which the relevant person
has a beneficial interest.

Securities

Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where—
(a) that body (to M’s knowledge) has a place of
business or land in the area of the relevant
authority; and
(b) either—
(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds
26

Page 40

Interest

Prescribed description
£25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued
share capital of that body; or
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than
one class, the total nominal value of the shares of
any one class in which the relevant person has a
beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the
total issued share capital of that class.

For this purpose –
“body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest” means a firm in which the
relevant person is a partner or a body corporate of which the relevant person is a director,
or in the securities of which the relevant person has a beneficial interest;
“director” includes a member of the committee of management of an industrial and
provident society;
“land” excludes an easement, servitude, interest or right in or over land which does not carry
with it a right for the relevant person (alone or jointly with another) to occupy the land or to
receive income;
“M” means a member of a relevant authority;
“member” includes a co-opted member;
“relevant authority” means the authority of which M is a member;
“relevant period” means the period of 12 months ending with the day on which M gives a
notification for the purposes of section 30(1) or 31(7), as the case may be, of the Act;
“relevant person” means M or any other person referred to in section 30(3)(b) of the Act;
“securities” means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a
collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets Act
2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited with a building
society.

27

Page 41

Annex 3
ASSESSMENT CRITERIA
Stage 1 Criteria
Before the assessment of a complaint begins, the Monitoring Officer must be satisfied that the
complaint meets the following requirements:
(i)

It is a complaint against one or more named Members of the Council;

(ii)

The named Member or Members were in Office at the time of the alleged conduct and
acting in their official capacity; and

(iii)

The complaint, if proven, would be a breach of the Council's Code of Conduct in force at
the relevant time.

If the complaint fails any one of these tests, it cannot be investigated as a breach of the Council's
Code of Conduct and the complainant must be informed that no further action can be taken in
relation to the complaint. If it passes all three tests, then it can be assessed according to the
criteria set out below.
Referral Criteria
The Monitoring Officer will consider the following criteria to decide whether to accept a
complaint and as factors for consideration at all stages of the complaint process: (a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)
(f)
(g)
(h)

(i)
(j)
(k)

The public benefit in investigating the alleged complaint;
The availability and cost of resources with regard to the seriousness of the alleged matter;
whether the information submitted is sufficient to make a decision as to whether to refer
for investigation;
Is the Subject Member complaint about still a serving councillor or co-opted member;
Is the complaint the same as or similar to a previous complaint;
The time passed since the alleged conduct occurred;
the complaint involves conduct too trivial to warrant further action;
Does the complaint appear to be vexatious, malicious, politically motivated or tit for tat;
relatively minor, insufficiently serious, tit-for-tat, or there are other reasons why an
investigation may not be in the public interest.
Whether the matter complained of is an individual act or part of a continuous pattern of
behaviour which should be cumulatively considered;
Steps taken or proposed to remedy the action complained of;
The complainant’s view of the action taken or proposed.

Re-consideration Criteria
The Investigating Officer may, following consultation with the Independent Person, refer an
investigation to the Monitoring Officer for re-consideration as to whether the investigation
28

Page 42

should proceed where:
•

As a result of new evidence or information, the Investigating Officer is of the opinion that
the matter is materially less serious than may have seemed apparent to the Monitoring
Officer when the decision was made to refer the complaint for investigation, and a
different decision may have been made had the Monitoring Officer been aware of the
new evidence or information;

•

The Subject Member who is the subject of the allegation has died, is seriously ill or has
resigned from the Council concerned and in the circumstances the Investigating Officer is
of the opinion that it is no longer appropriate to proceed with the investigation; or

•

Other circumstances arise, which in the reasonable opinion of the Investigating Officer,
render it appropriate for the investigation to be referred to the Monitoring Officer for reconsideration.

29

Page 43

Annex 4
PROCEDURE FOR INVESTIGATIONS
MO decides formal investigation should take place
Within 7 days
IO is appointed by MO

Within 14 days

Any witnesses will
also be interviewed

IO will decide whether it is necessary to interview C, and
if so, will contact C to arrange an interview as soon as is
reasonably practicable
Within 7 days 14 days of interview

Should Complainant not
wish to attend for
interview, guidance will
be sought from MO

Any witnesses will
also be interviewed

Interview record will be sent to C for approval. C
will have 14 days to respond, otherwise the
record will be taken as agreed.
IO will then contact M and endeavour to arrange an
interview with the M as soon as is reasonably
practicable
Within 14 days of interview

Record of interview sent for approval to M. M Will have 14 days to respond, otherwise
record will be taken as agreed
IO will make a judgement in respect of anyone else who should be
asked in for an interview
Once all interviews have been conducted and notes of all interviews approved, IO will produce
a draft report for C and M within 1 month of receipt of last interview record. C and M will be
afforded 14 days to comment on the draft report.
KEY
IO - Investigating Officer
MO - Monitoring
Officer C - Complainant
M - Member

IO will then produce final report for MO
30

Page 44

Annex 5
STANDARDS AND GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE
OUTLINE PROCEDURE FOR HEARINGS SUB-COMMITTEE (UNCONTESTED)
Preliminary Procedural Issues
1.

Introductions.

2.

Declarations of Interest (if any).

3.

To consider any request for the exclusion of Press and Public.

Breach of the Code of Conduct
4.

Monitoring Officer (or his/her representative) to present summary report, including the
findings of fact made by the Investigating Officer, and refer to outcome of pre-hearing
process.

5.

Views of the Independent Person sought.

6.

Members of the Sub-Committee to raise/clarify issues.

7.

The Sub-Committee will retire, along with the Monitoring Officer, to determine whether
there has been a breach of the Code of Conduct. The Sub-Committee’s decision will be
reported back to the meeting by the Democratic Services Officer.

Action to be taken
8.

Monitoring Officer (or his/her representative) to outline possible sanctions.

9.

Investigating officer to make submissions on appropriate sanction, if any.

10.

Member or (his/her representative) to present statement of, or provide oral, mitigation,
including on what sanction, if any, should be imposed.

11.

Views of the Independent Person sought.

12.

Members of the Sub-Committee to raise/clarify issues.

13.

The Sub-Committee will retire, along with the Monitoring Officer, to consider what
sanction, if any, should be imposed. The Sub-Committee’s decision will be reported back
to the meeting by the Democratic Services Officer.

Close of Hearing

31

Page 45

Annex 6
STANDARDS AND GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE
OUTLINE PROCEDURE FOR HEARINGS SUB-COMMITTEE (CONTESTED)
Preliminary Procedural Issues
1.

Introductions.

2.

Declarations of Interest (if any).

3.

To consider any request for the exclusion of Press and Public.

Findings of Fact
4.

Monitoring Officer (or his/her representative) to present summary report and refer to
outcome of pre-hearing process.

5.

Investigating Officer to present report and call such witnesses as he/she considers
necessary to substantiate his/her conclusion(s) within the report.

6.

Subject Member (or his/her representative) to raise/clarify issues with the Investigating
Officer, including the questioning of the Investigating Officer’s witnesses.

7.

Members of the Sub-Committee to raise/clarify issues with the Investigating Officer,
including the questioning of the Investigating Officer’s witnesses.

8.

Subject Member (or his/her representative) to present their case and call such witnesses
as he/she considers necessary.

9.

Investigating Officer to raise/clarify issues with the Subject Member (or his/her
representative), including the questioning of the Subject Member’s witnesses.

10.

Members of the Sub-Committee to raise/clarify issues with the Subject Member (or
his/her representative), including the questioning of the Subject Member’s witnesses.

11.

Views of the Independent Person sought.

12.

Members of the Sub-Committee to raise/clarify issues with the Independent Person.

13.

The Sub-Committee will retire, along with the Monitoring Officer, to determine its
findings of fact.

14.

The Sub-Committee’s decision will be reported back to the meeting by the Democratic
Services Officer.

32

Page 46

Breach of the Code of Conduct
15.

The Sub-Committee will need to consider whether or not, based on the facts it has found,
the Subject Member has breached the Code of Conduct.

16.

Investigating Officer to address the Sub-Committee on whether the facts found constitute
a breach of the Code of Conduct.

17.

Subject Member (or his/her representative) to address the Sub-Committee as to why the
facts found do not constitute a breach of the Code of Conduct.

18.

Views of the Independent Person sought.

19.

Members of the Sub-Committee to raise/clarify issues.

20.

The Sub-Committee will retire, along with the Monitoring Officer, to determine whether
there has been a breach of the Code of Conduct. The Sub-Committee’s decision will be
reported back to the meeting by the Democratic Services Officer.

(If the Sub-Committee determine that there has been no breach of the Code of Conduct, the
complaint will be dismissed. If, however, the Sub-Committee determine that there has been a
breach of the Code of Conduct, the procedure at paragraph 21 will apply).
Action to be taken
21.

The Sub-Committee will need to determine what sanction, if any, should be imposed as a
result of the Subject Member’s breach of the Code of Conduct.

22.

Monitoring Officer (or his/her representative) to outline possible sanctions.

23.

Investigating officer to make submissions on appropriate sanction, if any.

24.

Subject Member (or his/her representative) to make submissions on whether any
sanction should be imposed.

25.

Views of the Independent Person sought.

26.

Members of the Sub-Committee to raise /clarify issues.

27.

The Sub-Committee will retire, along with the Monitoring Officer, to consider what
sanction, if any, should be imposed. The Sub-Committee’s decision will be reported back
to the meeting by the Democratic Services Officer.

Close of Hearing

33

Page 47

Annex 7

PROTOCOL BETWEEN BUCKINGHAMSHIRE MONITORING OFFICERS AND
THAMES VALLEY POLICE
Purpose
To agree a protocol for the reporting of potential criminal offences arising under Section 34 of the
Localism Act 2011 concerning the registration and/or disclosure of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
(DPIs) (as defined in the Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012.
1.

If the Monitoring Officer receives a complaint regarding a potential DPI offence they will
undertake an initial assessment of the allegation having regard to the following criteria: •

Has the alleged offence been committed in the last 3 years?

•

Was the Member concerned subject to the Localism Act 2011 at the time of the
alleged offence?

•

Is it proportionate to conduct a criminal investigation rather than a code of conduct
investigation for the alleged offence?

2.

If the Monitoring Officer considers that the answer to each of the above criteria is “yes” the
Monitoring Officer will make immediate contact with Thames Valley Police through the
nominated single point of contact (see Appendix B for named Police contact).

3.

Similarly, if Thames Valley Police receive a complaint from a member of the public they will
inform the relevant Monitoring Officer of the receipt of that complaint. (Each authority will
be responsible for providing up to date contact details of their appointed Monitoring Officer
from time to time – see Appendix B for named Monitoring Officer contacts.)

4.

Thames Valley Police will register the complaint and conduct an initial assessment of the
complaint but may approach the relevant Monitoring Officer for background information on
the complaint.

5.

If Thames Valley Police decide not to prosecute the matter they will normally pass the
relevant evidence to the relevant Monitoring Officer so that consideration can be given to a
Code of Conduct breach being pursued. In the event that the relevant Council decides to
pursue a Code of Conduct breach they will inform Thames Valley Police of their decision.

6.

Both the relevant Monitoring Officer and Thames Valley Police will endeavour to keep
complainants regularly updated as to the progress of complaints.

34

Page 48

Signed on behalf of Thames Valley Police:

Signed on behalf of Buckinghamshire Council:

Signed on behalf of Buckinghamshire & Milton Keynes Fire Authority:

Signed on behalf of Royal Berkshire Fire Authority:

Signed on behalf of Milton Keynes Council:

NB: A signed version is retained by Legal Services. Signed and dated by all parties as of
....................... 2020

35

Page 49

Appendix A – Extracts from Localism Act 2011
30

Disclosure of pecuniary interests on taking office

1.

A member or co -opted member of a relevant authority must, before the end of 28 days
beginning with the day on which the person becomes a member or co-opted member of the
authority, notify the authority' s monitoring officer of any disclosable pecuniary interests
which the person has at the time when the notification is given.

2.

Where a person becomes a member or co-opted member of a relevant authority as a result
of re -election or re-appointment, subsection (1) applies only as regards disclosable
pecuniary interests not entered in the authority's register when the notification is given.

3.

For the purposes of this Chapter, a pecuniary interest is a “disclosable pecuniary interest” in
relation to a person (“M”) if it is of a description specified in regulations made by the
Secretary of State and either:
(a) It is an interest of M's; or
(b) It is an interest of:
i)
M's spouse or civil partner;
ii)
a person with whom M is living as husband and wife; or
iii) a person with whom M is living as if they were civil partners, and M is aware that
that other person has the interest.

4.

Where a member or co-opted member of a relevant authority gives a notification for the
purposes of subsection (1), the authority's monitoring officer is to cause the interests
notified to be entered in the authority's register (whether or not they are disclosable
pecuniary interests).

31

Pecuniary interests in matters considered at meetings or by a single member

1.

Subsections (2) to (4) apply if a member or co-opted member of a relevant authority:
a)
Is present at a meeting of the authority or of any committee, sub-committee, joint
committee or joint sub-committee of the authority;
b)
Has a disclosable pecuniary interest in any matter to be considered, or being
considered, at the meeting; and
c)
Is aware that the condition in paragraph (b) is met.

2.

If the interest is not entered in the authority's register, the member or co -opted member
must disclose the interest to the meeting, but this is subject to section 32(3).

3.

If the interest is not entered in the authority's register and is not the subject of a pending
notification, the member or co-opted member must notify the authority's monitoring officer
of the interest before the end of 28 days beginning with the date of the disclosure.

4.

The member or co-opted member may not:
a)
Participate, or participate further, in any discussion of the matter at the meeting; or
b)
Participate in any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter at the meeting;
36

Page 50

but this is subject to section 33.
5.

In the case of a relevant authority to which Part 1A of the Local Government Act 2000
applies and which is operating executive arrangements, the reference in subsection (1)(a) to
a committee of the authority includes a reference to the authority's executive and a
reference to a committee of the executive.

6.

Subsections (7) and (8) apply if:
a)
A function of a relevant authority may be discharged by a member of the authority
acting alone;
b)
The member has a disclosable pecuniary interest in any matter to be dealt with, or
being dealt with, by the member in the course of discharging that function; and
c)
The member is aware that the condition in paragraph (b) is met.

7.

If the interest is not entered in the authority's register and is not the subject of a pending
notification, the member must notify the authority's monitoring officer of the interest
before the end of 28 days beginning with the date when the member becomes aware that
the condition in subsection (6)(b) is met in relation to the matter.

8.

The member must not take any steps, or any further steps, in relation to the matter (except
for the purpose of enabling the matter to be dealt with otherwise than by the member).

9.

Where a member or co-opted member of a relevant authority gives a notification for the
purposes of subsection (3) or (7), the authority's monitoring officer is to cause the interest
notified to be entered in the authority's register (whether or not it is a disclosable pecuniary
interest).

10.

Standing orders of a relevant authority may provide for the exclusion of a member or coopted member of the authority from a meeting while any discussion or vote takes place in
which, as a result of the operation of subsection (4), the member or co -opted member may
not participate.

11.

For the purpose of this section, an interest is “subject to a pending notification” if:
a)
Under this section or section 30, the interest has been notified to a relevant authority's
monitoring officer; but
b)
Has not been entered in the authority's register in consequence of that notification.

32

Sensitive interests

1.

Subsections (2) and (3) apply where:
a)
A member or co-opted member of a relevant authority has an interest (whether or not
a disclosable pecuniary interest); and
b)
The nature of the interest is such that the member or co-opted member, and the
authority's monitoring officer, consider that disclosure of the details of the interest
could lead to the member or co-opted member, or a person connected with the
member or co - opted member, being subject to violence or intimidation.

37

Page 51

2.

If the interest is entered in the authority's register, copies of the register that are made
available for inspection, and any published version of the register, must not include details of
the interest (but may state that the member or co-opted member has an interest the details
of which are withheld under this subsection).

3.

If section 31(2) applies in relation to the interest, that provision is to be read as requiring the
member or co -opted member to disclose not the interest but merely the fact that the
member or co-opted member has a disclosable pecuniary interest in the matter concerned.

33

Dispensations from section 31(4)

1.

A relevant authority may, on a written request made to the proper officer of the authority by
a member or co-opted member of the authority, grant a dispensation relieving the member
or co-opted member from either or both of the restrictions in section 31(4) in cases
described in the dispensation.

2.

A relevant authority may grant a dispensation under this section only if, after having had
regard to all relevant circumstances, the authority:
a)
Considers that without the dispensation the number of persons prohibited by section
31(4) from participating in any particular business would be so great a proportion of
the body transacting the business as to impede the transaction of the business;
b)
Considers that without the dispensation the representation of different political
groups on the body transacting any particular business would be so upset as to alter
the likely outcome of any vote relating to the business;
c)
Considers that granting the dispensation is in the interests of persons living in the
authority's area;
d)
If it is an authority to which Part 1A of the Local Government Act 2000 applies and is
operating executive arrangements, considers that without the dispensation each
member of the authority's executive would be prohibited by section 31(4) from
participating in any particular business to be transacted by the authority's executive; or
e)
Considers that it is otherwise appropriate to grant a dispensation.

3.

A dispensation under this section must specify the period for which it has effect, and the
period specified may not exceed four years.

4.

Section 31(4) does not apply in relation to anything done for the purpose of deciding
whether to grant a dispensation under this section.

34

Offences

1.

A person commits an offence if, without reasonable excuse, the person:
a)
Fails to comply with an obligation imposed on the person by section 30(1) or 31(2), (3)
or (7);
b)
Participates in any discussion or vote in contravention of section 31(4); or
c)
Takes any steps in contravention of section 31(8).

2.

A person commits an offence if under section 30(1) or 31(2), (3) or (7) the person provides
information that is false or misleading and the person:
38

Page 52

a)
b)

Knows that the information is false or misleading; or
Is reckless as to whether the information is true and not misleading.

3.

A person who is guilty of an offence under this section is liable on summary conviction to a
fine not exceeding level 5 on the standard scale.

4.

A court dealing with a person for an offence under this section may (in addition to any other
power exercisable in the person's case) by order disqualify the person, for a period not
exceeding five years, for being or becoming (by election or otherwise) a member or co-opted
member of the relevant authority in question or any other relevant authority.

5.

A prosecution for an offence under this section is not to be instituted except by or on behalf
of the Director of Public Prosecutions.

6.

Proceedings for an offence under this section may be brought within a period of 12 months
beginning with the date on which evidence sufficient in the opinion of the prosecutor to
warrant the proceedings came to the prosecutor's knowledge.

7.

But no such proceedings may be brought more than three years:
a)
After the commission of the offence; or
b)
In the case of a continuous contravention, after the last date on which the offence was
committed.

8.

A certificate signed by the prosecutor and stating the date on which such evidence came to
the prosecutor's knowledge is conclusive evidence of that fact; and a certificate to that
effect and purporting to be so signed is to be treated as being so signed unless the contrary
is proved.

9.

The Local Government Act 1972 is amended as follows.

10.

In section 86(1)(b) (authority to declare vacancy where member becomes disqualified
otherwise than in certain cases) after “2000” insert “or section 34 of the Localism Act 2011”.

11.

In section 87(1)(ee) (date of casual vacancies):
a)
After “2000” insert “or section 34 of the Localism Act 2011 or”; and
b)
After “decision” insert “or order”.

12.

The Greater London Authority Act 1999 is amended as follows.

13.

In each of sections 7(b) and 14(b) (Authority to declare vacancy where Assembly member or
Mayor becomes disqualified otherwise than in certain cases) after sub -paragraph (i) insert:
“(ia)
under section 34 of the Localism Act 2011”.

14.

In section 9(1)(f) (date of casual vacancies):
a)
Before “or by virtue of” insert “or section 34 of the Localism Act 2011”; and
b)
After “that Act” insert “of 1998 or that section”.

39

Page 53

Appendix B – Monitoring Officer/Police Contacts
Thames Valley Police
Detective Sergeant Conor Breen
Economic Crime Unit
Email: Conor.Breen@thamesvalley.pnn.police.uk
Buckinghamshire Council
Sarah Ashmead
Email: sarah.ashmead@buckinghamshire.gov.uk

Buckinghamshire & Milton Keynes Fire Authority
Graham Britten
Email: Gbritten@bucksfire.gov.uk
Royal Berkshire Fire Authority
Graham Britten
Email: Gbritten@bucksfire.gov.uk

Milton Keynes Council
Sharon Bridglalsingh
Email: : Sharon.Bridglalsingh@Milton-keynes.gov.uk

40

Page 54

Appendix
BUCKINGHAMSHIRE COUNCIL

PROTOCOL ON THE ROLE OF THE INDEPENDENT PERSON

1. Introduction
This protocol is to make clear the relationships between the Independent Person (IP)
and the various parts of the Council involved in the process of handling standards
complaints and wider promotion of ethical standards. Its aim is to ensure that
responsibility is clear at each stage of the process and set out the expectations and
rights of the IPs.

2. Appointment
a. To be eligible for appointment as an Independent Person, a person must not be or
have been within the previous five years a member, co-opted member or officer of
the Council or of a Parish Council of which the Council is the principal authority, nor
a relative or close friend of such member or officer.
b. The Independent person should not be involved actively in party politics and should
be independent of local government.
c. It is essential that the Independent Person demonstrates a keen interest and
commitment to maintaining and promoting high ethical standards in local
government.
d. An Independent person must have a general understanding of the principles behind
the members’ Code of Conduct and must be a person of good standing in whose
impartiality and integrity elected members and the general public can have
confidence. It is essential that an Independent Person can demonstrate personal
integrity and honesty.
e. The Independent Person must also have good communication and interpersonal
skills, be able to operate with tact and diplomacy, must be able to use logical
reasoning and bring qualities of open-mindedness and impartiality. It is vital that
the Independent Person understands and complies with confidentiality
requirements.
f. It would be beneficial for a candidate to demonstrate experience of managing or
advising upon misconduct issues in another context, understanding the pressures
and constraints of serving as a member of an accountable public body and
knowledge of public sector governance issues.

1

Page 55

g. The Independent Person may only be appointed pursuant to a formal recruitment
process requiring a public advertisement, submission of applications and selection
by interview. A person’s appointment must be approved by Full Council. The term
of office for each Independent Person will be 4 years and re-appointment will be for
no more than 2 consecutive terms.
h. The Independent Person is to be considered an office-holder of the Council in
accordance with the duty under s28(7) of the Localism Act 2011 and is therefore
entitled to be covered by the Council’s indemnity insurance provided they act
reasonably and within the terms of this Protocol.
i.

The Independent Person is not an employee of the Council. The Council will pay the
Independent Person’s expenses by way of an allowance or otherwise with the
amount to be determined by the Full Council.

3. Considering written allegations
a. Complaints will be allocated to an IP by the monitoring officer (MO) or deputy
monitoring officer (DMO) having regard to availability and any conflicts of interest,
by rotation.
b. If the IP has had any prior dealing or on-going personal relationship with the
complainant or the Member the subject of the complaint, they should advise the
MO at the earliest opportunity
c. The IP should familiarise themselves with the Council’s code of conduct and
complaints procedures
d. The MO or DMO dealing with a complaint may seek the views of the allocated IP at
any point during Stage 2 of the complaints procedure but the allocated IP will be
consulted where an investigation is or may be proposed.
e. The IPs role is to provide an independent view on the substance of the complaint
and/or the quality of the evidence being considered in order to help the MO or
DMO make an informed decision.
f. When issuing a Stage 2 decision letter, the MO/DMO will record that the allocated
IP has been consulted and that their views have been taken into account. Where
the view of the MO/DMO and IP differ, the MO/DMO will record the reasons for
following a particular course. The decision letter will make clear that it is the
MO/DMO and not the IP who is the decision-maker.
4. Matters under investigation
a. A member of Buckinghamshire Council or of a town or parish council who is the
subject of a complaint is entitled to seek the views of an IP. The MO/DMO will
allocate a different IP (“the Member IP”) to undertake this role. A subject member
2

Page 56

wishing to contact the Member IP should do so via the MO/DMO. These
arrangements will be communicated to the subject member by the MO/DMO in the
decision notice.
b. When discussing the complaint with the subject member the Member IPs role is
not to give views on the merit of the complaint or the evidence in support, or to act
as an advocate or represent /defend the subject members but to give advice and
reassurance on the Council’s complaints process and procedures. Where the
Member IP has given advice to the subject member, this shall be put in writing and
made available to all relevant parties in the case.
c. The Member IP will need to agree in advance with the subject member rules of
confidentiality but it will be up to the IP to decide whether matters should remain
confidential and, even where there is confidential information disclosed to the IP,
there should be a public statement that confidential matters were discussed.
d. The MO/DMO may consult the IP allocated to consider the complaint at any stage
during the process, particularly on matters which relate to the procedures for
handling the complaint.
e. Where a matter has been referred to a Hearings Sub-Committee for determination,
the committee must seek the views of the allocated IP before reaching its
conclusions. The IP’s views should be recorded in any decision notice and, where
those views do not reflect the final outcome reasons must be given for any
differences. However, it must be clear that it is the Hearings Sub-committee and
not the IP who is the decision-maker.
f. The IP must not disclose discuss the substance of the complaint with any other
third party
g. The IPs shall not make any comments to the media on any of the Council’s
standards matter without prior agreement of the MO/DMO or the council’s
communications team. Any requests for comments from media shall be referred in
the first instance to the MO/DMO who may refer these to the Chairman of the
Standards and General Purposes Committee as appropriate.
h. The IPs may be requested by the MO/DMO or Standards and General Purposes
Committee to assist in mediation or conciliation in order to resolve complaints
where that is considered the most appropriate course of action.
i.

The IPs may be requested by the MO/DMO or Standards and General Purposes
Committee to assist in any training on conduct issues as appropriate.
3

Page 57

5.

Relationship with the Standards and General Purposes Committee
a. The Monitoring Officer is the principal advisor to the Standards and General
Purposes Committee supported by the Deputy Monitoring officer (s) and officers
within Democratic Services
b. Up to 2 IPs are non-voting members of the Standards and General Purposes
Committee and are permitted to attend for consultative purposes. Attendance at
meetings will be alternated between IPs subject to their availability.
c. All IPs will receive agendas and minutes of the Hearings Sub-Committee and the
agenda and minutes of the Standards and General Purposes Committee in so far as
they relate to standards issues. They shall be entitled to ask for items on standards
issues to be added to the agenda of the Standards and General Purposes
Committee with the agreement of the chairman and to speak at the committee.
d. The IPs are not members of the Hearings Sub-Committee and therefore are not
part of the formal business of the meeting and cannot vote on any matters put to
the meeting. They may be invited to observe confidential standards matters with
the agreement of the chairman.

6.

Panel considering dismissal of statutory officers
a. IPs will be members of any Panel set up to consider the dismissal of the Head of
Paid Service, Chief Finance Officer or Monitoring Officer (all statutory officers of the
Council) and together with the other members of the panel, will make
recommendations on this to full Council.
b. IPs will be included in consultation about the dates for Panel meetings and receive
the relevant papers at least 5 clear working days before the date of the meeting.

7.

Training
Training for the role of the IP with particular reference to local government
governance and practice will be provided in-house by the MO or DMOs and where
appropriate through external courses. Training for disciplinary and/or dismissal
proceedings against a statutory officer will provide by the senior officers in the HR
service.

4

Page 58

Other matters

8.

a. The MO/DMO may consult an IP before deciding whether to grant a dispensation to
a member of Buckinghamshire Council under section 33 of the Localism Act 2011
b. The MO/DMO may consult an IP before deciding whether a member of
Buckinghamshire Council or a parish or town council has a sensitive interest under
section 32 of the Localism Act 2011
c. The MO/DMO may consult an IP before deciding whether to grant a complainant’s
request for their identity to be kept confidential
d. The IPs have the right to raise any concerns about standards issues or
implementation of the process with the council’s chief executive and have the right
to address a meeting of the full council about any concerns.
e. The council, through its Standards and General Purposes Committee and MO, is
responsible for ensuring that the council meets its duty to promote and maintain
high ethical standards. However, the IPs have the right to be consulted on any
proposed changes to the Code of Conduct or procedures for handling allegations.
f. The IPs have the right of access to any confidential information required to carry
out their role. Access to such information and its storage shall be agreed with the
MO/DMO.
g. The IPs have the right of access to council buildings in order to carry out their role.
Access should be agreed in advance with the MO/DMO.
h. The MO/DMOs will meet at least annually with the IPs to review relevant matters.
An officer from the Buckinghamshire and Milton Keynes Association of Local
Councils will also be invited to attend these meetings.
i.

The IPs will agree to declare any relevant interests in relation to cases to the MO
who will decide whether the interest conflicts them out of involvement in the
matter.

BC IP Protocol V4 08.06.20

5

Page 59

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7

Report to Standards and General Purposes
Committee
Date: 2 July 2020
Title: Committee on Standards in Public Life report on Local Government Ethical Standards
and Local Government Association consultation on a Model Code
Author and/or contact officer: Joanna Swift Deputy Monitoring Officer (CSB Team)
Ward(s) affected: None specific
Recommendations:
The Committee is asked: 1. To note the Committee on Standards in Public Life (CSPL) recommendations on Local
Government Ethical Standards attached at Appendix 1
2. To consider whether any of the CSPL best practice recommendations not already in
place should be reported to a future meeting for action.
3. To consider and give comments on the model member code of conduct proposed by the
Local Government Association (LGA) and attached at Appendix 2
4. To authorise the Service Director for Legal and Democratic Services in consultation with
the Chairman of the Committee, to submit a formal response to the LGA’s consultation
questions on the model code attached at Appendix 3, having regard to the Committee’s
comments.
Reason for decision: To ensure the Council acts in accordance with current best practice in
relation to ethical standards and has an opportunity to respond to the LGA’s national
consultation on a model member code of conduct before the deadline of 17 August 2020.

Content of report
1.1.

The Committee on Standards in Public Life (CSPL) advises the Prime Minister on
ethical standards across the whole of public life in England. It monitors and reports

Page 61

on issues relating to the standards of conduct of all public office holders and
promotes the 7 principles of public life. In 2018 the CSPL carried out a review into
the ethical framework for local authorities which included stake holder
consultation. Its report was published in January 2019 and the Executive Summary
and Recommendations are attached at Appendix 1.
1.2.

The main findings, observations and conclusions are summarised below: •
High standards of conduct in local government are needed to protect the
integrity of decision-making, maintain public confidence and safeguard local
democracy.
•
Evidence supports the view that the vast majority of councillors and officers
maintain high standards of conduct. Where there is misconduct most of the
cases involve bullying or harassment or other disruptive behaviour.
•
Having considered the need for a centralised body to govern and adjudicate
on standards the Committee concluded that whilst the consistency and
independence of the system could be enhanced, there is no reason to
reintroduce a centralised body and local authorities should retain ultimate
responsibility for implementing and applying the 7 principles of public life in
local government.
•
There is considerable variation in the length, quality and clarity of code of
conduct and many codes fail to address adequately important areas of
behaviour, such as social media use and bullying and harassment. An
updated model code of conduct should therefore be available to local
authorities in order to enhance consistency and quality of local authority
codes.
•
Any standards process needs to have safeguards in place to ensure that
decisions are made fairly and impartially and that councillors are protected
against politically-motivated, malicious or unfounded allegations of
misconduct. The Independent Person is an important safeguard in the
current system and this role should be strengthened and clarified
•
The current sanctions available to local authorities are insufficient. Party
discipline whilst it has an important part to play in maintaining high
standards, lacks the necessary independence and transparency to play the
central role in the standards system.

1.3.

The report makes 26 recommendations, mainly to Government but also to the
Local Government Association and Parish Councils in some cases. The key
recommendation are that: •
An updated Voluntary Model Code of Conduct be created by the Local
Government Association in consultation with representative bodies of
councillors and officers at all tiers of local government
•
The register of interests should include categories of non-pecuniary
interests
•
Current rules on declaring interests should be repealed and replaced with
an objective test

Page 62

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•

1.4

Independent persons should have fixed terms of 2 years, renewable once
and protection by legal indemnity put in place if their advice or views are
disclosed
Councils to be given discretion to establish decision-making standards
committees with voting independent members and voting members from
dependant parishes
Councils to be given the power to suspend councillors for up to 6 months, to
include parish councillors, if an Independent Person agrees to the
suspension
Councillors should be given the right to appeal against suspension to the
Local Government Ombudsman
The criminal offences relating to disclosable pecuniary interests should be
abolished
Parish councils should be required to adopt the code of their principal
authority (or the new model code) and a principal authority’s sanctions for a
parish councillor should be binding
Monitoring Officers should be provided with adequate training, corporate
support and resources to undertake their role in providing support on
standards to parish councils. Clerks should also hold an appropriate
qualification
Political groups should set clear expectations of behaviour by their members
and senior officers should maintain effective relationships with political
groups
Political groups should require their members to attend code of conduct
training provided by local authorities and write this into national party
model group rules.

The CSPL also made 15 best practice recommendations shown in the Table below
which are directed at local authorities. The Committee expects that any local
authority can and should implement these recommendations. The Table indicates
the current position at Buckinghamshire Council in terms of compliance with these
recommendations.

1

2

Recommended Best Practice

Current Position

Prohibition on bullying and harassment
included in code of conduct together with a
definition and a list of examples of the
behaviour this covers

The Code includes
bullying.
Guidance for members
refer to definition and
examples of the
behaviour

Codes should require councillors to comply Tit for tat complaints
with any formal standards investigation and discouraged in complaints
prohibit trivial or malicious allegations by

Page 63

RAG

councillors

procedure

3

Codes should be reviewed annually and
where possible, views sought from the
public, community organisations and
neighbouring authorities

Reviews due to be carried
out annually but external
consultation is not
currently proposed

4

Codes should be readily accessible to
councillors and the public in a prominent
position on the council’s website and
available in council premises

Included in the Council’s
Constitution and
accessible when searching
under complaints

5

Council’s should update their gifts and
hospitality register at once a quarter and
publish it in an accessible format, such as
CSV

Gifts and hospitality of
£25 or more registrable
under the code of
conduct and published
with the member’s
register of interests.
Separate register not
currently kept.

6

Council’s should publish a clear and
straightforward public interest test against
which allegations are filtered

Assessment criteria listed
in complaints procedure

7

Councils should have access to at least 2
Independent Persons

The Council appoints 3 IPs

8

Independent Person should be consulted
on whether to undertake a formal
investigation and be given the option to
review and comment on allegations which
the MO is minded to dismiss as being
without merit, vexatious or trivial.

These provision are
included in the adopted
complaints procedure

9

Decisions following a formal investigation
should be published as soon as possible on
the Council’s website, including a brief
statement of facts, the provisions of the
code engaged by the allegations, the view
of the Independent Person, the reasoning
of the decision-maker and any sanction
applied.

Complaints procedure
provides for decision to
be published

10 Councils should have straightforward and
accessible guidance on their website on

Page 64

Guidance on the
complaints procedure to

how to make a complaint under the code,
the process for handling complaints, the
estimated timescales for investigations and
outcomes

be considered by the
Committee on 2 July 2020

11 Formal standards complaints about the
conduct of a parish councillor towards a
clerk should be made by the chair or the
parish council as a whole, rather than the
clerk in all but exceptional circumstances

This is a matter for
parish councils to adopt

12 MO roles should include providing advice,
support and management of investigations
and adjudications on alleged breaches to
parish councils within their area. MOs
should be provided with adequate training,
corporate support and resources to
undertake this work

The council’s complaints
procedure applies to
complaints about parish
and town councillors and
these will be investigated
if the relevant assessment
criteria are met

13 Councils should have procedures in place to
address any conflicts of interest when
undertaking a standards investigation.
Possible steps include asking the MO from a
different council to undertake the
investigation.

Complaints procedure
allows for an external
investigator to be
appointed which
addresses any potential
conflicts of interest.

14 Councils should report on separate bodies
they have set up as part of their annual
governance statement and give a full
picture of their relationship with those
bodies.

Details of separate bodies
are included in the
Council’s annual
governance statement

Separate bodies created by Councils should
abide by the Nolan principles and publish
their board agendas, minutes and annual
reports in an accessible place.

15 Senior officers should meet regularly with
political group leaders or group whips to
discuss standards issues

Page 65

Publication of board
agendas, minutes and
reports is subject to the
Constitution and
procedure rules of each
body and relevant
statutory provisions
Meetings are held
informally as and when
required

1.5.

The Committee will note that most of the best practise recommendations are
already in place but are invited to consider whether to ask the monitoring officer to
bring a report on the outstanding areas to a future meeting of the committee for
further consideration.

1.6

One of the CSPL recommendations addressed to Local Government Association
(LGA) was to review their model code of conduct. The LGA have undertaken this
review, holding an event on Civility in Public Life with a range of stakeholders at the
end 2019 and three consultation workshops at the beginning of 2020. Their
consultants also examined examples of good practice, both in local government
and other professions. The result of this initial work is a consultation on a draft
model code of conduct attached at Appendix 2. The LGA also intend to create
additional guidance, working examples and explanatory text to go alongside the
model code.

1.7

Consultation on the code runs until 17 August and consultees are asked to respond
by completing the questionnaire attached Appendix 3. Members are advised that
the LGA would particularly like to know if the model code stands up to the new
ways of working that have been introduced and gives enough of a steer on social
media and online activity. The Committee is therefore invited to consider and
comment on the model code and authorise the Service Director Legal and
Democratic Services to submit a final response in consultation with the Chairman of
the Committee.

Other options considered
1.8

Where other options are open to the Committee these have already been covered
in the commentary above.

Legal and financial implications
1.9

The best practise recommendations made by the CSPL do not have the status of
statutory guidance but should be considered by the Council when developing and
reviewing its current standards procedures. Apart from officer time there are other
legal or financial implications arising directly from bringing forward further reports
on best practise or to submitting a response to the LGA consultation on their model
code of conduct.

Corporate implications
1.10

There are no direct links to the Council’s main policy objectives. But the Council has a duty
under the Localism Act 2011 to promote and maintain high standards of conduct by its
members. Ensuring that the Council adopts best practise and that all members understand

Page 66

their obligations under the Council’s code of conduct is a matter of good governance and is
important in preserving the confidence of local communities.

Next steps and review
Any reports requested on best practice will be added to the Committee’s work programme.
A formal response to the LGA consultation on the model code of conduct will be drafted and
shared with the Chairman of the Committee for agreement before formal submission.

Background papers
Local Government Ethical Standards: A review by the Committee on Standards in
Public Life January 2019
Local Government Association Consultation on Model Member Code of Conduct
June 2020

Page 67

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix

Page 69

Page 70

Page 71

Page 72

Page 73

Page 74

Page 75

Page 76

Page 77

Page 78

Page 79

Page 80

Appendix

Local
Government
Association
Model Member
Code of Conduct
Introduction
The Local Government Association (LGA) is providing this Model Member Code of Conduct as
part of its work on supporting the sector to continue to aspire to high standards of leadership

ConsultationLocal Government Association Model Member Code of Conduct – consultation draft
Page 81

1

and performance.
The role of councillor in all tiers of local government is a vital part of our country’s system of
democracy. In voting for a local councillor, the public is imbuing that person and position with
their trust. As such, it is important that as councillors we can be held accountable and all adopt
the behaviours and responsibilities associated with the role. The conduct of an individual
councillor affects the reputation of all councillors. We want the role of councillor to be one that
people aspire to and want to participate with. We want to continue to attract individuals from a
range of backgrounds and circumstances who understand the responsibility they take on and
are motivated to make a positive difference to their local communities.
All councils are required to have a local Member Code of Conduct. This Model Member Code of
Conduct has been developed in consultation with the sector and is offered as a template for
councils to adopt in whole and/or with local amendments. The LGA will undertake an annual
review of the Code to ensure it continues to be fit-for-purpose, particularly with respect to
advances in technology, social media and any relevant changes in legislation. The LGA can
also offer support, training and mediation to councils and councillors on the application of the
Code, whilst the National Association of Local Councils (NALC) and the county associations of
local councils can offer advice and support to town and parish councils.
As a councillor we all represent local residents, work to develop better services and deliver
local change. The public have high expectations of us and entrust us to represent everyone (in
our ward/town/parish), taking decisions fairly, openly, transparently and with civility. Councillors
should also be treated with civility by members of the public, other councillors and council
employees. Members have both individual and collective responsibility to maintain these
standards, support expected behaviour and challenge behaviour which falls below
expectations. This Code, therefore, has been designed to protect our democratic role,
encourage good conduct and safeguard the public’s trust in local government.

Councillor Nick Forbes CBE
Leader, LGA Labour Group

Councillor Izzi Seccombe OBE
Leader, LGA Conservative Group

Councillor Howard Sykes MBE
Councillor Marianne Overton MBE Leader, LGA
Liberal Democrats Group
Leader, LGA independent Group

Purpose
The purpose of this Code of Conduct is to
assist councillors in modelling the behaviour
that is expected of them, to provide a
personal check and balance, and to set out
the type of conduct against which appropriate
action may be taken. It is also to protect
yourself, the public, fellow councillors, council

Page 82

officers and the reputation of local
government. It sets out the conduct expected
of all members and a minimum set of
obligations relating to conduct. The
overarching aim is to create and maintain
public confidence in the role of member and
local government.

Application of the Code

• not improperly seek to confer an
advantage, or disadvantage, on any person

The Code of Conduct applies to you when you
are acting [or claiming or giving the
impression that you are acting]1 in [public or
in]2 your capacity as a member or
representative of your council, although you
are expected to uphold high standards of
conduct and show leadership at all times. The
Code applies to all forms of member
communication and interaction, including
written, verbal, non-verbal, electronic and via
social media, [including where you could be
deemed to be representing your council or if
there are potential implications for the
council’s reputation.] Model conduct and
expectations is for guidance only, whereas
the specific obligations set out instances
where action will be taken.

• avoid conflicts of interest

The seven principles
of public life

• exercise reasonable care and diligence;
and
• ensure that public resources are used
prudently and in the public interest

Specific obligations of
general conduct
This section sets out the minimum
requirements of member conduct. Guidance
is included to help explain the reasons for the
obligations and how they should be followed.
These obligations must be observed in all
situations where you act [or claim or give the
impression that you are acting] as a councillor
[or in public], including representing your
council on official business and when using
social media.

Everyone in public office at all levels –
ministers, civil servants, members, council
officers – all who serve the public or deliver
public services should uphold the seven
principles of public life. This Code has been
developed in line with these seven principles
of public life, which are set out in appendix A.

Model member conduct
In accordance with the public trust placed in
me, on all occasions I will:
• act with integrity and honesty
• act lawfully
• treat all persons with civility; and
• lead by example and act in a way that
secures public confidence in the office of
councillor
In undertaking my role, I will:
• impartially exercise my responsibilities in
the interests of the local community

Local Government Association Model Member Code of Conduct – consultation draft

Page 83

3

As a councillor I commit to:

Civility
1. Treating other councillors and members of
the public with civility.
2. Treating council employees, employees and
representatives of partner organisations
and those volunteering for the councils
with civility and respecting the role that
they play.
Civility means politeness and courtesy in
behaviour, speech, and in the written word.
Debate and having different views are all part of a
healthy democracy. As a councillor you can
express, challenge, criticise and disagree with
views, ideas, opinions and policies in a civil
manner. You should not subject individuals,
groups of people or organisations to unreasonable
or excessive personal attack.
In your contact with the public you should treat
them courteously. Rude and offensive behaviour
lowers the public’s expectations and confidence in
its elected representatives.
In return you have a right to expect courtesy from
the public. If members of the public are being
abusive, threatening or intimidatory you are
entitled to close down any conversation in person
or online, refer them to the council, any social
media provider or if necessary, the police. This
also applies to members, where action could then
be taken under the Member Code of Conduct.

Bullying and harassment

The Equality Act 2010 defines
harassment as ‘unwanted conduct
related to a relevant protected
characteristic, which has the purpose or
effect of violating an individual’s dignity
or creating an intimidating, hostile,
degrading, humiliating or offensive
environment for that individual’. The
relevant protected characteristics are
age, disability, gender reassignment,
race, religion or belief, sex, and sexual
orientation.

Impartiality of
officers of the
council
4. Not compromising, or attempting to
compromise, the impartiality of
anyone who works for, or on behalf of,
the council.
Officers work for the council as a whole
and must be politically neutral (unless
they are political assistants). They should
not be coerced or persuaded to act in a
way that would undermine their neutrality.
Although you can question officers in
order to understand, for example, their
reasons for proposing to act in a particular
way, or the content of a report that they
have written, you must not try and force
them to act differently, change their
advice, or alter the content of that report, if
doing so would prejudice their
professional integrity.

3. Not bullying or harassing any person.
Bullying may be characterised as offensive,
intimidating, malicious or insulting behaviour, an
abuse or misuse of power through means that
undermine, humiliate, denigrate or injure the
recipient. The bullying might be a regular pattern
of behaviour or a one-off incident, happen face-toface, on social media, in emails or phone calls,
happen in the workplace or at work social events
and not always be obvious or noticed by others.

4

Confidentiality and
access to information
5. Not disclosing information given
to me in confidence or disclosing
information acquired by me
which I believe is of a
confidential nature, unless I have

Local Government Association Model Member Code of Conduct – consultation draft

Page 84

received the consent of a person
authorised to give it or I am
required by law to do so.

Use of council resources
and facilities

6. Not preventing anyone getting
information that they are entitled
to by law.

9. Not misusing council resources.
You may be provided with resources and
facilities by the council to assist you in
carrying out your duties as a councillor.
Examples include office support,
stationery and equipment such as
phones, and computers and transport.
These are given to you to help you carry
out your role as a councillor more
effectively and not to benefit you
personally.

Local authorities must work openly and
transparently, and their proceedings and printed
materials are open to the public except in certain
circumstances. You should work on this basis but
there will be times when it is required by law that
discussions, documents and other information
relating to or held by the council are treated in a
confidential manner. Examples include personal
data relating to individuals or information relating
to ongoing negotiations.

Interests

Disrepute

10. Registering and declaring my interests.

7. Not bringing my role or council
into disrepute.
Behaviour that is considered dishonest
and/or deceitful can bring your council
into disrepute. As a member you have
been entrusted to make decisions on
behalf of your community and your
actions and behaviour are subject to
greater scrutiny than that of ordinary
members of the public. You should be
aware that your actions might have an
adverse impact on other councillors
and/or your council.

Your position
8. Not using, or attempting to use,
my position improperly to the
advantage or disadvantage of
myself or anyone else.
Your position as a member of the
council provides you with certain
opportunities, responsibilities and
privileges. However, you should not
take advantage of these opportunities
to further private interests.

You need to register your interests so that the
public, council employees and fellow members
know which of your interests might give rise to a
conflict of interest. The register is a document that
can be consulted when (or before) an issue
arises, and so allows others to know what
interests you have, and whether they might give
rise to a possible conflict of interest. The register
also protects you. You are responsible for
deciding whether or not you should declare an
interest in a meeting, but it can be helpful for you
to know early on if others think that a potential
conflict might arise.
It is also important that the public know about any
interest that might have to be declared by you or
other members, so that decision making is seen
by the public as open and honest. This helps to
ensure that public confidence in the integrity of
local governance is maintained. Discuss the
registering and declaration of interests with your
Monitoring Officer/Town or Parish Clerk and more
detail is set out in appendix B.

Gifts and hospitality
11. Not accepting significant gifts or hospitality
from persons seeking to acquire, develop

Local Government Association Model Member Code of Conduct – consultation draft

Page 85

5

or do business with the council or from
persons who may apply to the council for
any permission, licence or other significant
advantage.
12. Registering with the monitoring officer any
gift or hospitality with an estimated value of
at least £25 within 28 days of its receipt.
You should exercise caution in accepting any gifts
or hospitality which are (or which you reasonably
believe to be) offered to you because you are a
member. However, you do not need to register
gifts and hospitality which are not related to your
role as a member, such as Christmas gifts from
your friends and family, or gifts which you do not
accept. However, you may wish to notify your
monitoring officer of any significant gifts you are
offered but refuse which you think may have been
offered to influence you.

voting, when prevented from doing so by a conflict
caused by disclosable pecuniary interests, is also
a criminal offence.
Political parties may have its own internal
standards and resolution procedures in addition to
the Member Code of Conduct that members
should be aware of.
Note – items in square brackets [x] refer to
recommendations made by the Committee on
Standards in Public Life and may be part of a
future Government consultation. This includes
possible future sanctions and appeals
processes.

Breaches of the Code of
Conduct
Most councillors conduct themselves
appropriately and in accordance with these
standards. Members have both individual and
collective responsibility to maintain these
standards, support expected behaviour and
challenge behaviour which falls below
expectations.
Section 27 of the Localism Act 2011 requires
relevant authorities to promote and maintain high
standards of conduct by members and co-opted
members of the authority. Each local authority
must publish a code of conduct, and it must cover
the registration of pecuniary interests, the role of
an ‘independent person’ to advise on and
investigate alleged breaches, and sanctions to be
imposed on any councillors who breach the Code.
The 2011 Act also requires local authorities to
have mechanisms in place to investigate
allegations that a member has not complied with
the Code of Conduct, and arrangements under
which decisions on allegation may be made.
Failure to comply with the requirements to register
or declare disclosable pecuniary interests is a
criminal offence. Taking part in a meeting or

6

Local Government Association Model Member Code of Conduct – consultation draft

Page 86

Example LGA
guidance and
recommendations
Internal resolution
procedure
Councils should have in place an internal
resolution procedure to address conduct
that is in breach of the Member Code of
Conduct. The internal resolution process
should make it clear how allegations of
breaches of the Code of Conduct are to
be handled, including the role of an
Independent Person, the appeals
process and can also include a local
standards committee. The internal
resolution procedure should be
proportionate, allow for members to
appeal allegations and decisions, and
allow for an escalating scale of
intervention. The procedure should be
voted on by the council as a whole.

7.

w

here of
a
serious
nature,
a bar
on
chairing
advisor
y or
special committees for up to two
months
8. where of a serious nature, a bar on
attending committees for up to two
months.

Where serious misconduct affects an employee, a
member may be barred from
contact with that individual; or if it relates to a
specific responsibility of the council, barred from
participating in decisions or information relating to
that responsibility.

In the case of a non-criminal breach of
the Code, the following escalating
approach can be undertaken.
If the breach is confirmed and of a
serious nature, action can be
automatically escalated.
1. an informal discussion with the
monitoring officer or appropriate
senior officer
2. an informal opportunity to speak with
the affected party/ies
3. a written apology
4. mediation
5. peer support
6. requirement to attend relevant
training

Local Government Association Model Member Code of Conduct – consultation draft

Page 87

7

Endnotes
1.

CSPL recommend that “Section 27(2) of the
Localism Act 2011 should be amended to
state that a local authority’s code of conduct
applies to a member when they claim to act,
or give the impression they are acting, in their
capacity as a member or as a representative
of the local authority”.

2.

CSPL recommend that “councillors should be
presumed to be acting in an official capacity
in their public conduct, including statements
on publicly accessible social media. Section
27(2) of the Localism Act 2011 should be
amended to permit local authorities to
presume so when deciding upon code of
conduct breaches.”

3.

Subject to footnotes 1 and 2 above

4.

See CSPL website for further details
www.gov.uk/government/news/theprinciplesof-public-life-25-years

5.

ACAS’s definition of bullying

8

Local Government Association Model Member Code of Conduct – consultation draft

Page 88

Holders of public office should exhibit
these principles in their own behaviour.
They should actively promote and
robustly support the principles and be
willing to challenge poor behaviour
wherever it occurs.

Appendices

Code Appendix B
Code Appendix A
The principles are :
Selflessness
Holders of public office should act
solely in terms of the public interest.
Integrity
Holders of public office must avoid
placing themselves under any obligation
to people or organisations that might try
inappropriately to influence them in their
work. They should not act or take
decisions in order to gain financial or
other material benefits for themselves,
their family, or their friends. They must
declare and resolve any interests and
relationships.
Objectivity
Holders of public office must act and take
decisions impartially, fairly and on merit,
using the best evidence and without
discrimination or bias.
Accountability
Holders of public office are accountable
to the public for their decisions and
actions and must submit themselves to
the scrutiny necessary to ensure this.
Openness
Holders of public office should act and
take decisions in an open and
transparent manner. Information should
not be withheld from the public unless
there are clear and lawful reasons for so
doing. Honesty
Holders of public office should be
truthful.
Leadership

Registering interests
1. Within 28 days of this Code of Conduct being
adopted by the council or your election or
appointment to office (where that is later) you
must register with the Monitoring Officer the
interests which fall within the categories set
out in Table 1 (Disclosable Pecuniary
Interests) and Table 2 (Other Registerable
Interests).
2. You must ensure that your register of interests
is kept up-to-date and within 28 days of
becoming aware of any new interest in Table
1 or 2, or of any change to a registered
interest, notify the Monitoring Officer.
Declaring interests
3. Where a matter arises at a meeting which
directly relates to an interest in Table 1, you
must declare the interest, not participate in
any discussion or vote on the matter and must
not remain in the room unless granted a
dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you
do not have to declare the nature of the
interest.
4. Where a matter arises at a meeting which
directly relates to an interest in Table 2, you
must declare the interest. You may speak on
the matter only if members of the public are
also allowed to speak at the meeting but
otherwise must not take part in any discussion
or vote on the matter and must not remain in
the room unless you have been granted a
dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you
do not have to declare the nature of the
interest.
5. Where a matter arises at a meeting which
directly relates to your financial interest or
well-being (and is not a Disclosable Pecuniary
Interest) or a financial interest or well-being of
a relative or close associate, you must declare
the interest. You may speak on the matter
only if members of the public are also allowed

Local Government Association Model Member Code of Conduct – consultation draft

Page 89

9

to speak at the meeting but otherwise must
not take part in any discussion or vote on the
matter and must not remain in the room
unless you have been granted a dispensation.
If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to
declare the nature of the interest.
6. Where a matter arises at a meeting which
affects –
a. your own financial interest or well-being;
b. a financial interest or well-being of a friend,
relative, close associate; or
c. a body covered by table 1 below
you must disclose the interest.

7. Where the matter affects the financial interest
or well-being to a greater extent than it affects
the financial interests of the majority of
inhabitants of the ward affected by the
decision and a reasonable member of the
public knowing all the facts would believe that
it would affect your view of the wider public
interest you must declare the interest. You
may speak on the matter only if members of
the public are also allowed to speak at the
meeting but otherwise must not take part in
any discussion or vote on the matter and must
not remain in the room unless you have been
granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive
interest’, you do not have to declare the
nature of the interest.

Table 1: Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
Subject

Description

Employment, office,
trade, profession or
vocation

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or
gain.

Sponsorship

Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the
council) made to the councillor during the previous 12-month period for
expenses incurred by him/her in carrying out his/her duties as a councillor, or
towards his/her election expenses.

[Any unpaid directorship.]

This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade union within the
meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act
1992.
Contracts

Any contract made between the councillor or his/her spouse or civil partner
or the person with whom the councillor is living as if they were spouses/civil
partners (or a firm in which such person is a partner, or an incorporated body
of which such person is a director* or a body that such person has a
beneficial interest in the securities of*) and the council —
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be
executed; and
(b) which has not been fully discharged.

Land and Property

Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the council.
‘Land’ excludes an easement, servitude, interest or right in or over land
which does not give the councillor or his/her spouse or civil partner or the
person with whom the councillor is living as if they were spouses/ civil
partners (alone or jointly with another) a right to occupy or to receive
income.

Licences

Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of the
council for a month or longer.

Corporate tenancies

Any tenancy where (to the councillor’s knowledge)—
(a) the landlord is the council; and

10

Local Government Association Model Member Code of Conduct – consultation draft

Page 90

(b) the tenant is a body that the councillor, or his/her spouse or civil partner
or the person with whom the councillor is living as if they were spouses/ civil
partners is a partner of or a director* of or has a beneficial interest in the
securities* of.
Securities

Any beneficial interest in securities* of a body where—
(a) that body (to the councillor’s knowledge) has a place of business or land
in the area of the council; and
(b) either—
(i) the total nominal value of the securities* exceeds £25,000 or one
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the councillor, or his/
her spouse or civil partner or the person with whom the councillor is living as
if they were spouses/civil partners has a beneficial interest exceeds one
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class.

*’director’ includes a member of the committee of management of an industrial and provident
society.
*’securities’ means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a
collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets Act
2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited with a building
society.
Table 2: Other Registerable Interests
Any Body of which you are a member or in a position of general control or management and to
which you are appointed or nominated by the council;
Any Body—

(a) exercising functions of a public nature;
(b) directed to charitable purposes; or
(c) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public
opinion or policy (including any political party or trade union)

of which you are a member or in a position of general control or management.

Local Government Association Model Member Code of Conduct – consultation draft
11

Page 91

Page 92

Local Government Association
18 Smith Square
London SW1P 3HZ
Telephone 020 7664 3000
Fax 020 7664 3030
Email info@local.gov.uk
www.local.gov.uk

© Local Government Association, May 2020

For a copy in Braille, larger print or audio,
please contact us on 020 7664 3000. We
consider requests on an individual basis.
REF 11.197

Page 93

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix
THIS FORM IS FOR INFORMATION ONLY - DO NOT COMPLETE
PLEASE USE THE ONLINE SURVEY FORM TO SUBMIT YOUR RESPONSE

LGA Consultation on Draft Model Member Code of Conduct
Thank you for taking the time to complete this consultation. This Model Member Code of
Conduct [Model Member Code of Conduct.pdf] aims to be concise, written in plain English and
be understandable to members, officers and the public. The Model Member Code is designed to
aid members in all tiers of local government model the behaviours and high standards that
anyone would expect from a person holding public office. Equally, it articulates behaviour which
falls below the standards that would be expected of council members. It is designed to help set
a framework for public and councillor interaction, emphasising the importance of civility and that
councillors should be protected from bullying, intimidation and abuse.
The LGA has reviewed the existing Model Member Code of Conduct and updated it here
incorporating the recommendations from the Committee on Standard’s in Public Life’s
recommendations on Local Government Ethical Standards and the representation from its
membership. Part of the Committee’s recommendations were the introduction of sanctions for
breaches of the code, alongside an appeals process. This aspect is out of scope of this
consultation, as it requires legislative changes by Government, but the LGA has sought to
reflect some of the possible changes by using square brackets where legal changes would be
necessary. The LGA is continuing to take soundings from the sector on the issue of sanctions in
anticipation of a Government response to the Committee’s recommendations.
This consultation addresses key areas that the LGA would like a view on to help finalise the
Code. It is aimed at councillors and officers from all tiers of local government. If you would like a
wider discussion about the code, please do sign up to one of the forthcoming Webinars the LGA
are holding as part of this consultation. Details will be posted on our LGA events website.
Instructions and privacy notice
You can navigate through the questions using the buttons at the bottom of each page. Use the
'previous' button at the bottom of the page if you wish to amend your response to an earlier
question.
All responses will be treated confidentially. Information will be aggregated, and no individual or
authority will be identified in any publications without your consent. Identifiable information may
be used internally within the LGA but will only be held and processed in accordance with
our privacy policy. We are undertaking this consultation to aid the legitimate interests of the LGA
in supporting and representing authorities.
Please complete your response in one go - if you exit before submitting your response your
answers may be lost. If you would like to see an overview of the questions before completing
the consultation online, you can access a PDF here.

Page 95

About you

Your name ________________________________________________________________

Are you...

o A councillor
o An officer
o Answering on behalf of a whole council (Please provide council name below)
________________________________________________

o Other (please specify below)
________________________________________________

Please indicate your council type

o Community/Neighbourhood/Parish/Town
o District/Borough
o County
o Metropolitan/Unitary/London Borough
o Other (please specify below)
________________________________________________

Application of the Code
Under the Localism Act 2012, the Code of Conduct applies to councillors only when they are
acting in their capacity as a member. The LGA believes that because councillors are elected by
the public and widely recognised by the public, it makes sense for them to continue to model
these behaviours when they are making public comment, are identifying as a councillor and
when it would be reasonable for the public to identify them as acting or speaking as a councillor.
The Committee on Standards in Public Life supported this approach in their report into Local
Government Ethical Standards. Whilst the LGA is waiting for Government’s response to these
recommendations the option has been added in square brackets as it would need changes in
legislation.

Page 96

Q1. To what extent do you support the proposal that councillors demonstrate the
behaviours set out in the Code when they are publicly acting as, identifying as, and/or
giving the impression that they are acting as a councillor, including when representing
their council on official business and when using social media?

o To a great extent
o To a moderate extent
o To a small extent
o Not at all
o Don't know/prefer not to say
Q1a. If you would like to elaborate on your answer please do so here:
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________

Q2. Is it sufficiently clear which parts of the Model Code are legal requirements, which
are obligations, and which are guidance?

o Yes
o No
o Don't know
Q3. Do you prefer the use of the personal tense, as used in the Code, or would you prefer
the passive tense?

o Personal tense (“I will”)
o Passive tense (“Councillors should”)
o No preference
Specific obligations
The Code lists 12 specific obligations – these set out a minimum standard councillors are asked
to adhere to.

Page 97

Each obligation or group of obligations is put into a wider context to explain why that particular
obligation is important.
Q4. To what extent to you support the 12 specific obligations?
To a great
extent

To a
moderate
extent

1. Treating other councillors and
members of the public with
civility.
2. Treating council employees,
employees and representatives
of partner organisations and
those volunteering for the
councils with civility and
respecting the role that they
play.
3. Not bullying or harassing any
person.
4. Not compromising, or
attempting to compromise, the
impartiality of anyone who
works for, or on behalf of, the
council.
5. Not disclosing information
given to me in confidence or
disclosing information acquired
by me which I believe is of a
confidential nature, unless I
have received the consent of a
person authorised to give it or I
am required by law to do so.
6. Not preventing anyone
getting information that they are
entitled to by law.
7. Not bringing my role or
council into disrepute.
8. Not using, or attempting to
use, my position improperly to
the advantage or disadvantage
of myself or anyone else.

Page 98

To a small
extent

Not at all

Don't know
/ Prefer not
to say

9. Not misusing council
resources.
10. Registering and declaring
my interests.
11. Not accepting significant
gifts or hospitality from persons
seeking to acquire, develop or
do business with the council or
from persons who may apply to
the council for any permission,
licence or other significant
advantage.
12. Registering with the
monitoring officer any gift or
hospitality with an estimated
value of at least £25 within 28
days of its receipt.

Q5. If you would like to propose additional or alternative obligations, or would like to
provide more comment on a specific obligation, please do so here:
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________

Q6. Would you prefer to see the obligations as a long list followed by the guidance, or as
it is set out in the current draft, with the guidance after each obligation?

o As a list
o Each specific obligation followed by its relevant guidance
o No preference

Page 99

Q7. To what extent to you think the concept of ‘acting with civility’ is sufficiently clear?

o To a great extent
o To a moderate extent
o To a small extent
o Not at all
o Don't know/prefer not to say
Q7a. If you would like to suggest an alternative phrase that captures the same meaning,
or would like to provide a comment on this concept, please do so here:
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________

Q8. To what extent do you think the concept of ‘bringing the council into disrepute’ is
sufficiently clear?

o To a great extent
o To a moderate extent
o To a small extent
o Not at all
o Don't know/prefer not to say
Q8a. If you would like to suggest an alternative phrase that captures the same meaning,
or would like to provide a comment on this concept, please do so here:
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________

Page 100

Q9. To what extent do you support the definition of bullying and harassment used in the
code in a local government context?

o To a great extent
o To a moderate extent
o To a small extent
o Not at all
o Don't know/prefer not to say
Q9a. If there are other definitions you would like to recommend, please provide them
here.
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________

Q10. Is there sufficient reference to the use of social media?

o Yes
o No
o Don't know/prefer not to say
Q10a. Should social media be covered in a separate code or integrated into the overall
code of conduct?

o Separate code
o Integrated into the code
o Don't know/prefer not to say
Q10b. If you would like to make any comments or suggestions in relation to how the use
of social media is covered in the code please do so here:
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________

Page 101

Registration and declarations of interests
The law at present requires, as a minimum, registration and declaration of ‘Disclosable
Pecuniary Interests’ - that is matters which directly relate to the councillor and their partner if
applicable.
The LGA is proposing that all councillors are required to declare interests where matters also
relate to or affect other family members or associates. The LGA has broadened the requirement
to declare interests beyond this current statutory minimum in line with a recommendation from
the Committee on Standards in Public Life. These specific provisions are set out in Appendix
B of the Code.

Q11. To what extent to you support the code going beyond the current requirement to
declare interests of the councillor and their partner?

o To a great extent
o To a moderate extent
o To a small extent
o Not at all
o Don't know/prefer not to say
Q11a. If you would like to elaborate on your answer please do so here:
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________

Q12. Should the requirement to declare interests be in the main body of the code or in
the appendix where the draft model code currently references it?

o In the main body of the code
o In the appendix
o Other (please specify below)
o Don't know/prefer not to say

Page 102

Q12a. If you would like to make any comments or suggestions in relation to how the
requirement to declare interests is covered in the code please do so here:
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________

It is also suggested that more outside interests should be registered than is the current statutory
minimum. These are set out in Table 2 of the Appendix and are designed to demonstrate to
the community transparency about other bodies with which the councillor is engaged.
Q13. To what extent do you support the inclusion of these additional categories for
registration?
To a
great
extent

To a
moderate
extent

To a
small
extent

Not at
all

Don't know
/ Prefer not
to say

Any organisation, association, society
or party of which you are a member or
in a position of general control or
management and to which you are
appointed or nominated by the council
Any organisation, association, society
or party that exercises functions of a
public nature of which you are a
member or in a position of general
control or management
Any organisation, association, society
or party directed to charitable purposes
Any organisation, association, society
or party of whose principal purposes
includes the influence of public opinion
or policy (including any political party or
trade union)

Q13a. If you would like to propose additional or alternative categories for registration, please
provide them here:
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________

Page 103

Q14. To what extent to you support the proposed requirement that councillors do not
accept significant gifts as set out in Obligation 11?

o To a great extent
o To a moderate extent
o To a small extent
o Not at all
o Don't know/prefer not to say
Q14a. If you would like to elaborate on your answer please do so here:
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________

Q15. The draft code proposes £25 as the threshold for registering gifts and hospitality. Is
this an appropriate threshold?

o Yes
o Yes, but the amount should be reviewed annually with the code’s review
o No, it should be lower (please specify amount) ____________________
o No, it should be higher (please specify amount) ___________________
o Don't know/prefer not to say
Q16. The LGA will be producing accompanying guidance to the code. Which of the
following types of guidance would you find most useful? Please rank 1-5, with 1 being
the most useful.
______ Regularly updated examples of case law
______ Explanatory guidance on the code
______ Case studies and examples of good practice
______ Supplementary guidance that focuses on specific areas, e.g., social media
______ Improvement support materials, such as training and e-learning packages

Page 104

Q16a. If you would like to suggest any other accompanying guidance please do so here:
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________

Q17. If you would like to make any further comments about the code please so here:
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________

Once you press the 'Submit' button below, you will have completed your response.
Many thanks for taking the time to respond to this consultation. You are in control of any
personal data that you have provided to us in your response. You can contact us at all times to
have your information changed or deleted. You can find our full privacy policy here: click here to
see our privacy policy

Page 105

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8

Report to Standards and General Purposes
Committee
Date: 2 July 2020
Title: Local Government Boundary Commission for England – Electoral Review of
Buckinghamshire Council
Author and/or contact officer:
Ward(s) affected: All
Recommendations:
The Committee is asked: 1. To note the Local Government Boundary Commission for England’s (LGBCE)
indication that it is proposed to undertake an Electoral Review of Buckinghamshire
2. To authorise the Monitoring Officer to agree the proposed timetable for the
Review process with the LGBCE
3. To establish a Member working group to oversee the work of officers in the
preparation of the statistical and other information required by the LGBCE and to
approve the Terms of Reference for that working group (at Appendix 1)
4. To authorise officers, in consultation with the working group, to develop a
communication and engagement plan for Members, Parish Councils, residents and
other stakeholders to maximise participation in the Electoral Review
5. To authorise the Monitoring Officer, in consultation with the working group, to
prepare the necessary submissions to the LGBCE for consideration and approval by
the Standards & General Purpose Committee
6. To defer the consideration of the decision for the Community Governance Reviews
for High Wycombe and Longwick-cum-Ilmer until the completion of the Electoral
Review or until such time as the LGBCE consider it appropriate, whichever the
sooner

Page 107

7. To consider any future Community Governance Review requests in accordance
with the LGBCE advice that Community Governance Reviews should only be
approved in very exceptional circumstances during the period of the Electoral
Review
Reason for decision: To ensure the Council has the appropriate governance in place to
prepare and submit the necessary statistical and other information to enable the LGBCE to
conduct the Review and to facilitate the participation of Members, Parish Councils,
residents and other stakeholders in the Review in accordance with the LGBCE’s guidance.

Background
1.1. With the establishment of the new unitary Council the Local Government Boundary
Commission for England (LGBCE) has indicated that it intends to conduct an
electoral review of Buckinghamshire Council.
1.2. Preliminary discussions have taken place with the Chairman and Chief Executive of
the LGBCE to understand the arrangements for such a review. Through these
discussions, it has been established that:
• the model of 147 members will remain in place for the 2021 elections, with the
wards based on the former county council divisional boundaries;
• The electoral review will examine Buckinghamshire Council’s electoral
arrangements and cover the following areas:
• the total number of members to be elected to the Council;
• the number and boundaries of future electoral divisions;
• the number of councillors representing each electoral division; and
• the name of each electoral division.
• The outcome of the Electoral Review will take effect from the 2025 elections
1.3. A principal aim of the review is to deliver electoral equality across the local
authority area by ensuring that all councillors represent a similar number of voters.
1.4. The Commission has published detailed technical guidance for those who wish to
participate in the review.
1.5. The LGBCE is required by law to be impartial, with its decisions based on evidence
and reason. The representations of all those taking part in the review are treated
equally and without bias.

Timescales

Page 108

1.6. The LGBCE have indicated that any changes will not come into effect until the 2025
Buckinghamshire Council elections but the precise timeframe for the stages of the
Reviews is yet to be confirmed. The table in paragraph 1.8 gives an indication of the
timescales the LGBCE normally works to when conducting Reviews.
1.7. The following table is an extract from the LGBCE’s Technical Guidance.

1.8. The Standards & General Purpose Committee has delegated authority under its
terms of reference to deal with election arrangements, however, the LGBCE’s
guidance makes clear that the Council will need to prepare extensive information
for consideration by the LGBCE and facilitate the involvement of all relevant
stakeholders. It is therefore suggested that the Committee establishes a Member
working group who can oversee the preparation of the relevant information and a
communication and engagement plan. The draft terms of reference for the
Member working group is attached at Appendix 1.
1.9. The submission of the relevant information required by the LGBCE will be approved
by the Standards & General Purposes Committee.

Page 109

Implications for Parish Councils
1.10.The role of the LGBCE in the creation, abolition or amendments to the external
boundaries of Parish Councils is limited. The LGBCE Technical Guidance indicates
that Parish Councils are crucial in the work of the LGBCE in conducting a review and
it is important that Parish Councils’ involvement in the Electoral Review is actively
encouraged.
1.11.However, the Guidance goes on to state that:
‘Very exceptionally, it may be appropriate for a local authority to undertake
community governance review at the same time as an electoral review of the area is
being conducted. However, this can cause administrative difficulties for us and
confusion for the local people affected, and any authority contemplating this
approach is strongly advised to discuss this with us in advance.’
1.12.On the 7 January 2020 the Shadow Authority for Buckinghamshire considered a
Community Governance Review for High Wycombe and decided to defer the
decision until the establishment of the new Unitary authority, acknowledging that
further consultation may well be necessary.
1.13.In discussion with the LGBCE, they have given strong advice that the Council should
wait until the Electoral review has been completed before conducting any
community governance reviews. The reason for this is that the LGBCE will need to
ensure that the boundaries of parish wards and unitary council wards are
coterminous. If the Council completed a Community Governance Review and
decided parish wards in advance of the Electoral Review, it is likely that they would
need to change again. Waiting for the outcome of the Electoral Review and having
certainty about the boundaries of the new unitary wards would be the best way of
ensuring that any CGR outcomes are sustainable in the longer term.
1.14. In the light of the LGBCE’s Guidance, it is recommended that the decision on the
Community Governance review for High Wycombe is postponed until after the
Electoral Review or until such time as the LGBCE consider it appropriate.
1.15.Longwick-cum-Ilmer Parish Council have also requested a Community Governance
Review to seek to increase the number of councillors from 7 to 9 to reflect the
increase in housing and population. Again, the reasons outlined 1.13 – 1.14 as they
pertain to the establishment of a new parish council apply to the increase in
numbers of Councillors. It is not considered that the proposal for this Community
Governance Review meets the test as advised by LGBCE and it is recommended that
a decision on commencing this Community Governance Review is deferred until the
outcome of the Electoral Review.

Page 110

1.16.Should further requests for Community Governance Reviews be received the
Committee are advised that they should be considered in the light of the LGBCE
advice that such reviews would ordinarily be deferred and should only be acceded
to in very exceptional circumstances.

Other options considered
2. Consideration has been given to the Standards & General Purpose Committee
undertaking the work proposed to be undertaken by the Member working group, but
given the volume of work it is considered a working group would be an expedient way
Members could be involved in the development of those proposals designed to facilitate
the Review.

Legal and financial implications
3. The proposed electoral review is a statutory process instigated by the LGBCE and driven
by their timetable and requirements. The Council has no choice but to support and
provide a significant amount of information for the review to ensure that the outcomes
are in the best interests of the people of Buckinghamshire.
4. The governance arrangements the Council puts in place to enable it to respond to the
review and discharge its responsibilities is a matter for the Council.
5. There will be some resource implications relating to officer time to prepare the
necessary statistical and other information and develop and implement a
communication and engagement strategy. A full project plan will be created which will
identify the officer time necessary to assist in the Review

Corporate implications
6. The Electoral review will impact on all Councillors and all communities within
Buckinghamshire. To maximise participation for Councillors, residents and all relevant
stakeholder group it will be important to ensure a thorough consultation exercise is
undertaken.

Next steps and review
7. If approved, the work of the Member working group will need to be incorporated into
the Committee’s work programme to ensure regular consideration of the progress of the
Review in line with the timescales confirmed by the LGBCE is undertaken.

Page 111

Background papers
•

Technical Guidance

•

High Wycombe Community Governance review Report and Appendices

•

Decision of the Shadow Authority 7 January 2020

Page 112

Appendix

Draft Terms of Reference for the Member Working Group for the Electoral Review
Composition
1.The Working Group shall comprise 5 Members from each of the which will be politically
proportionate.
Scope
2. The Working Group is established to oversee and ensure full Member involvement in and
support to officers in progressing the review of Council size and the unitary division
boundaries in Buckinghamshire by the Local Government Boundary Commission for England
(LGBCE).
Procedures
3. The Council Procedure Rules will apply to meetings of the Working Group insofar as is
necessary to ensure the effective and efficient discharge of the functions of the Working
Group, as they apply to Committees and Sub-Committees.
4. The Working Group will appoint a Chairman and Vice-Chairman from amongst its
membership.
5. The Working Group has no substantive decision-making powers but will make
recommendations to Standards & General Purpose Committee in respect of each stage of
the Electoral Review.
6. To the extent feasible within the timescale, the Working Group will consult the Standards
& General Purpose Committee in respect of its work and recommendations.
Functions
7. To provide support in the provision of information required by the LGBCE
8. To review representations made in relation to the Electoral Review to inform
recommendations to be made to the Council.
9. To formulate draft recommendations to the Local Government Boundary Commission for
consideration by the Standards & General Purpose Committee relating to: (i) the total
number of Members of the Council (ii) the number and boundaries of electoral divisions for
the purposes of the election of Councillors; (iii) the number of Councillors to be returned by
any electoral division; and (iv) the name of any electoral area.
10. To provide such further advice and support as may be requested by Members related to
or impacted upon by the Electoral Review.

Page 113

Quorum
11. The quorum shall be three Members.

Page 114

Appendix

Electoral reviews
Technical guidance
April 2014

Page 115

Translations and other formats
For information on obtaining this
publication in another language or in
a large-print or Braille version, please
contact the Local Government
Boundary Commission for England:
Tel: 020 7664 8534
Email: publications@lgbce.org.uk
Page 116

Contents
What is the Local Government Boundary Commission for England?

2

1

Introduction

4

2

What is an electoral review?

6

3

The legislation and statutory criteria

10

4

The electoral review procedure

15

The preliminary period

16

Council size

16

Factors to consider when making a proposal on council size
Ward/division patterns

5

18
20

Electoral equality

20

Community identity

21

Effective and convenient local government

22

Number of councillors in each ward or division

23

Coterminosity

24

Detached wards

24

Doughnut wards

24

Rurality

25

Ward/division names

25

Internal communication links

26

Current and forecast electorate

26

Making your views known to us

28

The nature of evidence

28

6

Our information requirements

30

7

Implications for parishes

33

8

What happens when we complete a review?

35

9

Frequently Asked Questions

36

Appendix A: Glossary

38

Appendix B: Resources

40

Appendix C: Council size guidance for local authorities

41

Page 117

What is the Local Government Boundary Commission for
England?
The Local Government Boundary Commission for England (LGBCE) was established by
Parliament under the provisions of the Local Democracy, Economic Development and
Construction Act 2009 (the 2009 Act). Independent of central and local government, and
political parties, it is directly accountable to Parliament through a committee of MPs
chaired by the Speaker of the House of Commons.
The Commission’s objectives are:
• To provide electoral arrangements for English principal local authorities that are fair
and deliver electoral equality for voters.
• To keep the map of English local government in good repair and work with principal
local authorities to help them deliver effective and convenient local government to
citizens.
We are responsible for, among other things, conducting three main types of review of
local government:
Electoral Reviews – These are reviews of the electoral arrangements of local
authorities: the number of councillors, the names, number and boundaries of
wards and electoral divisions and the number of councillors to be elected to each.
Electoral reviews are initiated primarily to improve electoral equality. This means
ensuring, so far as is reasonable, that for any principal council, the ratio of
electors to councillors in each electoral ward or division, is the same. However,
electoral reviews can also be carried out at a local authority’s request, for
example to look at council size (the total number of councillors) or provide for
single-member wards or divisions. The Commission is responsible for putting any
changes to electoral arrangements into effect and does this by making a
Statutory Instrument or order. The local authority then conducts local elections on
the basis of the new arrangements set out in the order.
Principal Area Boundary Reviews (PABRs) – These are reviews of the
boundaries between local authorities. Reviews range from addressing minor
boundary anomalies that hinder effective service delivery to a few houses, to
whole-council mergers. A PABR may also give rise to the need for a
consequential electoral review of the local authorities involved, depending on the
scale and/or nature of the boundary change. For guidance relating to the review
of the boundaries between principal local authority areas, please refer to our
companion document: Principal area boundary reviews: technical guidance.
Unlike electoral reviews, the Commission is not responsible for implementing
PABR reviews: the orders relating to changes to administrative boundaries (and
any consequential electoral arrangements) are made by the Secretary of State.
Structural Reviews – Advising the Secretary of State, at his request, on
proposals he receives from local authorities to change from two-tier to unitary
local government. Generally, the establishment, by the Secretary of

2

Page 118

State, of a new unitary authority will itself be followed by an electoral review
of the new authority.
The Commission’s website www.lgbce.org.uk provides details of reviews which it is or
has undertaken. It also provides all representations received on current reviews.

3

Page 119

1

Introduction

1.1

The purpose of this document is to provide detailed technical guidance to all
those who wish to participate in an electoral review which started after 1 April
2014 1. It is intended to be a resource for anyone requiring detailed information on
the legislation, our processes, information requirements and the overall approach
we take to our work on electoral reviews. It outlines the processes that we will
normally follow in such reviews. However, we may vary our procedure before or
during a review, where we feel that to do so is appropriate to ensure that our
statutory criteria are properly considered. We will discuss with the relevant local
authorities, any such variation.

1.2

We also publish three other guidance documents which set out – in simple terms
– different aspects of the review, to encourage local people to get involved in the
process:
•
An introduction to the Commission and electoral reviews; and
•
How to propose a pattern of wards or divisions.
These documents are available on our website at:
http://www.lgbce.org.uk/guidance-policy-and-publications/guidance.

1.3

The electoral arrangements of every principal local authority 2 in England must, by
law, be reviewed from time to time 3. These reviews, where the electoral
arrangements of every English local authority are reviewed by the Commission,
are known as periodic electoral reviews (PERs). We decide when there is a need
to conduct a programme of such work. The last round of PERs commenced in
1996 and was completed in 2004.

1.4

The Commission is not currently undertaking PERs but has a rolling programme
of electoral reviews undertaken for a number of different reasons. The most
common reasons for undertaking an electoral review are where significant
change in population, localised increases from major housing developments or
the movement of people into, out of, or within the local authority area, have
resulted in poor levels of electoral equality.

1.5

We also undertake electoral reviews, following requests from local authorities that
wish to operate with a different number of elected members or seek to replace
multi-member wards with single-member wards. In addition, when a boundary of
a principal local authority area undergoes significant change, there will also be a
need to examine the electoral arrangements of the authorities affected in order to
ensure that electoral fairness is maintained or restored. The types of electoral
review, the reasons we conduct them and the overarching purpose of electoral
reviews are described in chapter 2 of this guidance.

1.6

When we conduct electoral reviews we must adhere to certain legislation which
sets out the steps which we must take in conducting a review, the matters on
which we must make recommendations and the factors we have to take into
account in reaching the conclusions which underpin our recommendations 4.

1

There is separate guidance for the electoral reviews which commenced before that date. Electoral reviews: technical
guidance. LGBCE, July 2013. www.lgbce.org.uk/guidance-policy-and-publications/guidance
2
A county, district, metropolitan or London borough council or the Council of the Isles of Scilly
3
Section 56 of the Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009
4
Section 56 of the Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009

4

Page 120

1.7

We have limited powers in relation to parish councils. We can neither create nor
abolish a parish council. Nor can we change the boundary of an existing parish.
However, when making recommendations about the electoral arrangements of a
principal local authority, we can make recommendations about the electoral
arrangements of any parish councils that might be directly affected by new district
ward or county division boundaries. In effect, this primarily means creating new
parish wards or changing the boundaries of existing ones.

1.8

Details of the legislation, how it affects the way we carry out reviews, and the
limits of the Commission’s powers can be found in chapter 3 of this guidance.

1.9

Chapter 4 sets out our process for conducting reviews and our approach to
matters such as the community identity and the way they interact, taking account
of the geographic characteristics of a local authority area and any potential
barriers to movement. It describes how we seek to recommend electoral
arrangements that balance these criteria in an effective way. We also give
guidance on specific technical topics, such as electorate forecasts and
coterminosity (also explained in the chapter).

1.10

Coupled with our independence is our impartiality. Our decisions are based on
evidence and reason. Our approach, therefore, is one of evidence-gathering
through consultation with local people and organisations, and the analysis of all
the evidence we receive from them. It is therefore very important that what people
say to us is well-argued, and supported by credible evidence. We explain what
we mean by evidence in chapter 5.

1.11

Further technical guidance, specifically for a local authority under review, can
also be found in chapter 6 where we give details of information that we require
from the council.

1.12

When conducting electoral reviews in areas that are parished, we try to use
parishes as building blocks for new wards or divisions. Chapter 7 gives some
guidance about parishes, our approach to them and what we can and cannot do
as part of an electoral review.

1.13

Finally, we are responsible for the implementation of our recommendations
through the making of a Statutory Instrument or order, which is subject to
Parliamentary scrutiny. Chapter 8 gives information about that process.

1.14

There are several bullet-point lists of factors, considerations, etc. set out in this
guidance. Unless specifically indicated otherwise, the order in which items appear
in such lists does not imply any order of priority or weight to be given to them.

1.15

The electoral areas of district councils are called ‘wards’. Those of county
councils and unitary counties are called ‘electoral divisions’, or ‘divisions’ for
short. Throughout this guidance, unless provisions affect divisions only, we use
‘ward/division’ to describe the electoral areas of all principal authorities and
‘parish ward’ to describe the electoral areas of parishes.

5

Page 121

2

What is an electoral review?

2.1

An electoral review is an examination of a council’s electoral arrangements. This
means 5:
• the total number of members to be elected to the council;
• the number and boundaries of electoral areas (wards/divisions) for the
purposes of the election of councillors;
• the number of councillors for any electoral area of a local authority; and
• the name of any electoral area.

2.2

Where it appears that an area’s electoral arrangements should be changed in
order to provide for better representation of an area’s electors, a review will give
rise to recommendations for changes which we will lay before Parliament.
Whenever we undertake an electoral review, we aim to deliver good electoral
equality across a local authority area. This means ensuring that, for any principal
council, the ratio of electors to councillors in each electoral ward/division, is as
nearly as possible, the same.

2.3

We balance our consideration of electoral equality with the need to reflect local
community identities and interests, and provide for effective and convenient local
government. In reviews of two-tier county council areas, we must also have
regard to the desirability of aligning county electoral division and district ward
boundaries. Overall, we must strike what we consider to be the best balance
between all these factors when conducting electoral reviews. These
considerations, often referred to as our statutory criteria 6, are set out in more
detail in the next chapter.
Why do we conduct electoral reviews?

2.4

All principal local authorities have been the subject of an electoral review, either
as part of the programme of PERs (see section 1.3) or subsequently, in a review
specific to the needs and circumstances of a particular local authority area. Those
reviews established electoral arrangements which were appropriate at the time
of, and for the years immediately following, the review.

2.5

When the electoral variances in representation across a local authority become
notable, an electoral review is required. Our criteria for initiating a review in those
circumstances are as follows:
• more than 30% of a council’s wards/divisions having an electoral imbalance of
more than 10% from the average ratio for that authority; and/or
• one or more wards/divisions with an electoral imbalance of more than 30%;
and
• the imbalance is unlikely to be corrected by foreseeable changes to the
electorate within a reasonable period.

5
6

Section 56 of the Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009
Schedule 2 to the Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009

6

Page 122

We monitor the levels of electoral imbalance across all principal local authorities
in England annually, and those that meet the above-mentioned criteria will, at
some point, be included in our review programme.
2.6

The population – and hence electorate – of any local authority area is constantly
changing, with migration into, or out of, areas as well as within the same area.
For example, if a major housing development takes place and doubles the
electorate of its ward/division, it is possible that a change in the representational
arrangements for that area will be needed. There are two important reasons why
this would be so:

a) When a council forms its policies or makes other decisions, it does so
according to the votes of the members of the council. If the electors in
some parts of the council’s areas are under-represented relative to those in
other parts, then the influence of those electors on the council’s decisionmaking is diminished.
b) The accessibility of elected members to their electorate should be, as
nearly as possible, equal. This can only be measured by reference to the
numbers of electors.

7

2.7

We calculate electoral equality by dividing the number of electors in a
ward/division by the number of councillors elected to represent that ward or
division to produce an ‘electoral ratio’. High levels of electoral equality for a local
authority will be a situation where a high proportion of wards/divisions across the
authority have roughly the same electoral ratio and where no ward/division has a
ratio which varies by a great degree from, the average for the authority.

2.8

The Commission accepts that mathematically exact electoral equality across a
local authority is unlikely to be achieved. This is because, when drawing
boundaries, we also consider community identities and interests, the need for
strong, clear boundaries and parish boundaries as well as the need to secure
effective and convenient local government. As a result, there will always be some
variance of actual representation from the theoretical numerical average.
Similarly, changes in population, from the moment we complete a review, mean
that the electoral ratio and the electoral variance from ward to ward are likely to
change immediately and over time.

2.9

We also may carry out reviews for other reasons. When new unitary authorities
are established by the Government we are required to consider whether we
should conduct an electoral review of the new authority, in order to provide
appropriate electoral arrangements.

2.10

We may also conduct an electoral review in cases where local authority
administrative (i.e. external) boundaries have been subject to alteration.

2.11

Local authorities that hold whole-council elections 7 and which have
wards/divisions represented by two or three members can ask us to undertake
electoral reviews with the objective of providing for single-member
wards/divisions. Local authorities that want to bring about a change in the total
number of councillors to be elected may also ask us to conduct a review. We will
not normally review an area for these reasons unless requested to do so by the
council.

In which elections are held for all councillors every four years

7

Page 123

2.12

If a council wishes to change its electoral cycle from whole-council elections to
one in which there are elections in alternate years for half its members at a time
(elections by halves) or elections in three years out of four for a third of its
members at a time (elections by thirds), we are required to consider whether an
electoral review is desirable 8. The purpose of this provision is to ensure that, so
far as is practicable having regard to our other statutory criteria, the number of
councillors in each ward reflects the council’s electoral cycle. This is to give
electors in every ward across a local authority’s area the same opportunity to
participate in every local election.

2.13

The rationale for conducting a review may raise different issues and concerns,
but all involve reviews conducted under the same legislation (described in
chapter 3). Similarly, our core principles for the conduct of reviews apply to all
electoral reviews.
Our core principles

2.14

Councils play a major part in promoting local democracy, encouraging people to
register as electors, providing information about local issues and providing
pathways by which people can influence decision-making. We see our task as
establishing and maintaining the conditions for a fair and representative
democracy at local level.

2.15

We recognise that our recommendations may have local political implications but
that is not a factor we take into account. We are also sensitive to the fact that
political groups may seek to obtain an electoral advantage in contributing to a
review. Our task is to ensure that our recommendations are based on evidence,
and that the representations of all those participating in a review are treated
equally and without bias. Consistent with this is our determination that reviews
will be conducted with transparency and the involvement of local people.

2.16

We also seek to help councils at all levels by putting in place electoral
arrangements which are conducive to effective and convenient local government
for both them and the electorate. In initiating reviews or responding to requests
for reviews, we will:
• Support councils in making changes intended to improve their effectiveness
and ability to represent fairly the people of their area;
• Provide opportunities for local people and organisations to contribute to
reviews;
• Respond to the need for electoral reviews in a measured way, selecting areas
for review based on clearly expressed criteria;
• Give priority, when programming reviews, to areas in which electoral
imbalances affect a greater number of electors than those in which a lesser
number of electors is affected;
• Have regard to councils’ electoral timetable, endeavouring to complete reviews
within a reasonable period in advance of elections. So far as is possible, we
will seek to make electoral change orders around six months in advance of the
election in which the changes to electoral arrangements will be implemented;

8

Section 43 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007, as amended by the Local Democracy,
Economic Development and Construction Act 2009.

8

Page 124

• So far as legislation permits, conduct reviews in a manner that seeks to
minimise the administrative and resources burden on local authorities.
Minimising the burden means informing and supporting the timely preparation
of relevant and necessary information and proposals but ensuring that we
have sufficient information as to enable us to reach decisions on our
recommendations;
• Start a review with no pre-determined view of its outcome;
• Aim to improve electoral equality at the next election of the council, particularly
where we are conducting a review to address electoral imbalances. However,
we must always have regard to forecast changes to electorate. Where those
forecasts are made with particular confidence, they will carry more weight;
• Precede a review by having a preliminary stage in which we will talk to the
council concerned and other key partners in the area, usually some six months
in advance of the review being formally commenced; and
• Give clear guidance and effective support to local authority members and
officers regarding the information we require in order to undertake an effective
review. This includes inviting key officers to electoral review workshops to brief
them on the review process and share information.
2.17

Our approach is, therefore, one of consultation, reliance on evidence, openness,
transparency and proportionality. We aim to build as many of our
recommendations as possible on locally-generated proposals and, to that end,
we will gather as much information and undertake consultation as is appropriate
to the purposes and the context of any review. We will publicise the review and
we ask that the local authorities, political parties, parish and town councils,
community groups, residents’ associations and other main stakeholders help us
engage with local people in the electoral review process.

9

Page 125

3

The legislation and statutory criteria

3.1

When we conduct electoral reviews we must adhere to certain rules. The main
piece of legislation to which we work is the Local Democracy, Economic
Development and Construction Act 2009 (the 2009 Act). This consolidates and
amends provisions previously contained in the Local Government Act 1972, the
Local Government Act 1992 and the Local Government and Public Involvement in
Health Act 2007.

3.2

Section 56 of the 2009 Act requires that we review ’from time to time‘ every
principal local authority in England and make recommendations about electoral
arrangements (but not their external boundaries). We call these periodic electoral
reviews (PERs).

3.3

In addition, we can at any time review the arrangements for all or any part of a
principal local authority’s area. This means that we can carry out a review of a
particular area if it appears to us to be desirable. For reasons set out in
paragraph 3.21, we are unlikely to review only part of a council area.
What can we recommend as part of an electoral review?

3.4

We can make recommendations for the following aspects of local authority
electoral arrangements:
• the total number of councillors to be elected to the council (known as ‘council
size’);
• the number and boundaries of wards/divisions;
• the number of councillors to be elected for each ward/division; and
• the name of any ward/division.
What must we take into consideration as part of an electoral review?

3.5

Schedule 2 to the 2009 Act sets out the statutory criteria to which we are required
to have regard in conducting electoral reviews. In broad terms, in making
recommendations, we are required to have regard to:
• the need to secure equality of representation;
• the need to reflect the identities and interests of local communities; and
• the need to secure effective and convenient local government.

9

3.6

Included in the community identities and interests criterion is the desirability of
fixing boundaries which are and will remain easily identifiable, and which will not
break local ties. Our aim is to identify clear and long-lasting boundaries for
ward/division. We also take into account factors such as the location and
boundaries of parishes and the physical features of the local area when drawing
boundaries.

3.7

In addition, in reviewing two-tier 9 county councils we are required to have regard
to the boundaries of district or borough wards. We will seek to use them as the
building blocks for county electoral divisions. In making our recommendations, we
must ensure that every electoral division is wholly within a single district, so that
no division crosses the boundary between two neighbouring districts.

Where there are both county councils and district or borough councils

10

Page 126

Electoral Cycles
3.8

We must have regard to the desirability of setting the appropriate number of
councillors in each ward of a district or borough council which elects by halves or
by thirds 10. As such, we start with a presumption that, for example, for local
authorities that elect by thirds we will recommend a uniform pattern of threemember wards (and, by inference, a council size that is divisible by three) so that
every elector has the same opportunity to vote whenever local elections take
place. In a district that elects by halves, the presumption would be for twomember wards. However, if it can be shown that such a pattern would not meet
our statutory criteria (see section 3.4) we are prepared to depart from that
presumption.
Electorate forecasts

3.9

Schedule 2 to the 2009 Act also states that we should take into account any
changes to the number and distribution of electors that is likely to take place
within the five years following the end of a review. This requirement means that at
the start of a review we ask local authorities to provide us with electorate
forecasts (further guidance on forecasting is given in chapter 4).
Consultations

3.10

The legislation also provides us with rules on how we should undertake reviews.
As soon as reasonably practical after deciding to conduct a review, we must take
steps to inform people who we think might be interested in the review. This
benefits everyone who wants to take part in a review, because they need time to:
•
•
•
•

collect evidence about community identities and interests;
consider how the number and distribution of electors might change;
think about what they would like to see as an outcome of the review; and
present their arguments and the evidence they have collected.

3.11

We cannot complete a review without first publishing draft recommendations,
giving people an opportunity to comment on them and then considering any
comments made. Only after doing this can we publish our final recommendations.

3.12

We can consult before we publish our draft recommendations but do not have to
do so; and any such consultations do not have to be public ones. This means
that we can use such consultations to gather any information we need during the
early part of a review. However, where we see a need to air a particular aspect of
a review, we can carry out a specific consultation exercise.

3.13

We can, and sometimes do, undertake limited further consultations following
comments received during the consultation on draft recommendations. However,
this only happens where we are minded to make significant changes to our draft
recommendations and where we have insufficient evidence of wider local views in
relation to those changes. These consultations are additional to the statutory
requirement. Our use of consultation processes is therefore intended be
proportionate, to add knowledge and value to the review process and to allow
people opportunity to influence the review’s outcome.

10

‘Elections by halves’ occur every two years, when half the council is elected at each election; ‘elections by thirds’ means
one third of the council is elected every year for three years, with no elections in the fourth year. Councillors normally serve
a four-year term. See Paragraph 2(3) of Schedule 2 to the 2009 Act.

11

Page 127

Single-member ward/division reviews
3.14

Section 57 of the 2009 Act enables any local authority that elects the whole
council every four years, or has resolved 11 to do so, to request that we conduct
an electoral review and make recommendations for single-member wards or
divisions. We will normally endeavour to meet such requests. If we decline a
council’s request for such a review we have to give our reasons for doing so.

3.15

If we do conduct a single-member warding review, we are not obliged to
recommend a uniform pattern of single-member wards or divisions. We are
specifically required to have regard to the desirability of securing single-member
electoral areas. However, this requirement does not override the statutory criteria
referred to in paragraph 3.5. This means that whilst we will endeavour to
recommend single-member wards, we may include one or more two- or threemember wards if a uniform pattern of single-member wards would result in the
following:
• community identity and interests would not be reflected; and/or
• that obstacles to the effectiveness and convenience of local government in the
area would be created; and/or
• that resultant electoral variances would be such that we would normally
consider an electoral review of the area.

3.16

We may also be requested by councils to conduct reviews for other reasons. A
council may feel that a change in the total number of councillors is necessary to
reflect changes in the way it works, or it may feel that a change to ward
boundaries is necessary because they are no longer clear and distinct or no
longer reflect community identities and local ties. Section 56(2) of the 2009 Act
allows us to respond to such requests by conducting a review although it does
not compel us to do so. We give advice to local authorities about making a
request for a review in chapter 4.
Parishes

3.17

Our reviews can have consequences for parishes and their councils, and the
legislation requires us to make recommendations to the effect that:
• every ward of a parish having a parish council (whether separate or common)
must lie wholly within a single electoral division of the relevant county council,
and a single ward of the relevant district council; and
• every parish which is not divided into parish wards must lie wholly within a
single electoral division of the county council and a single ward of the district
council.

3.18

Sometimes, we will recommend a district ward or county electoral division
boundary which splits a parish that is not warded, or has wards which follow
different alignments. A misalignment of electoral boundaries for county, district
and parish elections is both confusing for electors and an impediment to effective
and convenient local government. In those cases, we will recommend that the
parish be divided into parish wards with boundaries that are common, or
coterminous, with the district ward and/or county division boundary. We will also
consider the number and distribution of electors across that parish before

11

Local authorities may only resolve to move to whole council elections once every five years. See sections 32-36 of the
Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 (as amended by the Localism Act 2011).

12

Page 128

deciding on the need for and extent of parish wards, but this concern will not take
precedence over the need to secure good levels of representation at district ward
or county division level. It should be noted that, unlike principal councils, in
creating wards for parish and town councils there is no statutory requirement on
us to provide for electoral equality.
3.19

Where parish or town councils are directly affected by our recommendations for
district ward or county division boundaries, we can make recommendations for
their electoral arrangements. These include recommendations for:
• the number of councillors to be elected to the council or, in the case of a
common parish council that represents a group of parishes, the number of
councillors to be elected from each parish in the group;
• the need for parish wards 12;
• the number and boundaries of any parish wards 13;
• the number of councillors to be elected from any parish ward; and
• the name of any parish ward.

3.20

Whilst making recommendations on these aspects of parish electoral
arrangements, we will not normally make recommendations to change the total
number of parish councillors for any particular parish. We believe that this is a
matter best resolved locally. A local authority may make such changes following a
Community Governance Review.

3.21

We may recommend changes to electoral arrangements for just part of a local
authority. This means that in the review of the whole of a council’s area, a review
may leave some aspects of electoral arrangements and some ward or division
boundaries unchanged. Legislation provides for a review which only considers
part of a council’s area. However, we are reluctant to conduct such reviews for a
number of practical reasons and potential consequential implications. For
example, we may find that recommending a change in the boundary between two
or three wards may only resolve unacceptable electoral imbalances if current
electoral arrangements for the rest of the local authority area are satisfactory both
now and on the basis of five-year forecasts. Furthermore:
• in each review we will generally wish to consider whether an authority has the
appropriate council size. If we take the view that the existing council size
should be altered, this is likely to have an impact across the whole of the local
authority area;
• for authorities that elect by thirds or halves, we are required to consider the
desirability of providing a uniform pattern of three- and two-member wards
respectively for the whole district; and
• we can only implement electoral changes at an ordinary election of the
authority, and not all affected wards may hold elections in the same year.

3.22

While the legislation places a number of obligations on us in conducting a review,
it also places a requirement on principal local authorities and parish councils.
They must, ‘if requested by [the LGBCE] to do so, provide the Commission, by
such date as it may specify, with any information that it may reasonably require’.

12

Section 56(9) of the 2009 Act
The Commission will not normally recommend the creation of parish wards that contain no or very few electors (see
chapter 8)

13

13

Page 129

What we cannot do as part of an electoral review
3.23

We cannot choose between the statutory considerations to which we are required
to have regard. Some people responding to a review may prefer that we focus on
reflecting community identities and interests to the exclusion of electoral equality,
or vice versa. We need to take account of all strands of our statutory criteria and,
where those strands may be in conflict with one another, seek to strike what in
our judgement is the right balance, having regard to the evidence provided to us.

3.24

As part of an electoral review we cannot make recommendations for changes to
the boundaries between local authorities or parishes, or consider the creation of
new parishes 14.

3.25

We cannot make changes to the electoral arrangements of parish and town
councils that are unaffected by any changes to district wards or county divisions.
Community Governance Reviews by principal local authorities can, however, be
used for such purposes and be implemented by those councils’ own order 15.

3.26

We cannot make recommendations about how often local authorities hold
elections (the electoral cycle). Under the Local Government and Public
Involvement in Health Act 2007 (as amended by the Localism Act 2011), local
authorities can resolve to change their electoral cycle at any time. Where a
council resolves to move from whole-council elections to elections by halves or
thirds, we must make the legal order which implements the change. Before doing
so, we must consider whether an electoral review is required in order to ensure
that the number of councillors being returned from each ward reflects the
proposed electoral cycle.

3.27

We cannot change, or take account of, the boundaries of Parliamentary
constituencies. These are reviewed under separate legislation by a separate
body, the Boundary Commission for England, which has traditionally based its
recommendations on the ward boundaries put in place as a result of electoral
reviews we undertake. Any queries on Parliamentary boundaries should be
addressed to the Boundary Commission for England 16.

3.28

Our recommendations do not affect local taxes, or result in changes to electors’
addresses or postcodes. Nor is there any evidence that our recommendations
have an adverse effect on house prices, or car and house insurance premiums.
They do not determine the size and shape of polling districts, or the location of
polling stations, both of which are decided by the local authority. We therefore will
not take into account any evidence based on these factors

14

We can initiate reviews of the external boundaries of counties and districts (known as ‘principal area boundary reviews’)
under the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 (and make recommendations for consequential
changes to electoral arrangements) but we cannot alter them during an electoral review. Local authorities are able to carry
out community governance reviews to create new parishes, or amend existing parish boundaries, and implement the
outcome
15
The LGBCE and the Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) publish separate joint guidance on
community governance reviews (through which parishes can be created, abolished or their boundaries and electoral
arrangements amended), which is available on our website at http://www.lgbce.org.uk/__documents/lgbce/guidancepolicy-and-publications/guidance/community-governance-review-guidance.pdf.
16
The Boundary Commission for England’s contact details can be found at
http://boundarycommissionforengland.independent.gov.uk/.

14

Page 130

4

The electoral review procedure

4.1

This chapter sets out the procedure we will follow when we conduct an electoral
review. It also gives guidance on how issues raised during an electoral review
should be addressed. Our guidance draws on our experience of conducting
electoral reviews, the evaluation of the 1996-2004 PER programme, conducted
by the Electoral Commission and our own consultation in 2010/11 on review
policies and procedures which brought forward views and ideas, many based on
respondents’ own experience of reviews.

4.2

The review procedure is essentially the same for requested reviews and for those
where we intervene in order to address electoral imbalances. In the case of
requested reviews, however, before deciding whether to agree the request, we
will wish to meet with the Chief Executive and Leader of the Council. The purpose
of that meeting will be to establish:
• the reason for the request;
• the likely scope of the review; and
• the commitment and capacity of the council to meet our information
requirements in a timely manner.

4.3

For all reviews, when the Commission has decided that a review is to take place, the
Commission will advise the council concerned of that decision and the likely
timescale for a review at the earliest opportunity.

4.4

Figure 1, overleaf, sets out the process, the stages and the indicative timescales
for the conduct of an electoral review.

Figure 1: Stages for electoral reviews
Stage

Action

Duration*

Council size
decision

Informal dialogue with local authority. Focus on
gathering preliminary information including electorate
forecasts and other electoral data. Commissioner-level
involvement in briefing group leaders on the issue of
council size. Meetings also held with officers, group
leaders, full council and, where applicable, parish and
town councils. At the end of this process, the council
under review and its political groups should submit their
council size proposals for the Commission to consider.
Commission analyses submissions from local authority
and/or political groups on council size and takes a
‘minded to’ decision on council size.

Formal start of
review
Consultation on
future warding/
division
arrangements
Development of
draft
recommendations

The Commission publishes its initial conclusions on
council size. General invitation to submit warding/division
proposals based on Commission’s conclusions on
council size.
Analysis of all representations received. The
Commission reaches conclusions on its draft
recommendations.

Preliminary
Period

15

Page 131

Up to 6
months in
advance of
formal start
of review

5 weeks

12 weeks

12 weeks

Consultation on
Publication of draft recommendations and public
draft
consultation on them.
recommendations
Further consultation only takes place where the
Further
Commission is minded to make significant changes to
Consultation (if
its draft recommendations and where it lacks sufficient
required)
evidence of local views in relation to those changes.
Development of
Analysis of all representations received. The
final
Commission reaches conclusions on its final
recommendations recommendations.

8 weeks

Up to 5
weeks

12 weeks

* Time periods shown are the expected typical duration of stages. They are not standards or undertakings. The
progress of a review will be determined by the nature of the issues to be addressed and the availability of
information to underpin sound decision-making, not by a determination to complete a review within any given
period.

Preliminary period
4.5

Each review will generally start with a preliminary period during which time we will
meet with the local authority and interested parties to explain the review process
and enable them to prepare the information we will need for the review. In this
stage we will work with members and local authority officers and their key
partners to gather information regarding the following:
•
•
•
•

details of current electoral arrangements and the current electoral register;
identification of parishes and their boundaries;
other indicators which identify and build up a map of communities;
five-year electorate forecasts from the planned end of the review).

4.6

We will also need to gain a clear understanding of the extent and nature of
communities and the linkages between them. Furthermore, we will wish to
explore the way in which councils and councillors aim to work effectively with their
communities in order to understand council size proposals.

4.7

The preliminary period normally ends with the submission of proposals on council
size by the council under review and/or the political party groupings represented
on the council, as well as any other council size submissions received.

Council size
4.8

Council size is the starting point in any electoral review since it determines the
average number of electors per councillor to be achieved across all wards or
divisions of the authority. We cannot consider the patterns of wards or divisions
without knowing the optimum number of electors per councillor, which is derived
from dividing the electorate by the number of councillors to be elected to the
authority.

4.9

We face a number of challenges in deciding on the most appropriate council size
for any authority. There is wide variation in council size across England, not only
between the different types of local authority – metropolitan and shire district
councils, county councils and London boroughs – but also between authorities of
the same type.

4.10

In our opinion, local government is as diverse as the communities it serves,
providing services, leadership and representation tailored to the characteristics
and needs of individual areas. Our aim, in an electoral review, is to recommend

16

Page 132

electoral arrangements, including a council size, which is right for the local
authority in question.
4.11

Consistent with our desire for electoral arrangements to reflect local
circumstances, we are unwilling to apply strict mathematical criteria for council
size or impose nationally a formula for its calculation. However, this approach
means that it is important that we receive well-reasoned proposals which clearly
demonstrate the individual characteristics and needs of each local authority area
and its communities and how its circumstances relate to the number of
councillors elected to the authority.

4.12

Many councils have not considered, for a number of years, the total number of
councillors which they require to manage their business and provide for effective
representation of citizens. In many local authorities, council size has remained
largely unchanged since local government re-organisation in 1974. Since that
time, the role and responsibilities of local government and councillors have
changed considerably. Following the Local Government Act 2000 (the 2000 Act),
most local authorities changed the way they make decisions and operate
internally, some more so than others. Subsequent legislation, including the Local
Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 and the Localism Act
2011, introduced further opportunities for local government to alter its governance
and management arrangements.

4.13

We believe that councils should take the opportunity provided by an electoral
review to consider how many councillors they need, having regard to the their
political management arrangements, regulatory and scrutiny functions and the
representational role of councillors, both in terms of their ward work and
representing the council on external bodies.

4.14

The political management structures that came into place in most local authorities
following the 2000 Act changed the roles of all councillors, both those who sit on
executives and those who undertake the scrutiny and representational roles. The
potential to move back to a modified committee system raises different
challenges and opportunities for councillors. In addition, various central
government and local authority initiatives have affected the roles of local
councillors, and the impact of these may affect the number of councillors needed
to politically manage the authority, whether this is under a leader and cabinet or a
modified committee structure.

4.15

These developments and the sharing of knowledge have provided opportunities
for councils to learn from their own experience and that of others, encouraging
innovation. Some councils have used their experience of working in new ways in
order to reach a view of the council size they think appropriate for their area, and
tested that view through local consultation.

4.16

There are levels at which an authority risks being too small to discharge its
statutory functions or too large to be able to function in an effective manner. For
this reason, we will normally wish to give detailed consideration to proposals for
council sizes of below thirty councillors to be assured that the reduction will not
jeopardise the ability of a council to manage its business effectively. Equally, we
will wish to examine closely proposals for council sizes of above a hundred
councillors.

4.17

In short, whatever council size local authorities have in mind, we will wish to test
the assumptions underlying the proposals regardless of whom they are from.

17

Page 133

4.18

Our preliminary discussions with principal local authorities, which will start up to
six months in advance of the formal start of the review, will give us the
opportunity to hear their views about council size and begin to test the
assumptions made to us. This will not be due to any presumption on our part but
rather to ensure that we have a thorough understanding of why a particular
council size has been proposed and that the authority has thought through all
relevant considerations. The preliminary discussions will therefore progress most
effectively if the local authority has considered its view at the earliest possible
stage and is able to provide supporting evidence for it.
Factors to consider when making a proposal on council size

4.19

Proposals for council size are most easily, and regularly, argued in terms of
effective and convenient local government (in terms of choosing the appropriate
number of members to allow the council and individual councillors to conduct the
council’s business most effectively). Arguments can also be made on the basis of
reflecting communities and allowing for fairness of representation.

4.20

Broadly speaking, we will take a view on the right council size for an authority by
considering three areas:
• we will look at the governance arrangements of the council, how it takes
decisions across the broad range of its responsibilities, and whether there are
any planned changes to those arrangements;
• we will examine the council’s scrutiny functions relating to its own decisionmaking and the council’s responsibilities to outside bodies, and whether any
changes to them are being considered; and
• we will also consider the representational role of councillors in the local
community and how they engage with people, conduct casework and
represent the council on local partner organisations.

4.21

In short, we will be asking for council size proposals to reflect not simply the
council’s current arrangements, but also likely future trends or plans. In every
review we carry out, we aim to ensure our recommendations remain relevant for
the long term and to recommend a number that delivers effective and convenient
local government well after the completion of the electoral review. Accordingly,
we will be looking for those involved in a review to set out their vision for the local
authority in five to ten years.

4.22

Those submitting proposals to us should examine the political management and
working practices of the council under review, and make reasoned proposals. We
have no pre-conceived views on the number of councillors necessary to run any
particular local authority effectively, and we are content to accept proposals for an
increase, a decrease or the retention of the existing number of councillors, but
only on the basis that they can be justified. However, we do not accept, for
example, that increases in an authority’s electorate should automatically result in
an increase in council size.

4.23

We are often asked for a more detailed breakdown of the sort of rationale we are
seeking in support of a council size proposal. We have therefore developed
further guidance (see Appendix C) that local authorities and political groups are
asked to consider in submitting their council size proposals to us. They are not
exhaustive and we encourage local authorities and others to present us with any
such further material as they consider appropriate. We are content to discuss the
guidance at preliminary meetings in advance of the review commencing.

18

Page 134

4.24

As previously stated, we will always seek to propose a council size which is
appropriate for the individual characteristics of the local authority in question,
whether that would involve an increase, decrease or no change to the existing
arrangements. However, we will also seek to put the council’s proposal in
context. To provide context to the authority’s proposal on council size, we will
refer to the Nearest Neighbours model prepared and published by the Chartered
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) which can be found at:
www.cipfastats.net/resources/nearestneighbours/profile.asp?view=select&dataset
=england

4.25

We will identify the authority’s 15 Nearest Neighbours authorities amongst the
following groups: London boroughs, metropolitan districts, unitary districts, unitary
county councils, two-tier county councils, and two-tier district councils. We will
then assess where the council size proposal would place the authority compared
to its statistical neighbours.

4.26

In cases where the authority’s proposal would mean its council size differs to a
significant extent from similar authorities, we will require particularly strong
evidence, based on the areas set out in 4.20 and in Appendix C. In a small
number of cases, retention of the existing council size will require a strong case
to be made before the Commission makes a recommendation on council size.
In the rare cases where we do not believe the council has made a sufficiently
strong case to adopt a council size which is significantly different from its nearest
neighbours, we will seek to recommend a council size which is nearer to that of
other authorities within the relevant CIPFA grouping.

4.27

4.28

Where final recommendations of an electoral review of a council in the
comparison group have been published, we will use that council size figure as the
basis for the analysis. Council size figures can be found for all authorities on our
website at:
www.lgbce.org.uk/records-and-resources/local-authorities-in-england

4.29

Even if we are content with the rationale provided in support of a proposal for
council size, we may choose, at a later stage of the review process, to consider
whether it is necessary to change this number slightly in order to ensure better
levels of electoral representation across the district or county. Having regard to
the nature and extent of communities or to appropriate ward/division boundaries,
it is often possible to improve the levels of electoral representation across an
authority by making minor modifications of one or two to the council size.

4.30

After our consideration of the evidence submitted by an authority we will
announce the council size which we believe to provide the appropriate basis for
the preparation of warding proposals. We will not normally carry out consultation
on the specific matter of council size. In doing so, for local authorities that elect by
thirds, we will ask that warding proposals be based on a uniform pattern of threemember wards. For local authorities that elect by halves, we will ask that
proposals be based on a uniform pattern of two-member wards. Similarly, where
we have agreed to a request from a local authority for a single-member ward or
division review, we will ask for proposals for a uniform pattern of single-member
wards or divisions.

4.31

Some local authorities that currently elect by thirds or by halves may wish to
consider changing their electoral cycle to whole council elections prior to an
electoral review. Any resolution to that effect must be made and notified to us, at
the latest, before we invite proposals on warding patterns.
19

Page 135

Ward/division patterns
4.32

Ward/division proposals include the number, names and boundaries of
wards/divisions and the number of councillors to be elected to each.
Electoral equality

4.33

Electoral reviews are important in upholding integrity in the democratic process.
Fairness at local elections – that is, any elector’s vote being worth the same as
another’s – is a fundamental democratic principle.

4.34

Once we have made a decision on council size, we can work out the optimum
number of electors each councillor should represent by dividing the total number
of electors by the number of councillors (as described in section 2.6). This
produces a figure for the average councillor:elector ratio. Using the average ratio
of electors per councillor, we can measure how far the ratio in each current or
proposed ward or division departs from that average. When formulating our
recommendations, we will be seeking to achieve ratios as close to the authority
average in every ward or division. The further that electoral equality departs from
the average for the authority, the stronger the evidence of the other statutory
considerations we take into account will need to be.

4.35

However, in practice we do not see reviews resulting in wards of mathematically
equal size. This is because the approach to electoral equality must be tempered
by other considerations which generally reflect the particular characteristics of an
area under review, and its communities. This recognises that council members
represent individual electors and collective communities.

4.36

We will therefore look for some rationale explaining why, in community or other
terms, a particular pattern or set of boundaries is being proposed. We will take
account of geographic considerations if they impede our ability to achieve good
levels of representation in a certain area, although the presence of barriers to
movement such as rivers with no crossing points or other strong geographical
features are likely to be reflected in patterns of community identity and interaction
and so taken into account for those reasons.
Community identity

4.37

Community identity and interest is harder to define than electoral equality for
which there is a simple mathematical test. Often, it cannot easily be measured,
and can mean different things to different people. It is essential, therefore, that
those taking part in a review who make a case on the basis of community
identities and interests can explain to us exactly what the community is and, more
importantly, what defines it and marks it out as distinct from others.

4.38

For some, community identity could be defined by the location of public facilities
such as doctors’ surgeries, hospitals, libraries or schools. Research 17 on
community identity supports this view but notes that such arguments cannot be
considered in isolation. It will certainly not be the case that merely saying that
such facilities exist can justify a community identity argument. We would be
looking for evidence that such facilities stimulate or provide a focus for community
interaction: this would be distinct from their role as points of service delivery to
individual citizens.

17

Community identity: literature review and analysis, http://www.lgbce.org.uk/guidance-policy-and-publications/policy-andresearch/electoral-review-research

20

Page 136

4.39

For others, an area’s history and tradition may be the basis of its sense of
community identity. However, communities change over time and historical
considerations may not have such importance in areas which have been subject
to recent development or population dispersal.

4.40

Major roads can be seen to be the focus of an area if they are the location of
shops or community facilities which people visit regularly and where they interact.
They may themselves be the subject of issue for communities, perhaps when
safety, environmental or economic considerations are a catalyst to community
interaction. Alternatively, major roads, rivers or railway lines are often physical
barriers marking the boundary between different communities.

4.41

Evidence of the identity of a community may be presented where there are
recorded community interactions and collective engagements with the principal
local authority for their area. The existence, and activities of, town and parish
councils, residents’ associations, and local voluntary organisations will, for
example, be sources of evidence on this.

4.42

Some councils have made progress in mapping the physical extent of identifiable
communities and, where they have done so, such research would help those
preparing proposals and our consideration of them considerably. Mapping of
communities that depend heavily on area profiling will, however, be treated with
caution. Area profiling often uses demographic characteristics common to
individuals: it may not reflect that there are (or are not) interactions between
those individuals.

4.43

In some areas, a ward or division will be greater in physical extent than an
identifiable community: sometimes we have to combine two or more distinct and
separate communities within a single ward or division. This is particularly so in
rural areas. We will in these cases consider the nature of local ties or interactions
between communities, as well as within them.
Again, there may be opportunities to provide evidence of this, for example
through local voluntary organisations or projects. However there are likely to be
instances where we recommend a ward or division that encompass communities
that have no community linkages.

4.44

We understand that people have strongly held views about their communities and
the impact that new warding arrangements may have on them. It is important to
us that we hear all those views. However, we ask that, rather than simply
asserting that recommendations would affect a community, people explain
carefully to us in terms that might be understood by those not living in their
locality, why a particular warding or division pattern we have recommended would
– or would not – have an adverse effect on their community. What may be selfevident to local people who work or live in an area may not be obvious to us, or
even to people living in another part of a review area. It is for that reason we need
to have well-argued evidence of community identity if we are to move away from
equality in the number of electors each councillor represents. We will take into
account all proposals we receive but those which are supported by argument and
evidence are likely to carry more weight with us.
Effective and convenient local government

4.45

Effective and convenient local government is also relatively difficult to define; it is
a consideration when we take our decision about council size, but is often
overlooked as a consideration by people making proposals to us on warding and
division arrangements. The impact of proposals on the workload of individual
21

Page 137

councillors needs to be considered, as a ward or division may be so large in
terms of its physical extent or its electorate that it prevents a councillor from
effectively representing the people in it. If there are a large number of parish
councils, this can also (but does not always) make demands on a councillor’s
time which are difficult to meet.
4.46

In either case, there should be an explanation of why this effect occurs, having
regard to the council’s chosen way of working either with individual electors or
with parish councils and other community representative organisations. It will be
the council’s way of working, rather than the individual member’s way of working
which is important in this respect because an individual member may or may not
be returned at subsequent elections. The operation, or otherwise, of area forums
or similar mechanisms may, for example, add to or reduce councillor workload
and these effects can be evidenced.

4.47

A practical example of effective and convenient local government for us when
considering proposed warding arrangements is to ensure that wards are internally
coherent. That is to say, that there are reasonable road links across the ward so
that it can be easily traversed, and that all electors in the ward can engage in the
affairs and activities of all parts of it without having to travel through an adjoining
ward.
Number of councillors in each ward or division

18

4.48

There is no upper limit in legislation regarding the number of councillors that may
be returned from each ward or division. However, we take the view that wards or
divisions returning more than three councillors results in a dilution of
accountability to the electorate and we will not normally recommend a number
above that figure. There are currently no principal authority wards or divisions in
England returning more than three councillors.

4.49

Arguments have been made in the past that if all wards or divisions in an
authority return the same number of councillors this helps the local electorate to
understand and therefore engage with local government. The 2009 Act states
that, when reviewing district councils, we have to take account of the scheme for
elections used by the council when making our recommendations 18. In some
councils, all councillors are elected at the same time; once every four years.
Others elect a third of the council in each of three years out of four (elections by
thirds), or half the council every two years (elections by halves). The legislation
says that we should have regard to the desirability of recommending that the
appropriate number of councillors is returned from each ward: where councils
elect by thirds this is three, and where elections are by halves, two.

4.50

In each review of local authorities that elect by thirds or by halves we will aim to
deliver such patterns of multi-member wards. However, in all cases this
consideration will not take precedence over our other statutory criteria, and we
will not recommend uniform patterns in the number of councillors per ward or
division if, in our view or as is shown in evidence provided to us, it results in
unacceptable levels of electoral inequality, does not reflect communities or
hinders the provision of effective and convenient local government. However, in
each case, such evidence needs to be provided on a ward by ward basis.

4.51

In addition, we may conduct a review at the request of any authority which elects
the whole council every four years (or has resolved to do so) and wishes to move
to a uniform pattern of single-member wards or divisions across the authority. In

Paragraph 2(3)(d) of Schedule 2 to the 2009 Act.

22

Page 138

conducting any such review we are required to have regard to the desirability of
securing single-member wards or divisions. This means we must assess whether
it is appropriate – taking into account our statutory requirement to achieve good
levels of electoral equality, reflect community identities and interests and provide
for convenient and effective local government – that each ward or division should
be represented by one councillor. If, in our judgement, the statutory criteria
cannot be met by providing a uniform pattern of single-member wards or
divisions, it is open to us to recommend multi-member wards or divisions.
4.52

Some contributors to past reviews of local authorities that hold whole-council
elections have argued that multi-member wards provide, in principle and practice,
greater effectiveness and convenience than do single-member wards. Others
have argued the reverse. Our consideration of this issue will be aided by
evidence of benefits to electors, not benefits to local political organisations as
well as being firmly based on our statutory criteria, when proposals which are
based either on a preference for single- or multi-member wards are presented.
Coterminosity

4.53

When we are conducting a review of a county council, we will also be seeking to
provide for coterminosity between district wards and county divisions 19.
Coterminosity occurs when district ward boundaries align with county division
boundaries. This is also a consideration of convenient and effective local
government.

4.54

Coterminosity can improve the convenience and effectiveness of local
government by facilitating representation and joint working between the county
and district council. However, it is necessary sometimes to divide district wards
between county divisions in order either to minimise the levels of electoral
inequality or better reflect communities.

4.55

We therefore do not insist on a target for the levels of coterminosity we achieve in
any county council area, as it can inhibit us from achieving a good balance
between the other statutory criteria. However, if we can balance the criteria
acceptably and reflect the evidence put to us, we will also seek to achieve a
satisfactory level of coterminosity when making our recommendations.
Detached wards

4.56

Proposals are occasionally put forward for a detached ward, made up of two
geographically separate areas. We have concerns over the use of detached
wards. They lend themselves to the creation of electoral areas that lack
community identity and which may owe more to purely political considerations
than to community identity and interest. We therefore take the view that the use
of detached wards, other than to recognise particularly unusual circumstances
(offshore islands, for example) is undesirable, and we will not normally
recommend them.
Doughnut wards

4.57

19

From time to time we receive proposals for what we have called doughnut wards,
where one ward, normally based on a small town, is completely surrounded by a
rural ward. Generally speaking, the rationale sometimes put to us for such a
warding pattern has been that it ensures urban and rural interests are separately
represented. Such considerations do not form part of our statutory criteria. In any

Paragraph 2(3)(d) of Schedule 2 to the 2009 Act.

23

Page 139

event, they ignore the tendency for the town to be the focus for the rural areas,
for shopping, medical and other services. Indeed, rural communities to, for
example, the north and south to the town area are likely to identify more with the
town than with each other. Accordingly, we will not normally recommend such
warding patterns unless it can be clearly demonstrated to us that they would
better meet our statutory criteria than any other alternative pattern.
Rurality
4.58

Many local authorities have both urban and rural areas. When we consulted on
our policies and procedures, some people said that urban areas should
have proportionately more councillors than rural areas because urban areas
present the more complex issues. Others argued that rural areas should have
proportionately more councillors because rural populations are more dispersed,
and therefore harder to contact. There is no provision in legislation for such
proportionality. Increasing use of electronic communication methods generally
makes no distinction between urban and rural areas. However, there may be
exceptions where local characteristics, including topography, lead to an
acceptance of a particular variance in electoral ratio for one or more wards.
Ward/division names

4.59

Councils and their communities are usually able to suggest appropriate names for
wards and electoral divisions that reflect community identities and mean
something to local people.

4.60

In determining names for wards and divisions, we aim to avoid causing confusion
amongst local electors and ensure that names are distinct and easily identifiable,
especially in two-tier areas.

4.61

Our approach to the naming of electoral areas is that, when wards or divisions
remain largely unchanged, the existing name should usually be retained. This
supports continuity of identification with an area and voting processes. However,
even where there has been little or no change to electoral boundaries, ward
names may be altered where there is good reason for change. For example,
where community identity has clearly changed over time, a different ward or
division name may better reflect the constituent communities of the proposed
electoral area.

4.62

We may adopt compass point names when there is not a more suitable name.
These are generally more applicable in larger urban and suburban settlements. In
this case the compass point reference used will generally form a suffix where the
rest of the name refers to a population centre, for example Buckingham East.
Compass points will normally be used only where they are relative to another
compass point (i.e. Buckingham West should only be used where a Buckingham
East has also been proposed).

4.63

Our preference is for names that are short rather than those which attempt to
describe an area exhaustively, e.g. by reference to all or a number of parishes it
encompasses. Excessively long electoral area names have the potential to cause
confusion both to local residents and elected members, and not accurately reflect
community identities.

Internal communication links

24

Page 140

4.64

Our recommendations for ward boundaries will normally provide for people to
move between all parts of the ward without having to venture outside of the ward.
This normally means vehicular access by roads (but not including restrictedaccess roads such as motorways). Road access may include the use of roads
which themselves form a ward or division boundary.

4.65 There may be occasions, however, when parts of a community are linked not by
vehicular routes but by footpaths, footways, pedestrianised streets, pedestrian
and vehicular ferries etc. These will be more likely to be acceptable in densely
populated residential areas of towns or cities, where community identity may be
centred on local schools, health facilities, religious facilities, recreational or
shopping facilities. In some cases, and especially in rural areas where
topography has determined settlement patterns, the formation of wards which
reflect both active ties between communities and parish boundaries may lead us
to recommend wards where there are no direct communication links between all
parts. In these instances, we will look for evidence of community ties, local travel
patterns and, if appropriate, local public transport provision and usage.
Current and forecast electorate

20

4.66

We require electorate statistics from the local authority. Electorate data will be
most useful when they are presented by ward or division, parish and parish ward
and polling district. However, we are not constrained to using existing polling
districts as building blocks for wards.

4.67

The first set of data we require will normally be the electorate from the 1st of the
month during which the review formally starts. This will result in statistics which
reflect the changing nature of electoral registers kept up-to-date by rolling
registration. Statistics are readily presented by the electoral registration software
systems most commonly in use. However, we are willing to consider the use of
the register published following the annual canvass if reasons for not using up-todate information are given. We require this information in a standard spreadsheet
format, which is available on our website. Furthermore, we would prefer if this
data is geo-coded in a GIS format. Appendix B to this document – Resources –
also contains links to the relevant pages. Not all of these spreadsheets are
appropriate for every review, and our staff can give advice and guidance on those
relevant to the specific review being undertaken.

4.68

Schedule 2 to the 2009 Act states that we must also have regard to the likely
increase, decrease or movement in electorate over a five-year period from the
making of our final recommendations 20. As we ask for forecasts to be prepared at
the start of a review, the statutory requirement is normally satisfactorily
addressed by six-year forecasts of electorate changes.

4.69

We appreciate that forecasting electorates can be difficult, and an inexact
science. We ask the local authorities to provide these forecasts because they are
best placed to know about planning permissions granted, the likely pattern and
timing of future development in the area and, as a consequence, how that is likely
to impact on the number of electors in the area. This does not mean that others
cannot submit forecasts to us or comment on those prepared by local authorities.
We will not apply any lower tests to forecasts prepared by others in order to
satisfy ourselves that we can accept them with confidence.

4.70

This means that forecasts and comments upon them should be underpinned by
sound evidence. We will consider carefully both the methodology used and the

Paragraphs 1(4), 2(4), 3(4) and 4(4) of Schedule 2 to the 2009 Act.

25

Page 141

resultant figures. We expect officers preparing forecasts to reflect ONS subnational forecasts and to consider the impact of likely housing and economic
developments, local development frameworks, expected migration into, out of
and within the authority and expected occupancy rate in individual areas rather
than generally across the authority. We stress that our experience has found that
an increase in development in one part of a council’s area does not necessarily
result in an increase in electorate across the whole authority.

21

4.71

As an aid to forecasting, we have produced a practitioners’ guide which is
available on our website 21.

4.72

Once we are content that forecasts are a soundly-based reflection of the
electorate expected in six years’ time, we will publish the figures on our website
so that everyone can use the same data when making proposals to us. We
acknowledge that population and development trends are dynamic. In light of this,
some authorities have proposed significant revisions to their forecast electorate
midway through a review. We consider that a line must be drawn, and that the
forecasts provided at the beginning of a review are those that should be used as
the base forecast throughout. It also ensures that all who wish to make a
submission to us are using the same base forecast figures.

4.73

We have, in past reviews, placed greater focus on longer term equality as
indicated by the forecasts than we have on an immediate improvement in
electoral equality. The effect of this has been, in some reviews, an immediate
worsening of electoral inequality in order to accommodate future expected
changes in electorates arising from, for example, planned housing developments.
Whilst, generally, electorate forecasts have proved to be reasonably good, there
have been cases where expected developments have not materialised and our
attempts to accommodate them in electoral terms have resulted in major longterm imbalances. There are likely to be circumstances in which there will be a
very high degree of certainty that developments will take place and will be
occupied by new electors by the end of the forecast period. Where the effect of
these developments would be to create significant and lasting imbalances in an
electoral scheme based on the present-day electorate, we will of course, be more
confident of reflecting them in our recommendations.

4.74

In our consultation on policies and procedures for electoral reviews, we aired the
view that our recommendations should be seen always to bring the greatest
improvement to electoral equality at the first election at which they come into
effect. This approach attracted broad support although some respondents asked
us to continue to base our recommendations on the forecast pattern of electors.
Our approach will lie between the two positions; we will endeavour to improve
electoral equality at the next election, however we cannot dispense with the need
for forecasts since we are required to have regard to them.

http://www.lgbce.org.uk/guidance-policy-and-publications/guidance.

26

Page 142

5

Making your views known to us

5.1

Throughout the conduct of a review, we are keen to encourage councils, their
partners and other stakeholders and the public at large to tell us what they would
like to see in the electoral arrangements for their local authorities. We do this
when we invite proposals and when we arrange consultations on our draft
recommendations and occasionally, on alterations to draft recommendations.

5.2

Commensurate with our wish to gather the views of local people is our
undertaking to consider all of the suggestions or comments which we receive
before we make our final recommendations to parliament.

5.3

We will provide councils and, on request, other public sector bodies with mapping
data files which may facilitate their preparation of proposals for ward/division
patterns under the terms of the Public Sector Mapping Agreement. Whilst people
may make their views known to us by surface mail, electronic means or in faceto-face meetings, in June 2013, we made major improvements to the way in
which people can propose ward or electoral division boundaries. This can now be
done electronically by visiting our consultation website at:
https://consultation.lgbce.org.uk/node
Members of the public can now produce their own mapped proposals, using the
mapping features built in to our consultation website.
The nature of evidence

5.4

In chapter 4, we emphasise the value providing evidence when making
representations to us. A question often asked, however, particularly when we
brief councillors and chief officers, is ‘what sort of evidence is required?’
Examples are often requested. This is far from straightforward since:
• each review area has its own particular characteristics and is reviewed on its
own merits. Accordingly, evidence submitted in support of, or in opposition to,
a particular proposal needs to be considered in the context of the review area
concerned; and
• the greater the level of electoral imbalance which would result from the
proposals, the more persuasive the evidence will need to be.

5.5

Evidence supplied to us during an electoral review can take a number of forms.
Perhaps the most straightforward is that which is based on geographic
considerations or communication/transportation links. Generally speaking, we will
not seek to include areas on either side of a river or canal within the same ward –
in particular if there are no bridges – or a railway line which has no crossing
points, or areas which have no vehicular transport links. It may be argued that
motorways and major roads provide a natural divide between communities, but in
some instances they may also link them.

5.6

Parks and recreation grounds may, on the face of it, provide natural breaks
between communities but they can also act as focal points. Similar
considerations apply to main roads that are also the location of local shopping
centres.

5.7

Rather more complex is evidence that seeks to persuade us of a particular view
on community identity when proposals for ward boundaries are put forward. It is
occasionally said that the local community is totally opposed to a particular
27

Page 143

proposal. But what is the community, how representative of the community is the
respondent and what consultation has he or she undertaken before writing to us?
5.8

The best evidence of community identity is that which comes from community
interactions taken outside of the context of electoral review. For example, longstanding residents’ associations will have records of their activity and the extent
of community involvement in those activities. Similarly, local voluntary and
charitable organisations will be able to point to the extent to which people have
supported them.

5.9

In determining the strength of local opinion on an issue, sheer numbers of
signatures on petitions, or the number of proforma letters received are not
necessarily an accurate guide. They may say more for the enthusiasm and
competence of the organisers than for the real views of the signatories. In
practice, a well-argued representation containing detailed factual information is
likely to carry more weight with the Commission.

5.10

Occasionally, local people or groups may arrange public meetings in order to
gauge the level of support or opposition to a proposal. The outcome of such
meetings may be a better guide to public opinion. But even here, large
attendances are unlikely to be conclusive; the proportion of the electorate
attending and the breadth of their interests may be more significant than the total
number. Moreover, meetings that draw their attendance from a particular political
interest group may not express views that are representative of the community as
a whole.

5.11

Particularly when describing a case for a certain size of council, local authorities
describe the way in which councillors serve their communities through
mechanisms such area forums and attendance at parish council meetings. Parish
councils will, in particular, be able to indicate their opinion of the adequacy and
success of those mechanisms.

5.12

In summary, we will wish to know why a certain view is being put forward. If a
particular road is seen as a barrier between communities, why is this the case? If
another road is seen as the focus of the community, why is that the case? We
would look for explanations of why a particular boundary line might disrupt or help
to cement community relations and interactions.

5.13

It is quite common for conflicting evidence to be received on community identity.
Where this occurs, our task is to make a judgement on which strand of evidence
to follow. We will be aided in this if factual information is accompanied by an
explanation of why it is significant to the determination of appropriate
representation and why in that respect, a particular area or community should be
treated in a particular way.

5.14

We feel it important in all the reviews that we spend some time in the area
concerned. This enables us to gain a better understanding of the issues being
raised with us, particularly in relation to perceptions of community identity. These
visits contribute to our evidence base, and are generally made before we reach
conclusions on our draft recommendations, then again before we take decisions
on our final recommendations. We do not normally ask interested parties to a
review to accompany us on a tour of the area under review. This is both to
maintain and to demonstrate our independence. Depending on the circumstances
and the issues to be addressed, we may hold meetings in the area which can
provide opportunities for people to draw to our attention particular features or
issues which we may further investigate.

28

Page 144

6

Our information requirements

6.1

When conducting an electoral review, we aim to build a strong partnership with
the local authority under review, as a good relationship helps to facilitate a robust,
timely and efficient review which is economical in its use of resources. To this
end, we will hold meetings with the local authority chief officers, political group
leaders and full council before the review starts. We will ask the local authority for
a main contact – normally its electoral services manager – to be our main liaison
throughout the review.

6.2

In order to conduct the review effectively and thoroughly, we will require some
information before the review is commenced. This information will be used by us
and anyone wishing to get involved in the review itself, and we will publish it on
our website (if it is not otherwise publicly available). All local authorities under
review are required, under the 2009 Act, to provide us with information which is
relevant to the review. Establishing the information base at the start ensures that
the review process tests the quality of possible outcomes rather than the merits of
conflicting data. Figure 2 provides a list of the minimum information we require at
the start of the review.

Figure 2: Information required from the local authority under review prior to the
start of the review

Information required
In the case of any review requested by
a local authority, a copy of any Council
report and the minutes of meetings
relating to that request.

Format
Electronic file

Current electorate for the start of the
review. This should be listed by
division, ward, parish, parish ward and
polling district, where appropriate in the
pro forma provided by the
Commission.
NOTE: This data should give the
number of electors entitled to vote at
local government elections. The
number of people entitled to vote at UK
or European parliamentary elections
may be different.
A forecast of the local government
electorate in six years’ time. This
should be listed by division, ward,
parish, parish ward and polling district,
where appropriate in the pro forma
provided by the Commission.
NOTE: As for existing electorates, this
data should give the forecast number
of electors entitled to vote at local
government elections. Forecasts
should be accompanied by a

Excel
spreadsheets
available from
the
Commission.
Ideally data
should be
provided geocoded in a GIS
format.

Excel
spreadsheets
available from
the
Commission.
Ideally data
should be
provided geocoded in a GIS
format.

29

Page 145

Reason
In order that we – and anyone
else wishing to contribute to
the review – can see the
reasoning by which the council
has formulated its request.
In order that we – and
anyone else wishing to
contribute to the review –
are working to the same set of
electoral data

In order that we – and anyone
else wishing to contribute to
the review –
are working to the same set of
electoral data

description of the forecasting method
used, any assumptions made. Where
future housing development is
expected to have an impact on the size
of the electorate, we should have a list
of the sites of that development and
each site’s capacity. Furthermore,
information as to the stage in the
planning process a specific
development site has reached (i.e
outline/full planning permission
granted, work commenced, etc)
Electoral register
The local
authority’s
chosen secured
electronic
format. Ideally
with names
removed

A complete list of all parishes in the
district/county, indicating the electoral
year(s) of each parish or town council,
which parishes do not have a council
and those parishes that are grouped
under a common parish council
Maps of the local authority,
including maps of each division, ward,
parish, parish ward, polling district,
topographical maps which match the
electoral register. Ideally, the electoral
register should be geo-coded for the
purposes of mapping. Any other
mapping the local authority considers
relevant (such as community maps,
catchments, or travel-to-work patterns).
Comprehensive mailing list of
community groups, partners and usual
stakeholders, including parish and
town councils, residents associations,
community groups etc.
Neighbourhood/community
governance arrangements

In order that we can verify
electoral figures and consider
the impact of warding
proposals which cross polling
district boundaries. Any
electoral registers now
received should include a
standardised address, but most
importantly they should include
a UPRN (Unique property
reference number) which can
be used to map the electoral
registers in GIS format.

Electronic file

NOTE: we will not make the
electoral register publicly
available
For the order-making process

In GIS format,
if available

As a resource for us and local
people to use

Electronic
mergable list.

In order that we can inform all
relevant bodies about the
review, and encourage
them to participate or
publicise further
For us to confirm or
otherwise any evidence put to
us on the basis of
community identity

Electronic file

30

Page 146

Political management arrangements of
the council (or proposed arrangements
for any new local authority)
Latest Annual Management Letter
produced by the council’s external
auditor
Copy of any peer review report
produced in the last three years

Electronic file

Electronic file

Electronic file

Copy of any corporate
Electronic file
governance review produced in the last
three years
Performance statistics relating to
Electronic file
planning and licensing functions
One copy of every local order made
under the Local Government and
Public Involvement in Health Act 2007
concerning changes to ward or division
names
One copy of every local order made by
the council under the Local
Government Act 1972, the Local
Government and Rating Act 1997 or
the 2007 Act concerning parishes,
parish names, parish wards, parish
councillors, parish councils, and parish
elections and every resolution passed
by the
council under section 75 of the 1972
Act and section 32 of the 2007 Act
Evidence to support the name of the
authority if it does not follow the
formula specified in section 2(3) of the
1972 Act

Electronic file

As a resource for us when
considering arguments
regarding council size
As a resource for us when
considering arguments
regarding council size
As a resource for us when
considering arguments
regarding council size
As a resource for us when
considering arguments
regarding council size
As a resource for us when
considering arguments
regarding council size
As a resource for us to
refer to

Electronic file

As a resource for us to
refer to and for the ordermaking process

Electronic file

For the order-making
process

31

Page 147

7

Implications for parishes

7.1

We are able to make recommendations for changes to parish electoral
arrangements (i.e. the number of councillors for the parish and for each parish
ward, and the number, names and boundaries of parish wards) as part of an
electoral review. However, this is restricted to parish councils that are directly
affected by our recommendations for changes to district wards and/or county
divisions. We cannot make recommendations to create, abolish or amend the
external boundaries of parishes, even if those boundaries are between parishes
grouped under a common parish council.

7.2

In those circumstances where we do make recommendations affecting parish
electoral arrangements, we will not normally propose changes to the total number
of councillors to be elected to a parish, town, village neighbourhood or community
council or any grouping of such councils. We believe that this is a matter which is
best determined locally by a Community Governance Review.

7.3

Under the provisions of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health
Act 2007, local authorities have the power to conduct and implement community
governance reviews for the creation, abolition and alteration of parish areas. They
may also make changes to parish electoral arrangements. Subject to certain
conditions, local people, by raising a petition, can require that their local authority
carries out a Community Governance Review.

7.4

We will not normally recommend the creation of parish wards that contain no or
very few electors (less than a hundred) unless it can be demonstrated to us that,
within a short period of time, there will be sufficient electors as to warrant the
election of at least one parish councillor. This is because each parish ward must
by statute return at least one parish councillor. To do so, there must be a
reasonable number of local government electors in the parish ward to make the
election of a councillor viable.

7.5

Nor will we normally recommend any changes to the total number of parish
councillors to be elected. Our view is that changes to the number of councillors
to be elected to a parish or town council are best considered locally, though a
Community Governance Review conducted by the relevant local authority.

7.6

Unlike district, borough and county councils, when recommending parish warding
arrangements there is no requirement in legislation for us to provide for electoral
equality.

7.7

Where a council elects by thirds or by halves it may be necessary to alter parish
electoral cycles to ensure that parish elections occur in the same years as district
elections in the associated district wards.

7.8

The importance of parishes should not be underestimated given that, where they
exist, we will seek to use them as the building blocks for wards or divisions. In
light of this, it is important that where any council’s review parish arrangements is
to be undertaken, the order implementing any external boundary changes is
made before we commence an electoral review of the area.

7.9

Very exceptionally, it may be appropriate for a local authority to undertake
community governance review at the same time as an electoral review of the
area is being conducted. However, this can cause administrative difficulties for us
and confusion for the local people affected, and any authority contemplating this
approach is strongly advised to discuss with us in advance.
32

Page 148

7.10

Depending on the outcome of a community governance review, the authority may
also recommend consequential changes to the boundaries of district wards and
county electoral divisions. We are responsible for considering and implementing
any such consequential changes, even if the area in question is not part of our
established review programme. We have published joint guidance with the
Department for Communities and Local Government on the conduct of
community governance reviews.

7.11

Parish and town councils are invited to comment on proposals for changes to
district or county council electoral arrangements. Their involvement in the
electoral review process is valuable, and district and county councils are
reminded of the importance of consulting the parish and town councils and parish
meetings in their area, and to encourage their active participation. Whenever we
have to split a parish into parish wards we particularly welcome the views of the
parish on the appropriate number of parish councillors for each of those parish
wards. Dealing with this as part of the electoral review may help save the
expense of a community governance review of the parish. We write to every
parish, town or community council as part of our normal process in each electoral
review. We encourage common parish councils to ensure that every parish in
their group can contribute to the parish council’s reply.

7.12

Particularly in rural areas, parishes often represent separate local identities and
because of this, grouping parishes with similar interests to form a district ward will
meet opposition in certain circumstances. For example, two parishes within a
National Park area might share a common interest, but not necessarily an
identity. In practice, however, it is inevitable that sometimes parishes will have to
be brought together, sometimes against their wishes, to form a district ward. In
some cases it might also be necessary to establish new parish or town wards, not
necessarily with the blessing of the councils concerned, in order to facilitate new
district ward boundaries.

33

Page 149

8

What happens when we complete a review?

8.1

The publication of our final recommendations marks the end of the electoral
review process. Our recommendations will be published locally and on our
website for anyone to read. There is no provision in legislation for representations
to be made on our final recommendations.

8.2

Once our final recommendations have been published, we need to make
preparations for the legal order to put them into effect. We will prepare a draft
order. It should be noted that we cannot make changes of substance to our final
recommendations which must be replicated in the order. The final
recommendations mapping that will be used as the basis of the map that will be
referred to by the order (the order map). The order map will only show new
district ward or county divisions and parish ward names and boundaries, and any
existing county or district and parish and parish ward names that we do not
propose to change. Our reference to those unchanged name and boundaries
should be supported by evidence such as previous orders. Council staff are
therefore strongly advised to provide copies of all orders and order maps that
they have relating to current parish and parish ward names and boundaries (see
chapter 6, Figure 2).

8.3

We will make arrangements for the draft order to be laid in the name of the
Speaker of the House of Commons before both Houses of Parliament. It will then
be subject to what is called the draft negative resolution procedure. This means
that we can only confirm the order after it has been before each house for 40
sitting days (the House of Lords and the House of Commons may have different
sitting days). Draft orders can be prayed against in either House. In such an
event, a debate on the order may take place. If a debate on a draft order is lost,
the order will not be made; there is no provision for Parliament to modify the
order.

8.4

All orders will come into force at whole-council elections. In January 2013 the
Parliamentary Under Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government
advised local authorities that elections may be brought forward from the next
normal year of election in order to shorten timescales for the implementation of
final recommendations of an electoral review. This means that elections could
take place on the first normal local polling day after the making of an order to
implement the final recommendations of an electoral review. This will normally be
the first Thursday in May but when local elections are combined with others, may
be on a later date.

8.5

District councils that elect by halves or by thirds will return to their normal
electoral cycles as soon as possible afterwards but no district elections will be
held in a year in which they are not normally held. It may be necessary to alter
the years of parish elections to ensure that parish elections are held in the same
years as district elections in associated district wards.

34

Page 150

9

Frequently Asked Questions

Is the Local Government Boundary Commission for England affiliated to any
political party or Government department?
No. We are a completely independent body, and are not part of a Government
department. Commission members are not permitted to conduct any political activity or
have any party affiliation.
Will an electoral review affect my house value, council tax, insurance premium,
stamp duty, postcode, school catchment area or hospital?
No. The review is concerned with electoral matters only; all the above factors are
decided by other organisations or factors.
Will an electoral review affect who I can vote for?
Yes. The review will determine your ward or division and, in some cases, your parish
ward and you can only vote for candidates who stand for election in those electoral
areas. It is for the local political organisations, however, to decide who they want to
stand as their candidate in any particular ward or for individuals to stand as independent
candidates.
Will an electoral review affect the polling station I can vote at?
It may do. Following the making of our order, your council will need to redefine its polling
districts, then identify the most appropriate polling station for each polling district.
Councils are already under a statutory obligation to review polling districts and places at
regular intervals.
Will an electoral review affect the dates or years of elections?
We can only implement new electoral arrangements in the authority’s normal year of
election. However, we can make necessary changes to the years in which parish and
town council elections take place to ensure that they do so in the same years as district
elections in associated district wards. The Secretary of State has separate powers to
alter when local elections take place.
My ward is not changing so why do we need an election? Can we not just make
the change at a by-election?
We believe that a fresh mandate is necessary for a council that has had an electoral
review. Also, even if a new ward has the same boundaries as an old ward, the new ward
may return a different share of the total number of councillors on the council. Therefore,
we will abolish all of the existing wards and establish new ones that will come into force
at a whole-council election.
When the wards are changed what happens to the county division and
parliamentary constituency boundaries?
Each review will be of one local authority and we will only look at the electoral
arrangements of that authority. Consequently, if we are reviewing a district we will not be
altering any county division boundaries, and vice versa. We have no involvement with
parliamentary constituency boundaries, which are reviewed by the Boundary
Commission for England – a separate body.

35

Page 151

When will the changes to district or county electoral arrangements, i.e. wards or
divisions and numbers of councillors, come into force?
As soon as practicable at an election of the whole district or county council. If the district
normally elects by halves or by thirds there will be a whole-council election to bring the
new wards into force, but they will return the district council to elections by halves or by
thirds, as soon as practicable afterwards.
When will the changes to parish electoral arrangements, i.e. parish wards and
numbers of parish councillors, come into force?
At the next scheduled whole-council elections in the relevant parishes, unless we decide
that there can be whole-council elections in those parishes before those scheduled
elections. Parish electoral arrangements come into force at the same time as county or
district electoral arrangements only if the parish elections take place at the same time as
the county or district elections.
Can the external boundaries of the parish, district or county change?
Not as part of an electoral review. For parish boundary changes, the local district council
can conduct a review and implement the recommendations, under the provisions of the
Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007. We can conduct
boundary reviews of district or county councils, either at the request of the Secretary of
State, at the request of the relevant authority or if we identify boundary anomalies which
in our view warrant a review.
Can I see the boundaries proposed in your mapping more clearly?
We suggest that you view them on the webpage for your review at:
https://consultation.lgbce.org.uk/node
This site enables you to zoom in on the maps to see more detail than you can see on
the printed versions. You may find it helpful to compare our draft and final
recommendations maps with the current electoral boundaries. We will provide councils
with mapping data files for use with Geographic Information Systems (GIS). We will also
provide these files on request to other organisations which are party to the Public Sector
Mapping Agreement (PSMA).

36

Page 152

Appendix A: Glossary
Community governance review: The process by which a principal local authority reviews
and makes changes to the boundaries and electoral arrangements of parishes.
Coterminosity: geographical areas identified for different purposes but having the same
boundaries. This also applies where a group of areas defined for one purpose, when
taken together, have the same external boundary as a larger area defined for another
purpose (sometimes known as ‘nesting’).
Council size: the total number of elected representatives. Where a principal local
authority has an elected mayor, the mayor is counted in total council size but is not
counted in the total number of members for the determination of average electoral ratio.
Divisions: the electoral areas of a county council.
Elections by halves: elections every two years for half of a council’s members at a time.
Elections by thirds: elections in three years out of four for a third (or as near as possible)
of a council’s members at a time.
Electoral arrangements:
•
•
•
•

the
the
the
the

total number of councillors to be elected to the council;
number and boundaries of wards or divisions;
number of councillors to be elected for each ward or division; and
name of any ward or division.

Electoral equality: Every vote has the same weight: each councillor represents a similar
number of electors or in a council in which not all wards have the same number of
councillors, an appropriate multiple. For example, in a council which has a singlemember ward and a three-member ward, there is electoral equality if there are three
times as many electors in the three member ward as there are in the single-member
ward.
Electoral imbalance: when the electoral ratio for an electoral area differs from the
average ratio for the council as a whole.
Electoral ratio: the number of electors for an area divided by the number of elected
representatives of that area.
Electoral Review: a review of the electoral arrangements of a principal local authority. A
review may result in changes to none, some or all of the electoral arrangements of that
authority.
Further electoral reviews: an electoral review of a principal local authority.
GIS: Geographic Information System: Computer-based systems for storing, viewing,
reproducing and altering maps.

37

Page 153

Multi-member wards (or divisions): An electoral area in which people may vote for, and
be represented by, more than one councillor (those people will also be entitled to vote
for an elected mayor of an authority that has chosen that form of administration).
Order: See Statutory Instrument or order
Parish: In England a civil parish (usually just parish) is the smallest area used for local
government. It has a boundary which the Commission cannot change. It may or may not
have a parish council. Some parishes have a town council. Civil parishes are not
necessarily connected to areas defined for ecclesiastical purposes.
Periodic electoral reviews: a programme of reviews of the electoral arrangements of all
of the principal local authorities in England.
Polling district: An area defined for the convenient localisation of polling places.
Principal Area Boundary Reviews (PABRs): A review of the boundary between two or
more principal local authorities. A review may or may not lead to the change of a
boundary. The Commission can make recommendations about boundary changes to the
Secretary of State who has the power to implement them by order.
Principal local authorities: County, district or London borough councils or the Council of
the Isles of Scilly. Some district councils are officially called Borough or City councils.
Single-member wards (or divisions): An electoral area in which people may vote for, and
be represented by, more than one councillor (those people will also be entitled to vote
for an elected mayor of an authority that has chosen that form of administration).
Statutory Instrument or order: A form of legislation. The LGBCE’s responsibility for
making statutory instruments has been assigned by Parliament in an Act.
Two-tier local government: The responsibilities of principal local authorities are carried
out by a county council and by a district council. There may also be parish councils in
two-tier areas.
Unitary local government: The responsibilities of principal local authorities are carried out
by a single council. There may also be parish councils in unitary areas.
Wards: the electoral areas of a district council or, where a parish is subdivided, the
electoral areas of a parish council.
Whole-council elections: the election once every four years of all of a council’s members
at the same time.

38

Page 154

Appendix B: Resources
This page contains links to a number of resources which those participating in an
electoral review may need. The text contains hyperlinks for those accessing the
document through our website.
Our website:
www.lgbce.org.uk
Our consultation portal
https://consultation.lgbce.org.uk/node
Representations and submissions to the Commission on electoral reviews.
By visiting our website, you can find and view submissions and representations already
made to the Commission about the review of your area or any other.
About electoral reviews:
http://www.lgbce.org.uk/about-us/about-reviews/about-electoral-reviews
On this page, you can find links to this guidance, and the spreadsheets that we ask local
authorities to complete at the start of the review.
Practitioners’ guide to electorate forecasting
http://www.lgbce.org.uk/__documents/lgbce/guidance-policy-andpublications/guidance/electorate-forecasts-guidance-2012.pdf
Community identity literature review and analysis:
http://www.lgbce.org.uk/__documents/lgbce/guidance-policy-andpublications/guidance/communityidentityfinalreport12april2005_18260-13469__e__.pdf
You can find the legislation referred to throughout this document at the following
links.
The Local Government Act 1972:
http://www.opsi.gov.uk/RevisedStatutes/Acts/ukpga/1972/cukpga_19720070_en_1
The Local Government Act 2000:
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/22/contents
The Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007:
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2007/28/contents
Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009:
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2009/20/contents
Localism Act 2011
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/contents/enacted

39

Page 155

Appendix C
The following paper is the briefing we circulate to local authorities to assist them in their
consideration of council size. It gives details of the kind of evidence the Commission is
seeking in its deliberation on the most appropriate number of councillors to serve the
authority in the future.

40

Page 156

Council size
Helping you make the strongest possible case to the Commission

• A guide for local authority elected members and staff

41

Page 157

About this briefing
The first part of every electoral review is a consideration of council size. The
Commission’s preference is to base its council size decisions on the consideration of
locally-generated proposals which are underpinned by sound evidence and reasoning.
This is as true of proposals for retaining existing council size as it is for proposals to
change council size.
This briefing is designed to assist members and staff of local authorities who are
preparing submissions to the Local Government Boundary Commission for England on
council size (the total number of councillors who represent the local authority) as part of
an electoral review.
The note indicates the kinds of issues the Commission will consider in its deliberations
on council size and should assist you in making the strongest possible representation to
us.

Background
Before the Commission considers possible changes to ward boundaries, we will initiate
discussions with the local authority about its views on council size and invite written
evidence during a preliminary phase of the review.
Once we have considered this evidence, we will publish a decision on the future size of
the council before starting our work on ward or electoral division boundaries.

Preparing your council size submission
The Commission has no preconceptions about the right number of councillors to
represent an authority. We recognise that every local authority will represent local
people and deliver services in different ways. We therefore make recommendations on
the basis of the evidence we receive during the electoral review.
The Commission aims to recommend a council size that allows the council to take
decisions effectively, manage the business and responsibilities of the council
successfully, and provide effective community leadership and representation.
We will always seek to propose a council size which is appropriate for the individual
characteristics of the local authority in question, whether that would involve an increase,
decrease or no change to the existing arrangements. However, we will also seek to put
the council’s proposal in context. To provide context to the authority’s proposal on
council size, we will refer to the Nearest Neighbours model prepared and published by
the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) which can be found
at:
www.cipfastats.net/resources/nearestneighbours/profile.asp?view=select&dataset
=england
We will identify the authority’s 15 Nearest Neighbours authorities amongst the following
groups: London boroughs, metropolitan districts, unitary districts, unitary county
councils, two-tier county councils, and two-tier district councils. We will then assess
where the council size proposal would place the authority compared to its statistical
neighbours.

42

Page 158

In cases where the authority’s proposal would mean its council size differs to a
significant extent from similar authorities, we will require particularly strong evidence,
based on the areas set out in this guidance. In a small number of cases, retention of the
existing council size will require a strong case to be made before the Commission makes
a recommendation on council size.
In the rare cases where we do not believe the council has made a sufficiently strong
case to adopt a council size which is significantly different from its nearest neighbours,
we will seek to recommend a council size which is nearer to that of other authorities
within the relevant CIPFA grouping.
Where final recommendations of an electoral review of a council in the comparison
group have been published, we will use that council size figure as the basis for the
analysis. Council size figures can be found for all authorities on our website at:
www.lgbce.org.uk/records-and-resources/local-authorities-in-england

Whilst it might appear simplest to retain the current council size, the Commission does
not consider this is, in itself, a compelling reason to maintain the existing arrangements.
Similarly, an increase in council size due, for example, solely to reflect population growth
or a reduction in numbers solely to achieve financial savings are both arguments that
have previously failed to satisfy the Commission that such changes would promote
effective and convenient local government.
Instead, the Commission will form its view about the right council size for an authority by
considering three areas:

•

We will look at the governance arrangements of the council and how it takes
decisions across the broad range of its responsibilities.

•

The Commission will look at the council’s scrutiny functions relating to its own
decision making and the council’s responsibilities to outside bodies.

•

We will also consider the representational role of councillors in the local
community and how they engage with people, conduct casework and represent
the council on local partner organisations.

The questions outlined below are the kinds of matters the Commission considers before
reaching a decision on council size. In doing so, we recognise that each area has its
own geographical, community and organisational characteristics.
Accordingly, some of the questions, and prompts, may not be appropriate to the
circumstances of your council or the area you serve. You should think of them as a
range of considerations that will help lead you to identify the appropriate number of
councillors for your area. They are also intended to help you and present to us a clear
reasoning for the number you suggest.
This is not an exhaustive list and the Commission will consider any further issues you
wish to raise. We do not expect local authorities to provide lengthy responses to every
question (or necessarily even respond directly to all of the questions) and you can set
out your submission in any way you wish.
Finally, you should consider the questions not simply in the context of the council’s
current arrangements, but also likely future trends or plans. In every review it carries out,
43

Page 159

the Commission aims to ensure its recommendations remain relevant for the long term.
As such, councils are advised to give consideration to Part Four of this guide (The
Future) in its responses to all the other sections.
We hope these questions and prompts will help guide your thinking on this important
issue.

Part One: governance and decision making
The Commission aims to ensure that councils have the right number of
councillors to take decisions and manage their business in an effective way. We
therefore look at how decisions are taken across the authority to assess the
volume and distribution of responsibility amongst elected members and staff.
Leadership:
•

What kind of governance arrangements are in place for your authority? Does the
council operate an executive mayoral, Cabinet/Executive or committee system?

•

How many portfolios are there?

•

To what extent are decisions delegated to portfolio holders or are most decisions
taken by the full Executive and/or Mayor?

•

Do Executive (or other) members serve on other decision making partnerships,
sub-regional, regional or national bodies?

•

In general, are leadership and/or portfolio roles considered to be full time roles?

In looking at these matters, the Commission is trying to determine how work and
responsibilities are distributed across the council. For example, how many councillors
are involved in taking major decisions on behalf of the authority and what is the volume
of those responsibilities? What does being a portfolio holder actually involve and what
responsibilities are delegated to officers, other members of the council or other
committees? Overall, want to assess the role councillors play at every level of decision
making at the council.
Evidence could be provided, for example, about the official/constitutional responsibilities
of portfolio holders and/or a description of the day-to-day management of the council.

Regulatory:
•

In relation to licensing, planning and other regulatory responsibilities, to what
extent are decisions delegated to officers?

•

How many members are involved in committees?

•

Is committee membership standing or rotating?

•

Are meetings ad hoc, frequent and/or area based?
44

Page 160

•

What level of attendance is achieved? Are meetings always quorate?

•

Does the council believe that changes to legislation, national or local policy will
have influence the workload of committees and their members which would have
an impact on council size?

Evidence of the level of delegation to officers of quasi-judicial and other decisions helps
the Commission understand how many councillors might be required overall to deliver
effective and convenient local government. You may wish to refer to the authority’s
policy on delegation and statistical evidence relating to the number of decisions taken by
committees and/or individuals. This is an important issue for the Commission as filling
committee places and being able to discharge regulatory responsibilities are relevant
factors in determining council size.
The Commission is also interested in evidence that demonstrates trends in the workload
and what your expectations are for the future. Reference to changing national policies
and frameworks may influence the level of work you will expect of elected members in
the future.

Demands on time:
• Is there a formal role description for councillors in your authority?
• Do councillors receive formal training for all or any roles at the council?
• Do councillors generally find that the time they spend on council business is what
they expected?
• How much time do members generally spend on the business of your council?
• Does the council appoint members to outside bodies? If so, how many councillors are
involved in this activity and what is their expected workload?
• Does the council attract and retain members?
• Have there been any instances where the council has been unable to discharge its
duties due to a lack of councillors?
• Do councillors have an individual or ward budget for allocation in their area? If so,
how is such a system administered?

45

Page 161

The Commission is interested in the time and commitment pressures on elected
members and how they might relate to the number of councillors required in the future to
deliver effective and convenient local government. We are also interested know whether
these commitments are increasing or decreasing.
Evidence to support views here might include any peer review activity undertaken
recently or feedback provided directly by members. Similarly, member development
programmes might be useful in illustrating your point of view.
The issues raised in Part One of this guide will help you to make a judgement on the
number of councillors required to discharge decision making responsibilities in an
effective way. This forms a useful starting point in your overall assessment on council
size.

Part Two: scrutiny functions
Every council has mechanisms to scrutinise the executive functions of the council
and other local bodies. They also have significant discretion over the kind (and
extent) of activities involved in that process. In considering council size, the
Commission will want to satisfy itself that these responsibilities can be
administered in a convenient and effective way through the number of councillors
it recommends.
•

How do scrutiny arrangements operate in the authority? How many committees
are there and what is their membership?

•

What is the general workload of scrutiny committees? Has the council ever found
that it has had too many active projects for the scrutiny process to function
effectively?

•

How is the work of scrutiny committee programmed? Is the work strictly
timetabled?

•

What activities are scrutiny committee members expected to carry out between
formal meetings?

Evidence might include the practical role members play in scrutiny work and the
activities and time commitment given to projects or commitments on outside bodies. A
description of the kind of support members generally receive from staff as part of
committee work (e.g. preparation of reports) will be helpful to the Commission in
understanding the impact of scrutiny on the overall number of councillors needed to
deliver effective and convenient local government.

The issues discussed in Part Two, combined with the conclusions you drew in Part One
of your considerations should help identify number of councillors required not only to
take decisions effectively but to ensure that the council is able to support its scrutiny
functions and the other responsibilities councillors will have on bodies outside the
council.

46

Page 162

Part Three: representational role of councillors
The Commission understands that there is no single approach to representation
and members will represent and provide leadership to their communities in
different ways. However, we are interested in hearing about the extent to which
members are routinely expected to engage with communities and how this affects
workload and responsibilities. In particular, if the council has defined a role for
elected members, the Commission would find that evidence interesting.
• In general terms, how do councillors carry out their representational roles with
electors? Do members mainly respond casework from constituents or do they have a
more active role in the community?
• How do councillors generally deal with casework? Do they pass on issues directly to
staff or do they take a more in depth approach to resolving issues?
• What support do councillors receive in discharging their duties in relation to casework
and representational role in their ward?
• How do councillors engage with constituents? Do they hold surgeries, distribute
newsletters, hold public meetings, write blogs etc?
• How has the role of councillors changed since the council last considered how many
elected members it should have?

47

Page 163

• Has the council put in place any mechanisms for councillors to interact with young
people, those not on the electoral register or minority groups or their representative
bodies?
•

Are councillors expected to attend meetings of community bodies such as parish
councils or residents associations? If so, what is the level of their involvement and
what role are they expected to play?

The Commission is interested in assessing what impact the number of councillors might
have on the way local communities are represented. How much time do councillors
spend on casework and ward activities in general and what support networks exist in the
council to help them discharge their duties?
You should now consider what impact the representational role of members of the
authority has on the conclusions you drew in the first two parts of this guide. Your
judgement should be a realistic reflection of councillors’ roles in their communities and
may, or may not, increase the number your came to after Part One and Part Two of this
guide.

Part Four: the future
The Commission understands that the role of local authorities is constantly
changing. In particular, changes such as the introduction of elected mayors in
some parts of England have significantly altered the nature of decision making
and role of elected members. Equally, many local authorities have not seriously
considered the size of their council since the introduction of Executive/Scrutiny
functions over a decade ago. We are aware that a number of local authorities have
changed or intend to change their governance arrangements by reverting from
executive and scrutiny models to committee administrations. The pace of change
for authorities is likely to continue into the foreseeable future. That is why you
should consider future trends and developments when coming to conclusions on
council size.
In Parts One - Three, we set out a number of questions about how the council and
councillors currently operate. If proposing a change in council size, we would also be
interested in knowing what changes might be made to current arrangements, which
might affect the number of councillors needed.
In particular:
Localism and policy development
• What impact do you think the localism agenda might have on the scope and conduct
of council business and how do you think this might affect the role of councillors?
• Does the council have any plans to devolve responsibilities and/or assets to
community organisations? Or does the council expect to take on more
responsibilities in the medium to long term?

48

Page 164

Service delivery
• Have changes to the arrangements for local delivery of services led to significant
changes to councillors’ workloads? (For example, control of housing stock or
sharing services with neighbouring authorities).
• Are there any developments in policy ongoing that might significantly affect the role of
elected members in the future?
Finance
• What has been the impact of recent financial constraints on the council’s activities?
Would a reduction in the scope and/or scale of council business warrant a reduction
in the number of councillors?
• If you are proposing a reduction in the number of councillors for your authority, to
what extent is this a reflection of reduced activity of the council overall, an
anticipation of efficiency plans or a statement to local people? Or none of these
things?

The Commission aims to recommend electoral arrangements – including council size –
that will deliver convenient and effective local government for the long term. It is
therefore important that the overall number of councillors you propose will be right for
your authority in the future. It could mean that the number you put to the Commission is
different from the analysis you built up in the first three parts of this guide. Provided you
have firm evidence and a strong rationale for such a difference, the Commission will give
it serious consideration.
The Commission is interested in hearing firm plans for the future and evidence of trends
that may affect the number of councillors required. Observations on possible
developments are less likely to be persuasive.

Further reading
You may find it helpful to read the Commission’s technical guidance on electoral reviews
which covers our policy towards council size and the rest of the electoral review process.
This can be found on our website at www.lgbce.org.uk/guidance-policy-andpublications/guidance
The Commission also produces guidance aimed at members of the public who wish to
engage with the electoral review process. This is also available on our website.
The Commission publishes all submissions it receives throughout an electoral review.
Our website therefore includes previous examples of council size submissions made by
local authorities across England. Our staff will also be able to advise you on previous
submissions that you might find interesting.

49

Page 165

Local Government Boundary Commission for England
Layden House
76–86 Turnmill Street
London
EC1M 5LG
Tel: 020 7664 8534
info@lgbce.org.uk
www.lgbce.org.uk
The Local Government Boundary Commission for England (LGBCE) is an
independent body set up by Parliament in April 2010. It is independent of
Government and political parties, and is directly accountable to Parliament
through a committee chaired by the Speaker of the House of Commons. It
is responsible for conducting boundary, electoral and structural reviews of
local government areas.

Page 166

Appendix

Local Government Boundary Commission for England

Council Size
Guidance
A guide to making a strong submission

Page 167

Contents
Introduction ................................................................................................................ 2
What is Council Size? ................................................................................................ 2
General Principles ...................................................................................................... 2
Approach .................................................................................................................... 4
Multiple Submissions and Balancing the Evidence .................................................... 5
Making a Submission ................................................................................................. 5

Page | 1
Page 168

Introduction
1. This guidance will assist interested parties in preparing their submission on
council size to the Local Government Boundary Commission for England (‘the
Commission’) as part of the electoral review process. It highlights the range of
issues that the Commission considers when determining council size and will
help councillors, officers and others in making strong and well-evidenced
submissions.
2. The starting point for every review is to decide the appropriate number of
councillors for the authority. While the final decision on council size rests with the
Commission, its approach has always been one of dialogue with each council
that it reviews. The Commission’s view is that a ‘good’ review is one where the
local authority actively engages with the process. Ideally, the Commission’s
decision will be informed by locally generated proposals and underpinned by
sound evidence and reasoning.

What is Council Size?
3. The Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 20091 (‘the
2009 Act’) gives the Commission the power to review the electoral arrangements
of all, or any, principal councils in England.
4. The legislation states that ‘the total number of members of the council’ forms part
of an authority’s electoral arrangements. The Commission refers to this more
simply as ‘council size’. The legislation does not set out how many members (or
councillors) each authority (or type of authority) will have. It is the Commission’s
responsibility to determine the appropriate number of councillors for each
authority.
5. The Commission will always recommend a council size that, in its judgement,
enables the council to take its decisions effectively, to discharge the business
and responsibilities of the council successfully, and to provide for effective
community leadership and representation.

General Principles
6. The Commission recognises that there is considerable variation in council size
across England, not only between different types of local authority – metropolitan,
unitary, shire district and county councils, and London boroughs – but also
between authorities of the same type.
7. In the Commission’s opinion, local government is as diverse as the communities
it serves – providing leadership, services and representation suited to the
characteristics and needs of individual areas. The Commission aims to
recommend electoral arrangements, including council size, which are appropriate
for the particular local authority.
1

Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009, s.55–9
www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2009/20/pdfs/ukpga_20090020_en.pdf

Page | 2
Page 169

8. The way in which local authorities conduct their business and provide for the
effective representation of their electorate has changed considerably over recent
decades. The implementation of the Local Government Act 2000 (‘the 2000 Act’)
saw most local authorities change how they made decisions and operate.
Similarly, subsequent legislation, including the Local Government and Public
Involvement in Health Act 2007 and the Localism Act 2011, introduced further
opportunities for local government to modify governance and management
arrangements. In addition, partnership working, developments in service delivery,
and digital working have also impacted on local authorities.
9. Many local authorities have not, or have only slightly, modified their number of
elected members since they were established several decades ago. This is not to
imply that current numbers are inappropriate but, rather than simply assuming
that the existing numbers remain appropriate, the Commission recommends that
councils think afresh about the matter.
10. An electoral review provides the opportunity for respondents to think carefully
about current arrangements in the context of modern governance and service
delivery needs; and what these mean for the future in terms of the number of
elected members.
11. The Commission wants to see evidence that several different council size options
have been explored together with the reasons why a particular figure has, or has
not, been selected. This should be done irrespective of whether the respondent
arrives at the same or a different number of elected members. The most
persuasive submissions are those which, rather than considering whether the
current number ought not to be changed, reflect on what number of councillors
would be required if the council was being newly established.
12. The Commission does not recommend that any submissions made on council
size need to be particularly long. However, submissions should be made on the
Commission’s Council Size Submission Template and demonstrate careful
thinking about the issues. Electoral reviews take place infrequently and the
Commission wants local authorities to take the opportunity to ask themselves
questions about the important roles of councillors in providing leadership,
securing accountability and offering community leadership.
13. The Commission seeks to understand elected member requirements across
three aspects:
•

Strategic Leadership – how many councillors are needed to give
strategic leadership and direction to the authority?

•

Accountability
• Scrutiny – how many councillors are needed to provide scrutiny to
the authority?
• Regulatory – how many councillors are needed to meet the
regulatory requirements of the authority?

Page | 3
Page 170

•
•

Partnerships – how many councillors are required to manage
partnerships between the local authority and other organisations?

Community Leadership – how the representational role of councillors in
the local community is discharged and how they engage with people and
conduct casework.

14. In every review, the Commission will make recommendations that will remain
appropriate for the medium to longer term, i.e. to recommend a council size that
delivers effective and convenient local government well after the completion of
the electoral review. Accordingly, respondents should set out their longer-term
vision for operation of the local authority.

Approach
15. The Commission must construct electoral arrangements that reflect local
circumstances, and in doing so will neithTJETapplyany strict mathTmatical criteria
nor impose a formula for the national determination of council size. It is
recommended that submissions clearly demonstrate the characteristics and
needs of each local authority, and its communities, and how such factors have
informed both the proposed and alternative council sizes considered.
16. The Commission will refer to thT CIPFA Nearest Neighbours Model for English
authorities to help understand the contextual position of the authority being
reviewed. This is a licensed2 dataset that shows groups of statistically similar
councils and allows thT Commission to identify ‘expected ranges’ for both the
number of councillors and the councillor-to-elector ratios. This expected range is
defined by an upper and lower quintile value with the median providing the
midpoint figure. The data help the Commission understand how the authority
under review compares with its nearest neighbours and, on occasion to query
proposals that appear unexpected when compared with similar authorities.
17. Local authorities should be mindful of the overall appropriateness of the proposed
council sizes in terms of governance, specifically in ensuring that an authority is
neithTJETtoo small to discharge its statutory functionsnor too large to function in an
effective manner and with purposeful roles for all elected members. Accordingly,
whilst recognising that such thresholds might vary depending on the type of local
authority and its specific setting, the Commission will look for particularly strong
evidence in support of proposals that place the authority amongst the highest and
lowest levels of similar councils nationwide, especially where authorities would be
below 30 or exceed 85 councillors in size.
18. The Commission’s decision about an authority’s council size will mark the formal
start to the review process. However, the Commission’s decision on council size
will not be formalised until the Final Recommendations are agreed and published.
This is because the number of councillors may change marginally (generally ±1)
2

Under the terms of thT data licence the Commission is unable to share the CIPFA Nearest
Neighbour Model externally although some authorities will have access to the groupings through their
own licences. The ‘expected ranges’, however, will be made available.

Page | 4
Page 171

from the initial decision if it is felt that modifying the number of councillors may
provide for a pattern of wards that better reflects the three statutory criteria.
19. The Final Recommendations describe the complete set of electoral
arrangements, including ward names and locations as well as the number of
elected members, alongside parish warding arrangements. These
recommendations will be implemented at the next election by means of an Order
laid before Parliament.

Multiple Submissions and Balancing the Evidence
20. Political (or other) groups may present their own submissions to the Commission
either alongside or as an alternative to the council’s formal submission. It is
recommended that all submissions are underpinned by sound evidence and
reasoning whether they propose to reduce, retain or increase councillor numbers.
21. All submissions will be considered equally, and decisions will be made based on
the strength of evidence put forward.
22. Where the Commission receives multiple finely balanced proposals, or a
single poorly evidenced case, it may request further information from the
respondents. If further information is not forthcoming, the Commission
reserves the right to put forward its own number based on its own
experience and judgement. It may also choose to carry out a period of
consultation.

Making a Submission
23. All submissions made to the Commission will follow the ‘Council Size
Submission’ template. This template presents a broad set of issues for
respondents to consider; however, the Commission does not require lengthy
responses to every section. The Commission recommends that respondents use
the opportunity to consider not just how the council works now but how it is likely
to work in the future. Submissions will explain the reasoning that underpins and
explains the proposed council size as well as describing the necessary
arrangements.
24. The submission will focus on three aspects of councillor roles: Strategic
Leadership, Accountability and Community Leadership. However, the
Commission will consider any further relevant issues raised outside of these
topics.

Page | 5
Page 172

Appendix

High Wycombe CGR papers & Shadow Authority decision 7 January 2020
https://buckinghamshire.moderngov.co.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?Id=159

Page 173

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9

Report to Standards and General Purposes Committee
Date: 2 July 2020
Reference number: TBC
Title: Inquorate Parish Councils– Procedure for Appointing Temporary Members
Author and/or contact officer: Maria Damigos Principal Solicitor and Deputy Monitoring
Officer (Aylesbury Vale team) maria.damigos@buckinghamshire.gov.uk; 07980 968875
Ward(s) affected: none specific
Recommendations: The committee is asked to:1. Confirm the adoption of the procedure set out in Appendix 1 for making
appointments to inquorate parish councils under section 91 of the Local Government
Act 1972
2. Note the making of an order under section 91 of the Local Government Act 1972 on
13 May 2020 to appoint Parish Councillors to Kingsbrook Parish Council and receive
an update on the position at Kingsbrook Parish Council.

Reason for decision: The confirmation of the adoption of the Procedure will ensure that
Buckinghamshire Council can continue to respond to situations where parish councils become
inquorate and enable this tier of local government to continue to function effectively and to
receive an update of the use of the Procedure.

Executive summary
1.1

This report seeks confirmation of the Procedure setting out how Buckinghamshire
Council will carry out its powers to appoint temporary members to inquorate parish
councils. This includes authority for the Service Director Legal and Democratic to
make Orders under the legislation.

Page 175

Content of report
1.2

A Parish Council must be quorate in order to operate and make decisions. A quorum
for parish councils is defined as being one third of its membership, but not less than
three.

1.3

There are occasions where due to resignations or lack of applications for vacancies at
an election, a parish council is unable to operate because it is inquorate. The inability
to operate will extend to making all decisions including the co-option of sufficient
councillors to fill vacancies.

1.4

Under section 91 of the Local Government Act 1972 the Council has power to make an
Order appointing temporary members to a parish council where, due to the number of
vacancies, the council cannot function. The exercise of functions in relation to parish
councils has been delegated to the Standard and General Purposes Committee.

1.5

The appointees will usually be appointed from the ward members of the principal
authority and it is good administrative practise to adopt a procedure for delegating
these appointments and the making of the necessary Order to a senior officer, so they
can be made promptly where necessary.

1.6

It was necessary for Cabinet to adopt a procedure and authorise the Deputy Chief
Executive to make such an Order in relation to Kingsbrook Parish Council as detailed
below. Accordingly, it is recommended that the procedure at Appendix 1 to make
orders under section 91 is confirmed.
Kingsbrook

1.7

Under the Aylesbury Vale (Community Governance Review) Order 2020 a new parish
of Kingsbrook was established with effect from 7 May 2020, the date the local
elections were to be held in May 2020. However, due to the emergency measures
introduced following the outbreak of coronavirus, those local elections were
postponed until May 2021. This left Kingsbrook Parish Council inquorate and unable
to function.

1.8

In order to enable Kingsbrook Parish Council to start operating, at the Cabinet meeting
on 21 April 2020, Cabinet approved the procedure set out at Appendix 1 and
authorised the Deputy Chief Executive to make an Order under section 91 to appoint a
sufficient number of parish councillors on a temporary basis to enable Kingsbrook
Parish Council to start operating.

Page 176

1.9

On 13 May 2020 an Order under section 91 was made, a copy of which is attached as
Appendix 2. The first meeting of Kingsbrook Parish Council was arranged and a cooption process commenced.

1.10

The first meeting took place on 18 June 2020 and 5 members were co-opted. The
appointments under the section 91 Order have therefore now ceased and the coopted members can now sit and make decisions as the new Parish Council which will
include the co-option of 4 further members.

Other options considered
1.11

The option of reporting each occasion where an Order under section 91 is necessary to
this Committee for a decision has been considered. Due to the frequency of
committee meetings this could however cause delay in ensuring that parish councils
can continue to operate after becoming inquorate, as would have been the case with
Kingsbrook Parish Council. As the appointment of temporary members can be
delegated to officers in consultation with Group Leaders this will ensure member
involvement in the process.

Legal and financial implications
1.12

This report relates to a statutory power in the Local Government Act 1972 which,
when exercised, results in the making of an Order. A copy of any such Order made
must be sent to the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local
Government.

1.13

There will be a cost in officer time in dealing with Orders which need to be advertised,
as well as convening initial meetings of parish councils. These will be met from the
budgets of the parish councils concerned where appropriate or from within existing
Democratic Services budgets.

Corporate implications
1.14

The Procedure and any Orders made will help to support local councils to continue to
operate and provide services to their local communities.

Consultation and communication
1.15

The Procedure incorporates consultation with Group Leaders on the appointment of
temporary councillors.

Page 177

Next steps and review
If confirmed the Procedure will continue to be used to appoint temporary members
where there is an inquorate Parish Council to ensure it can continue to operate and
provide services to local communities.

Background papers
Aylesbury Vale (Community Governance Review) Order 2020
Cabinet meeting of 21 April 2020
https://buckinghamshire.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=337&MId=547&Ver=4

Your questions and views (for key decisions)
If you have any questions about the matters contained in this report please get in
touch with the author of this report. If you have any views that you would like the
cabinet member to consider please inform the democratic services team. This can be
done by telephone 01296 382343 or email democracy@buckinghamshire.gov.uk

Page 178

Appendix

Classification: OFFICIAL

Procedure for making temporary appointments to Town and Parish Councils
Approved 21 April 2020
Confirmed

2020

This process enables Buckinghamshire Council to make an Order to appoint persons to town
and parish councils in accordance with Section 91 of the Local Government Act 1972.
1. The Clerk to a town or parish council notifies Buckinghamshire Council that their
authority is unable to operate due to being inquorate.
2. Democratic Services verifies the number of seats on that council and that it is inquorate.
They also identify the number of appointments required in order for the town or parish
council to be quorate.
3. All ward members in the ward in which the town or parish council is located will be
offered the opportunity to be appointed to the council as a temporary appointment until
such time as the vacancies are filled by election or co-option.
4. All appointments will end once sufficient members are elected or co-opted to the
council.
5. In the event that no ward member wishes to be appointed on a temporary basis, the
Service Director Legal & Democratic Services is authorised to nominate any other person
following consultation with Group Leaders.
6. All appointments will be authorised by the Service Director Legal & Democratic Services.
7. In the event that no nominations can be made, a report will be submitted to Standards
and General Purposes Committee. The Committee will then decide who they will appoint as
appropriate representatives.
8. In accordance with section 91(3) of the Local Government Act 1972 the Service Director
Legal & Democratic Services will send two copies of the order to the Secretary of State. This
will also be copied to the relevant town or parish Clerk.

Procedure for temp appts under s91 of LGA1972

Classification: OFFICIAL

Page 179

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix

Page 181

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10

Report to Standards and General Purposes
Committee
Date: 2 July 2020
Title: Work Programme for 2020-21
Author and/or contact officer: Joanna Swift Deputy Monitoring Officer (CSB Team)
Ward(s) affected: None specific
Recommendation:
The Committee is asked to consider and agree the draft work programme appended to
this report subject to any amendments or additions proposed by members
Reason for decision: To guide the work of the Committee over the forthcoming year

Content of report
1.1

The Committee has responsibility for overseeing and developing the Council’s code
of conduct for members which was adopted by the Shadow Authority on 27 February
2020 in Part H of the Constitution. The Council’s duty to promote and maintain high
standards of conduct by its members under section 27 of the Localism Act 2011 is
also delegated to the Committee. This includes monitoring the operation of the code
and complaints procedure, overseeing the appointment of Independent Persons,
providing general guidance and arranging training for members on the code and
standards matters and supporting the role of the Monitoring Officer in respect of
standards of conduct.

1.2

The Committee has oversight of other council protocols such as the Planning
Protocol, the Protocol on Member/Officer Relations and the arrangements for
recording the receipt of gifts and hospitality. Again these were included in the
Constitution adopted by the Shadow Authority on 27 February. The Committee also
has a role in considering reports issued by the Local Government Ombudsman into
complaints of maladministration.

Page 183

1.3

The exercise of statutory functions in relation to electoral arrangements falls to the
Committee, as well as undertaking community governance reviews for parish/town
councils and making recommendations to Full Council on byelaws.

1.4

A draft work programme for the Committee is appended to the report. Members will
note this provides for an annual review of the code and complaints procedures,
together with monitoring of complaints received. A review of training on the code of
conduct is proposed at the December Committee so that recommendations can be
feed into the 2021-member induction programme. Guidance on matters such as
dispensations, use of social media and the role of the Monitoring Officer are also
proposed and reports from the LGO included. The Committee is invited to consider
the items proposed and agree any additional /alternative areas of work.

Other options considered
1.5

The adoption of a work programme is considered to be best practice but the items to
be included are matter for agreement by the Committee.

Legal and financial implications
1.6

There are no legal or financial implications arising directly from the adoption of a
work programme. But when individual reports listed in the programme come
forward to the Committee they will address these considerations.

Corporate implications
1.7

There are no specific corporate implications arising out of this report but adopting a
work programme supports arrangements to demonstrate and ensure good
governance of the Council

Next steps and review
The work programme will be updated as necessary during the year to reflect any
new items arising or agreed by the Committee

Background papers
None

Page 184

BUCKINGHAMSHIRE COUNCIL
STANDARDS AND GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE
Page 185

WORK PROGRAMME
2020/2021

Appendix

Standards Framework Work Programme 2020/21
Updated 23 June 2020

2020
02.07.20
02.07.20

• Work Programme for 2020/21
• Complaints Procedure and Protocol on the Role of the
Independent Person
• CSPL Report on Local Government Ethical Standards and LGA
Consultation on Model Code
• Procedures for Inquorate Parish Councils
• Local Government Boundary Commission for England –
Electoral Review of Buckinghamshire Council
• Request for Community Governance Review – Longwick
Parish Council

2021
8.10.20

10.12.20

08.04.21

X
X
X
X
X
X

8.10.20

Page 186

• Update on draft LGA Model Code of Conduct
• Guidance on Requests for Dispensations
• LGO Complaint Report

X
X
X

10.12.20

• Protocol on the Role of the Monitoring Officer
• Review of Social Media Guidance for Councillors
• Review of Member Induction and Training on standards of
conduct

X
X
X

08.04.21

• Annual Review of Code of Conduct and Complaints
Procedure
• Standards Complaints Monitoring Report 2020/21
• LGO Annual Report
• Draft Work programme for 2021/22

Standards Framework Work Programme 2020/21
Updated 23 June 2020

X
X
X
X

